






• The EPA adopted a rule in 2010 requiring a new facility that is a major source of greenhouse gases
(“GHGs”) to install equipment or employ BACT procedurd es. Currently, there is little information on what
may be acceptable as BACT to control GHGs (primarily carbon dioxider from our facilities), but the
databaa se and additional guidance may be enhanced in the future.

• Several states have additional requirements and standards other than those in the federal statutt es and
regulations. Many states have lists of “air toxics” with emission limitations determined by dispersion
modeling. States also ofteff n have specific regulations that deal with visible emissions, odors and nuisance.
In some cases, the state delegates some or all of these functions to local agencies.

• Wastewater and Stormwater. Our heat recovery cokemaking technology does not discharge process
wastewater as is typically associated with by-product cokemaking. Our cokemaking facilities, in some cases,
have non-process wastewater and/or stormwater discharge permits.

• Waste. The primaryrr solid waste product from our heat recovery cokemaking technology is calcium sulfatff e from
flue gas desulfurff ization, which is generally taken to a solid waste landfill.ff The material from periodic cleaning
of heat recovery steam generators has been disposed of off-sff ite as hazardous waste. Our facilities only generate
wastes and do not have permits for waste transportation, storage or disposal.

• U.S. Endangered Species Act. The U.S. Endangered Species Act of 1973 and certain counterpar rt state
regulations are intended to protect species whose populations allow for categorization as either endangered or
threatened. With respect to permitting additional cokemaking facilities, protection of endangered or threatened
species may have the effeff ct of prohibiting, limiting the extent of or placing permitting conditions on soil
removal, road building and other activities in areas containing the affeff cted species. Based on the species that
have been designated as endangered or threatened on our properties and the current application of these laws
and regulations, we do not believe that they are likely to have a material adverse effeff ct on our operations.

• Permitting Requirements for Former Coal Mining Operations. The Surface Mining Control and
Reclamation Act of 1977 (“SMCRA”) and applicable state equivalents govern mining permits and reclamation
plans, documents defining ownership and agreements pertaining to coal, minerals, oil and gas, water rights,
rights of way and surface land and documents required by the Offiff ce of Surface Mining Reclamation and
Enforcement’s (“OSM’s”) Applicant Violator System.

We currently have no applications pending for new SMCRARR permits, but hold several permits for which
reclamation is incomplete.

Our reclamation obligations under applicable environmental laws could be subsu tantial. Under accounting
principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”), we are required to account for the costs related to the
closure of mines and the reclamation of the land upon exhaustion of coal reserves. The fair value of an asset
retirement obligation is recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can
be made. At which time, the present value of the estimated asset retirement costs is capitalized as part of the
carrying amount of the long-lived asset. At December 31, 2024, we had an asset retirement obligation f $of $4.7
illimillion rellatedd to es itimatedd imine re lclamatiion costs. hThe amounts reco drd ded are d ddependent upon a bnumber of
va iri bablles, iin lcludinguding hthe es itimatedd future re itirement costs, iinflflatiion rates, andd hthe assumedd dcrediit- dadjujudd st ded
iinterest rates. Our future opera iting results would be adversely affeff cted if these accruarr ls were determined to be
insufficient. These obligations are unfunded.ff Failure to comply with the regulatory requirements can result in
sanctions.

• Bonding Requirements for Permits Related to Former Coal Mining Operations and Coal Terminals with
Surface Mining Permits. Before a SMCRARR permit or a surfaceff mining permit is issued, a mine operator must
submu it a bond or other form of financial security to guarantee the payment and performance of certain long-
term mine closure and reclamation obligations. The costs of these bonds or other forms of financial security
have fluctuated in recent years and the market terms of surety bonds generally have become less favorable to
those entities with legacy mining obligations or terminal operators and others with such permits. These changes
in the terms of such bonds have been accompanied, at times, by a decrease in the number of companies willing
to issue surety bonds. As of December 31, 2024, we have post ded $$8.4 illimillion iin surety bonds or other forms of
financial security for future reclamation.

Regulation of Operations

• Clean Air Act. The Clean Air Act (“CAA”) and similar state laws and regulations affeff ct our cokemaking
operations. These may be through permitting and/or emissions control requirements relating to criteria
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pollutants or MACT standards. These air emissions programs that may affeff ct our operations, directly or
indirectly, include, but are not limited to: the Acid Rain Program; NAAQS implementation for SO2, PM, NO2,
lead, ozone, and carbon monoxide; GHG rules; the Cross-State Air Pollution Rule; MACT emissions standards
for haff zardous air pollutants; the Regional Haze Program; New Source Performance Standards (“NSPS”); and
New Source Review.

Regulation of hazardous air pollutants through the development and promulgation of various industry-rr
specificff MACT standards impacts our cokemaking facilities. We are subju ect to two categories of
MACT standards. The first category applies to pushing, quenching, and emissions from the main
stacks and bypass vent stacks. The second category applies to emissions from charging and coke oven
doors. The EPA is required to periodically make a risk-based determination for certain emissions
sources and determine whether additional emissions reductions would be necessary. On July 5, 2024,
the EPA published a final rule that imposes various new emissions limits and other requirements under
both categories of MACT standards regulating our cokemaking facilities. We had previously submu itted
comments for the EPA’s consideration in response to its proposed rule. Although EPA addressed
certain comments we made in August 2023, we and other industry parr rticipants filed petitions for
reconsideration with EPA, as well as litigation in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of
Columbia Circuit, in response to certain other aspects of this rule. If the rule remains intact and
withstands legal challenges, compliance with some of these proposed requirements may require the
installation of additional pollution control systems and presents a potential risk of having an impact on
operations and costs at our facilities.

The Regional Haze program requires that states submu it State Implementation Plans (“SIPs”) that
demonstrate reasonable progress towards achieving natural visibility conditions in Class I areas. The
program has been challenged by various parties. On November 5, 2020, the Virginia Department of
Environmental Quality (“VDEQ”) requested that the Jewell facility conduct an analysis of potential
controls for SO2 under the Regional Haze program. Jewell determined that the installation of new
controls is not feasible and any new requirements should be limited to operating pollution controls
already present at the facility. While we are not able to determine at this time the extent to which a
determination by the VDEQ or the EPA requiring more significant measures would impact our
business, were it to withstand legal challenges, it presents a potential risk of having an impact on our
operations and costs at the Jewell facility.

On April 6, 2022, the EPA proposed a Federal Implementation Plan Addressing Regional Ozone
Transport for the 2015 Ozone NAAQS, which proposed requirements applicable to certain coke plant
operations. SunCoke submu itted comments on the proposed rule requesting clarification that the rule
does not apply to our facilities. In response to comments from SunCoke and other coke manufacff turers,
the EPA did not regulate coke ovens under the final rule released in March 2023.

• Terminal Operations. Our terminal operations located along waterways and the Gulf of Mexico are also
governed by permitting requirements under the CWA (as defined below) and the CAA. These terminals are
subju ect to U.S. Coast Guard regulations and comparable state statutt es regarding design, installation,
construcrr tion, management and security.

• Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) regulates
the sales of electricity from our Haverhill and Middletown facilities, including the implementation of the
Federal Power Act (“FPA”) and the Publu ic Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 (“PURPA”). The nature of
the operations of the Haverhill and Middletown facilities makes each facility a qualifyingff facility under
PURPA, which exempts the facilities and the Company from certain regulatory burdens, including the Publu ic
Utility Holding Company Act of 2005 (“PUHCA”), limited provisions of the FPA, and certain state laws and
regulation. The FERC has granted requests for authority to sell electricity from the Haverhill and Middletown
facilities at market-based rates and the entities are subju ect to the FERC’s market-based rate regulations, which
require regular regulatory compliance filings.

• Clean Water Act of 1972. The Clean Water Act of 1972 (“CWA”) may affeff ct our operations by requiring
water quality standards generally and through the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”)
program. Regular monitoring, reporting requirements and performance standards are requirements of NPDES
permits that govern the discharge of pollutants into water. Discharges must either meet state water quality
standards or be authorized through availabla e regulatory procrr esses such as alternate standards or variances.
Additionally, through the CWA Section 401 certification program, states have approval authority over water

11



discharge permits or licenses that might result in a discharge to their waters. Similarly, for permitting or any
future water intake and/or discharge projects, our facilities could be subju ect to the Army Corps of Engineers
Section 404 permitting process.

• Resource Conservation and Recovery Act.We may generate wastes, including “solid” wastes and
“hazardous” wastes that are subju ect to the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”) and comparable
state statutt es. The EPA has limited the disposal options for certain wastes that are designated as hazardous
wastes under the RCRA. Furthermore, it is possible that certain wastes generated by our operations that
currently are exempt from regulation as hazardous wastes may in the future be designated as hazardous wastes,
and thereforff e be subju ect to more rigorous and costly management, disposal and clean-upu requirements. Certain
of our wastes are also subju ect to Department of Transportation regulations for shipping of materials. Any
changes to hazardous waste standards or the constituentt s in the wastes generated at our facilities presents a
potential risk of having an impact on our operations and cost structurt e.

• Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act. Under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), also known as Supeu rfund, and similar
state laws, responsibility for the entire cost of clean-up ofu a contaminated site, as well as natural resource
damages, can be imposed upon current or former site owners or operators, or upon any party who released one
or more designated “hazardous subsu tances” at the site, regardless of the lawfulneff ss of the original activities that
led to the contamination. In the course of our operations we may have generated and may generate wastes that
fall within the CERCLA’s definition of hazardous subsu tances. We also may be an owner or operator of facilities
at which hazardous subsu tances have been released by previous owners or operators. Under the CERCLA, we
may be responsible for all or part of the costs of cleaning up facilities at which such subsu tances have been
released and for natural resource damages. We also must comply with reporting requirements under the
Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act and the Toxic Subsu tances Control Act.

• Climate Change Legislation and Regulations. Our facilities are presently subju ect to the GHG reporting rule,
which obligates us to report annual emissions of GHGs. The EPA also finalized a rule in 2010 requiring a new
facility that is a majoa r source of GHGs to install equipment or employ BACT procedurd es. In 2014, the Supru eme
Court issued a decision holding that although the EPA may not treat GHGs as a pollutant for the purpose of
determining whether a source must obtain a PSD or Title V permit, the EPA may continue to require GHG
limitations in permits for sources classified as major based on their emission of other pollutants. Currently there
is little information as to what may constitute BACT for GHG for the cokemaking industry.rr Potential futuret
modifications to our facilities could subju ect us to the additional permitting and other obligations related to
emissions of GHGs under the New Source Review/Prevention of Significant Deterioration ("NSR/PSD") and
Title V programs of the CAA based on whether the facility triggered NSR/PSD because of emissions of another
pollutant such as SO2, NOx, PM, ozone or lead.

The EPA has engaged in various rulemakings in recent years to regulate GHG emissions from existing
and new coal fired power plants. If the EPA were to ever promulgate a similar rule that applies to our
facilities, it may present a risk of having an impact on our operations and cost structurt e.

The SEC published a final rule on March 6, 2024 requiring disclosure of certain climate change-related
information. The rule is currently stayed and being challenged in federal court. If the rule survives, we
expect that our operations would be subju ect to this final rule.

• Occupational Safety and Health ACT (OSH Act). Our facilities are subju ect to regulation by OSHA or MSHA
under the OSH Act and other agencies with standards designed to ensure worker safety. These standards impose
minimum requirements for our operations to maintain and operate sites and equipment in a safe manner.

• Security. CMT is subju ect to regulation by the U.S. Coast Guard pursuant to the Maritime Transportation
Security Act. We have an internal inspection program designed to monitor and ensure compliance by CMT with
these requirements. We believe that we are in material compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
regarding the security of the facility.

• Black Lung Benefits Revenue Act of 1977 and Black Lung Benefits Reform Act of 1977, as amended in
1981. Under these laws, U.S. coal mine operators must pay federal black lung benefits and medical expenses to
claimants who are current and former employees and last worked for the operator afteff r July 1, 1973. The Patient
Protection and Affordff able Care Act (“PPACA”), which was implemented in 2010, amended previous legislation
and provides for the automatic extension of awarded lifetime benefits to surviving spouses and changes the
legal criteria used to assess and award claims. SunCoke is not an active coal mine operator and does not
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perform or oversee coal mining. However, SunCoke has retained certain black lung liabia lities associated with
legacy coal operations. On August 13, 2024, the U.S. Department of Labora ’s Division of Coal Mine Workers
Compensation agreed to permanently assume responsibility for payment of the Company's black lung benefits
for claims based on employment that ended prior to Februarr ry 1, 2013, excluding limited exceptions, in
exchange for a lump sum payment of $36.0 million. This agreement resulted in a total reduction of
$45.5 million of the Company's black lung liability. See Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements for
furff ther detail. Our remaining obligation related to black lung benefits at December 31, 2024 was $$13.7 imillillion
and was estimated based on various assumptions, including actuarial estimates, discount rates, number of active
claims, changes in health care costs and the impact of PPACA.

Available Information

We make availabla e free of charge on our website, www.suncoke.com, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to such reports as soon as reasonably practicable
afteff r such materials are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet site (www.sec.gov)
that contains our electronically filed information. Our website also includes our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, our
Governance Guidelines, our Related Persons Transaction Policy and the charters of our Board Committees.

A copy of any of these documents will be provided without charge upon written request to Investor Relations,
SunCoke Energy, Inc., 1011 Warrenville Road, Suite 600, Lisle, Illinois 60532. The Company may also use its website as a
channel of distribution of material company information. Investors may visit www.suncoke.com to find more information.
However, the Company's website is expressly not incorporated by reference herein.

Information about our Executive Offiff cers

Our executive offiff cers and their ages as of Februar ry 21, 2025, were as follows:
Katherine T. Gates 48 President and Chief Executive Offiff cer
Mark W. Marinko 63 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offiff cer
P. Michael Hardesty 62 Senior Vice President, Commercial Operations, Business Development, Terminals and

International Coke
Karl A. Zabia ello 39 Vice President, Controller
Shantanu Agrawal 38 Vice President, Finance and Treasurer
John F. Quanci 63 Vice President, Engineering and Technology and Chief Technology Offiff cer
Patrick G. Nigl 58 Vice President, Coke Operations

Katherine T. Gates.Ms. Gates became Chief Executive Offiff cer of SunCoke Energy, Inc. in May 2024, afteff r being
appointed as President and a director on SunCoke’s Board of Directors, in January 2023. From November 2019 until her
promotion to President in January 2023, Ms. Gates served as SunCoke’s Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Offiff cer and
Chief Human Resources Offiff cer. Ms. Gates joined SunCoke in February 2013 as Senior Health, Environment and Safety
Counsel, and has held leadership positions of increasing responsibility since then, including serving as General Counsel and
Chief Compliance Offiff cer from October 2015 to November 2019. She was promoted to Vice President in July 2014, and to
Senior Vice President in October 2015. In addition, from October 2015 through June 2019, Ms. Gates was elected as a
director of SunCoke Energy Partners GP LLC, the general partner of SunCoke Energy Partners, L.P., our former publicly
traded master limited partnership subsu idiary. Prior to joining SunCoke, Ms. Gates was a Partner at Beveridge & Diamond,
P.C., where she served on the firm’s Management Committee and co-chaired the firm’s civil litigation practice group.

Mark W. Marinko.Mr. Marinko was appointed as SunCoke Energy, Inc.’s Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Offiff cer in March 2022. Prior to joining SunCoke, Mr. Marinko served as the Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Offiff cer with Great Lakes Dredge and Dock Corporation (the largest dredging company within the United States).
Prior to joining Great Lakes Dredge & Dock Corporation, Mr. Marinko was President of the Consumer Services division at
TransUnion, LLC, a global provider of information and decision-processing services.

P. Michael Hardesdd ty.Mr. Hardesty was appointed Senior Vice President, Commercial Operations, Business
Development, Terminals and International Coke of SunCoke Energy, Inc., effeff ctive October 1, 2015. Mr. Hardesty joined
SunCoke Energy, Inc. in 2011 as Senior Vice President, Sales and Commercial Operations, and has more than 30 years of
experience in the mining industry.rr Before joining SunCoke, Mr. Hardesty served as Senior Vice President for International
Coal Group, Inc. (“ICG”), where he was responsible for leading the sales and marketing functions and was a key member of
the executive management team. Prior to ICG, Mr. Hardesty served as Vice President of Commercial Optimization at Arch
Coal, where he developed and executed trade strategies, optimized production output and directed coal purchasing activities.
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He is a past board member and Secretary-rr Treasurer of the Putnam County Development Authority in West Virginia. In
addition, from October 2015 through June 2019, Mr. Hardesty served as a director of SunCoke Energy Partners GP LLC, the
general partner of SunCoke Energy Partners, L.P., our former master limited partnership subsu idiary.

Karl A. Zabiello. Mr. Zabia ello was appointed Vice President and Controller of SunCoke Energy, Inc. in April 2023.
Mr. Zabia ello joined the Company in 2012 and has assumed progressively more responsible financial leadership roles, most
recently serving as Director, Accounting and Assistant Treasurer. Mr. Zabia ello is a Certified Publu ic Accountant and holds
Bachelor’s and Master’s degrees in Accounting from Northern Illinois University. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Zabia ello
worked in assurance services for Crowe Horwath LLP, a global public accounting firm.

Shantanu Agragg wal. Mr. Agrawal was appointed Vice President, Finance and Treasurer of SunCoke Energy, Inc. in
July 2021 and subsu equently also assumed responsibility for the Procurement function in January 2023. Prior to that he was
Director, Financial Performance & Analysis (“FP&A”) and Investor Relations. Mr. Agrawal began his career with SunCoke
as an FP&A Analyst in 2014. He has increasingly taken on more responsibilities and oversight over that period. In his current
roles, Mr. Agrawal has led the Company’s finance function, including budgeting, forecasting, financial analysis, cash
management, investor relations and procurement.

John F. Quanci. Dr. John F. Quanci joined SunCoke Energy, Inc. in October 2010, and was appointed to his current
position as Vice President, Chief Technology Offiff cer in May 2019. Prior to joining SunCoke, Dr. Quanci was Director,
Corporate Technology of Sunoco, Inc. (a leading transportation fuel provider with interests in logistics). Dr. Quanci has over
30 years of domestic and international experience in process research, development, plant optimization, manufactff urt ing,
rebuilding/turnarounds, and taking new technologies from ideation to full production. Over the course of his career, Dr.
Quanci has managed several major engineering and technology organizations both internal and external to the petroleum
industry,rr including those of:ff Mobil Research, Mobil Oil, BP/Mobil, Exxon/Mobil, Rodel and Rohm and Haas Electronic
Materials (now DuPont Electronic Materials). Dr. Quanci holds a Ph.D. in Chemical Engineering from Princeton University
and is a registered Profesff sional Engineer with over one hundred U.S. and international patents and patent applications.

Patrick G. Nigl.i Mr. Nigl was appointed as SunCoke Energy, Inc.’s Vice President, Coke Operations in January
2022. Prior to that, he served as General Manager at the Company’s Indiana Harbor cokemaking operations, located in East
Chicago, Indiana, from September 2015. From March 2015 to September 2015, he was Operations Manager at the Indiana
Harbor facility. Since joining SunCoke in Februar ry 2011 as Maintenance Manager at the Company’s Haverhill, Ohio
cokemaking facility, Mr. Nigl has progressed into leadership and oversight roles for the Company’s domestic cokemaking
operations. Prior to joining SunCoke, Mr. Nigl was Machining General Manager at DMAX Ltd., an American manufacff turer
of diesel engines for heavy-duty trucks.r

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business, operating results, cash flows and financial condition are subju ect to these risks and uncertainties, any of
which could cause actuat l results to vary materially and adversely from recent results or from anticipated future results. In
addition to the other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our other filings with the SEC, the
following risk factors should be considered in evaluating our business and future prospects.

These risk factors represent what we believe to be the known material risk factors with respect to us and our
business.

However, these are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us, or that
we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially and adversely affeff ct our business, financial condition, or results of
operations.

Risks Inherent in Our Business and Industry

Our cokemakingii and logio stii ictt s busineii sses are subject to operatingn risks, some of which are beyoe nd our contrott l.
Equipmii ent failures or deterioratiott n of assets,s maya lead to productiott n curtaitt lmeii nts, shtt utdowtt ns,s impairmii ents, or addis tioii nal
expexx nditudd res, which couldll materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ct our results of operations and financii ial conditiodd n.

Factors beyond our control could disrupt ourrr cokemaking and logistics operations, adversely affeff ct our ability to
service the needs of our customers and increase our operating costs, all of which could have a material and adverse effeff ct on
our results of operations. Adverse developments at our cokemaking facilities could significantly disrupt ourr ability to produce
and supplyu coke, steam, and/or electricity to our customers. Adverse developments at our logistics operations could
significantly disrupt ourrr ability to provide handling, mixing, storage, terminalling, transloading and/or transportation services,
of coal and other dryrr and liquid bulk commodities, to our customers. Our operations depend upon critical pieces of
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equipment that occasionally may be out of service for scheduled upgrades or maintenance or as a result of unanticipated
failures. Assets and equipment critical to these operations also may deteriorate or become depleted materially sooner than we
currently estimate, resulting in additional maintenance spending or additional replacement capital expenditures.

Our cokemaking and logistics operations are subju ect to significant hazards and risks, any of which could result in
production and transportation difficulties and disruptrr ions, equipment failures and risk of catastrophic loss, non-compliance
with our operating permits, pollution, personal injun ry or wrongfulff death claims and other damage to our properties and the
property of others. Such hazards and risks include, but are not limited to:

• geological, hydrologic, or other conditions that may cause damage to infrastructurt e or personnel;

• fire, explosion, or other majoa r incident causing injun ry to personnel and/or equipment that causes a cessation, or
significant curtailment, of all or part of our cokemaking or logistics operations at a site for a period of time;

• processing and plant equipment failures or malfuncff tion, operating hazards and unexpected maintenance problems
affeff cting our cokemaking or logistics operations, or our customers;

• adverse weather conditions and natural disasters, such as severe winds, heavy rains or snow, flooding, extreme
temperaturt es and other natural events, including those resulting from climate change, affeff cting our cokemaking or
logistics operations, transportation, or our customers; and

• possible legal challenges to the renewal of key permits, which may lead to their renewal on terms that restrict our
cokemaking or logistics operations, or impose additional costs on us.

If any of these conditions or events occur, our cokemaking or logistics operations may be disruptr ed, operating costs
could increase significantly and we could incur subsu tantial losses. Such disruptrr ions in our operations could materially and
adversely affeff ct our financial condition or results of operations. In particular, to the extent a disruptr ion leads to our failure to
maintain the temperaturt e inside our coke oven batteries, we may not be able to maintain the integrity of the ovens or to
continue operation of such coke ovens, which could adversely affeff ct our ability to meet our customers’ requirements for coke
and, in some cases, electricity and/or steam.

If our assets do not generate the amount of future cash flows that we expect, or we are not able to execute on capital
maintenance or procure replacement assets in an economically feasible manner, our future results of operations may be
materially and adversely affeff cted.

The financii ial perforff marr nce of our cokemakingii and logio stii ictt s busineii sses is substantiallytt dependendd t upon a limiii teii d
number of customtt ers,rr and the loss of anyn of these customtt ers,rr or anyn failure by them to perforff mrr underdd theirii contratt ctstt withii
us,s couldll materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ct our financii ial conditdd iott n, permit compliance, results of operations and cash flowll s.

Subsu tantially all of our sales are made to a limited number of customers. We expect these customers, and/or their
respective successors in interest, by operation of merger, or otherwise, to continue to account for a significant portion of our
revenues for the foreseeable future.

We are subju ect to the credit risk of our major customers and other parties. If we fail to adequately assess the
creditworthiness of existing or future customers or unanticipated deterioration of their creditworthiness, any resulting
increase in nonpayment or nonperformance by them could have a material adverse effeff ct on our cash flows, financial position
or results of operations. During periods of weak demand for steel or coal, our customers may experience significant
reductions in their operations, or subsu tantial declines in the prices of the steel, or coal products, they sell. These and other
factors such as labora relations or bankruptcy filings may lead certain of our customers to seek renegotiation or cancellation of
their existing contractuat l commitments to us, or reduce their utilization of our services.

The loss of any of these customers (or financial difficulties at any of these customers, which result in nonpayment or
nonperformance) could have a significant adverse effeff ct on our business. If one or more of these customers were to
significantly reduce its purchases of coke or logistics services from us without a make-whole payment, or default on their
agreements with us, or terminate or fail to renew their agreements with us, or if we were unable to sell such coke or logistics
services to these customers on terms as favorable to us as the terms under our current agreements, our cash flows, financial
position, permit compliance, or results of operations could be materially and adversely affeff cted.
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Impaim rmii ent in the carrying value of long-lgg ivll ed assets couldll materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ct our busineii ss,
financii ial conditiodd n and resultstt of operations.

We have a significant amount of long-lived assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Under generally accepted
accounting principles, long-lived assets must be reviewed for impairment whenever adverse events or changes in
circumstances indicate a possible impairment. We are required to perform impairment tests on our assets whenever events or
changes in circumstances lead to a reduction of the estimated usefulff lifeff or estimated future cash flows that would indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverabla e or whenever management’s plans change with respect to those assets. If
business conditions or other factors cause profitaff bia lity and cash flows to decline, we may be required to record non-cash
impairment charges.

Events and conditions that could result in impairment in the value of our long-lived assets include, but are not
limited to: negotiations related to renewals of certain of our long-term, take-or-pay agreements, new contracts and/or
modifications entered into in the future, termination or non-renewal of existing contracts, and other factors leading to a
reduction in expected long-term sales or profitaff bia lity, the impact of a downturn in the global economy, competition, advances
in technology, adverse changes in the regulatory environment, or a significant decline in the trading price of our common
stock or market capitalization, lower future cash flows, slower industry growrr th rates and other changes in the industries in
which we or our customers operate.

We face competittt iott n, bothtt in our cokemakingii operations and in our logio stii ictt s busineii ss, which has the potentt tial to
reduce demand for our productstt and services, ands that couldll materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ct our financii ial conditdd iott n and
results of operations.

We face competition, both in our cokemaking operations and in our logistics business:

• Cokemaking operationsg p : Historically, coke has been used as a main input in the production of steel in blast
furnaces. However, some blast furnace operators have relied upon natural gas, pulverized coal, and/or other
coke subsu titutes. Many steelmakers also are exploring alternatives to blast furnace technology that require less
or no use of coke or alternatives that reduce the amount of GHG emissions from the process. For example,
electric arc furnace technology is a commercially proven process widely used in the U.S. As these alternative
processes for production of steel become more widespread, the demand for blast furnace coke, including the
coke we produce, may be significantly reduced. We also face competition from alternative cokemaking
technologies, including both by-product and heat recovery technologies. As these technologies improve and as
new technologies are developed, competition in the cokemaking industryrr may intensify.ff As alternative
processes for production of steel become more widespread, the demand for blast furnace coke, including the
coke we produce, may be significantly reduced.

• Logistics businessg : Other logistics facilities and independent terminal operations in some areas may compete
directly with our logistics facilities. In some markets, trucrr ks may competitively deliver products to certain
shorter-haul destinations, resulting in reduced utilization of existing terminal capacity. In the future, additional
logistics facilities and terminals with rail and/or barge access may be construcrr ted in the Gulf Coast and East
Coast regions, and such additional facilities and terminals could compete directly with us in specific markets
now served by our CMT and KRT facilities, respectively. Other logistics facilities, both global and domestic,
may compete with our coal handling exports out of the Gulf Region, which may reduce the demand for our
CMT facility. In addition, decreased throughput and utilization of our logistics assets could result indirectly due
to competition in: (i) the electrical power generation business from abundant and relatively inexpensive supplu ies
of natural gas displacing thermal coal as a fuel for electrical power generation by utility companies; (ii) the steel
industryrr from processes such as electric arc furnaces, or blast furnace injection of pulverized coal or natural gas
reducing demand for metallurgical coals handled through our logistics facilities; and/or (iii) the barge unloading
business from service alternatives, such as mid-stream operations.

Such competition could reduce demand for our products and services, thus having a material and adverse effeff ct on
our financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to extensive laws and regue lations, which maya increase our cost of doingii busineii ss and have an
adverserr effeff ct on our cash flowll s, financii ial position, or resultstt of operations.

Our operations are subju ect to strict regulation by federal, state and local authorities with respect to: discharges of
subsu tances into the surrounding environment including the air, water and ground; emissions of GHGs; compliance with the
NAAQS; management and disposal of hazardous subsu tances and wastes; cleanup of contaminated sites; protection of
groundwater quality and availabia lity; protection of plants and wildlife;ff reclamation and restoration of properties afteff r
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completion of mining or drilling; sales of electric power; installation of safety equipment in our facilities; and protection of
employee health and safety. For a description of environmental laws and matters applicable to us and associated risks, see
“Item 1. Business-Legal and Regulatory Requirements.”

Complying with these and other regulatory requirements, including the terms of our permits, can be costly and time-
consuming, and may hinder operations. In addition, these requirements are complex, change frequently and have become
more stringent over time.

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations or permits may result in the assessment of administrative, civil
and criminal penalties, the imposition of cleanup and site restoration costs and liens, the issuance of injunctions to limit or
cease operations, the suspension or revocation of permits and other enforcement measures that could cause delays in
permitting or development of projects or materially limit, or increase the cost of, our operations. We may not have been, or
may not be, at all times, in complete compliance with all such requirements, and we may incur material costs or liabilities in
connection with such requirements, or in connection with remediation at sites we own, or third-party sites where it has been
alleged that we have liabia lity, in excess of the amounts we have accrued.rr In addition, such regulatory requirements, including
those related to GHGs, and various CAA programs, may change in the future in a manner that could result in subsu tantially
increased capital, operating and compliance costs, materially and adversely affeff cting our cash flows, financial condition, or
results of operations.

Our operations maya impact the enviroii nment or cause exposxx ure to hazardoudd s pollutall nts,tt which couldll result in
material liabilitiii es to us.

Our operations result in emissions of various subsu tances to the air, including GHGs and hazardous air pollutants.
Our operations also generate solid and hazardous waste. We have in the past and could in the future be subju ect to claims
under federal, state and local laws and regulations arising from these activities, including for the investigation and clean-up of
soil, surface water, or groundwater. Some environmental laws also can impose liabia lity regardless of fault or legality at the
time in question, including the characterization of materials. We previously have been and could again in the future be
subju ect to litigation for alleged personal injury or property damage arising from claimed exposure to emissions or hazardous
subsu tances allegedly used, released, or disposed of by us, as well as litigation related to climate change by governments,
private entities, or individuals. We make everyrr effortff to avoid litigation. However, such matters are not totally within our
control, and due to the inherently uncertain nature of litigation, we cannot predict the outcome of such matters.
Environmental impacts resulting from our operations, including exposures to emissions, hazardous subsu tances, or wastes
associated with our operations, could result in costs and liabia lities that could adversely impact our financial condition and
results of operations.

We maya be unablell to obtain,ii maintain or renew permits or leases necessary for our operations,s which couldll
materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ct our productiott n, cash flowll sw or profitff abitt lity.ii

Our cokemaking and logistics operations require us to obtain a number of permits that impose strict regulations on
various environmental and operational matters. These, as well as our facilities and operations (including our generation of
electricity), require permits issued by various federal, state and local agencies and regulatory bodies. The permitting rules,
and the interpretations of these rules, are complex, change frequently, and are ofteff n subju ect to discretionary interpretations by
our regulators, all of which may make compliance more costly, difficult or impractical, and may possibly preclude the
continuance of ongoing operations or the development of future cokemaking and/or logistics facilities. Non-governmental
organizations, environmental groups and individuals have certain rights to engage in the permitting process, and may
comment upon, or object to, the requested permits. Such persons may also have the right to bring citizen’s lawsuits to
challenge the issuance of permits, or the validity of environmental evaluations related thereto. If any permits or leases are not
issued or renewed in a timely fashion or at all, or if permits issued or renewed are conditioned in a manner that restricts our
ability to effiff ciently and economically conduct our operations, it could have a material and adverse effeff ct on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Our busineii sses are subject to inherent risks, some for which we maintain third party insurance and some for
which we self-iff nsurii e. We maya incur losses and be subject to liabilityii claill ms thii at couldll materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ct our
financii ial conditiodd n, resultstt of operations or cash flowll s.w

We maintain insurance policies that provide limited coverage for some, but not all, potential risks and liabia lities
associated with our business. We may not obtain insurance if we believe the cost of availabla e insurance is excessive relative
to the risks presented. As a result of market conditions, premiums and deductibles for certain insurance policies can increase
subsu tantially, and in some instances, certain insurance may become unavailabla e or availabla e only for reduced amounts of
coverage. As a result, we may not be able to renew our existing insurance policies or procure other desirabla e insurance on
commercially reasonable terms, if at all. In addition, certain risks, such as certain environmental and pollution risks, and
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certain cybersecurity risks, generally are not fully insurabla e. We must compensate employees for work-related injun ries. If we
do not make adequate provision for our workers' compensation liabia lities, or we are pursued for applicable sanctions, costs,
and liabia lities, our operations and our profitaff bia lity could be adversely affeff cted. Even where insurance coverage applies,
insurers may contest their obligations to make payments. Our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could
be materially and adversely affeff cted by losses and liabia lities from un-insured or under-insured events, as well as by delays in
the payment of insurance proceeds, or the failure by insurers to make payments.

We maya not be ablell to successfulff ly impll lement our growth stratt tegie es or plans, and we may exa pexx rience signi ificant
risks associatedtt withii future acquisitions,s investmett ntstt and/or divestitures. If we are unablell to execute our strategie c plans,
whethett r as a result of unfan vorablell market conditdd iott ns in the industries in which our customtt ersrr operate, or ote hett rwise, our
future results of operations could bell materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff cted.

A portion of our strategy to grow our business is dependent upon our ability to acquire and operate new assets that
result in an increase in our earnings. We may not realize the expected financial returns from our investment in such additional
assets, or such operations may not be profitaff bla e. We cannot predict the effeff ct that any failed expansion may have on our core
businesses. The success of our future acquisitions and/or investments will depend subsu tantially on the accuracy of our
analysis concerning such businesses and our ability to complete such acquisitions or investments on favorable terms, as well
as to finance such acquisitions or investments and to integrate the acquired operations successfulff ly with existing operations.
Risks associated with acquisitions include the diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns, the
potential loss of key employees and customers of the acquired business, the possible assumption of unknown liabia lities,
potential disputes with the sellers, and the inherent risks in entering markets or lines of business in which we have limited or
no prior experience. Antitrusrr t and other laws may prevent us from completing acquisitions. If we are not able to execute our
strategic plans effeff ctively, or successfulff ly integrate new operations, whether as a result of unfavff orable market conditions in
the industries in which our customers operate, or otherwise, our business reputation could suffer and future results of
operations could be materially and adversely affeff cted.

In the event we form joint ventures or other similar arrangements, we must pay close attention to the organizational
formalities and time-consuming procedurd es for sharing information and making decisions. We may share ownership and
management with other parties who may not have the same goals, strategies, priorities, or resources as we do. The benefits
from a successfulff investment in an existing entity or joint venture will be shared among the co-owners, so we will not receive
the exclusive benefits from a successfulff investment. Additionally, if a co-owner changes, our relationship may be materially
and adversely affeff cted.

We regularly review strategic opportunities to further our business objectives, and may eliminate assets that do not
meet our return-on-investment criteria. The anticipated benefits of divestitures and other strategic transactions may not be
realized, or may be realized more slowly than we expected. Such transactions also could result in a number of financial
consequences having a material adverse effeff ct on our results of operations and our financial position, including reduced cash
balances; higher fixed expenses; the incurrence of debt and contingent liabia lities (including indemnification obligations);
restrucr turing charges; loss of customers, supplu iers, distributors, licensors or employees; legal, accounting and advisory fees;
and impairment charges.

Our operatingii resultstt have been and maya contintt ue to be affeff ctedtt by fluctuatiott ns in our costs of productiott n, and,
if we cannot pass increases in our costs of productiott n to our customtt ers,rr our financii ial conditiodd n, results of operations and
cash flowll s maya be negate ivtt elyll affeff cted.

Our operations require a reliabla e supply ofu equipment, replacement parts and metallurgical coal. If the cost to
produce coke and provide logistics services increases due to price or usage, including cost of supplu ies, equipment,
metallurgical coal or labor,a and we cannot pass such increases in our costs of production to our customers, our profitff margins
may be reduced and our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be adversely affeff cted.

We maya incur costs and liabiliii tieii s resultintt g from claill msii for damages to propertytt or injury to persons arising from
our operations, ans d such costs and liabilitieii s couldll have a material and adverserr effeff ct on our financii ial conditidd on or
results of operations.

Our success depends, in part, on the quality, effiff cacy and safety of our products and services. If our operations do
not meet applicable safety standards, or our products or services are found to be unsafe, our relationships with customers
could suffer and we could lose business or become subju ect to liability or claims. In addition, our cokemaking and logistics
operations have inherent safety risks that may give rise to events resulting in death, injury, or property loss to employees,
customers, or unaffiliated third parties. Depending upon the nature and severity of such events, we could be exposed to
significant financial loss, reputational damage, potential civil or criminal government or other regulatory enforcement
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actions, or private litigation, the settlement or outcome of which could have a material and adverse effeff ct on our financial
condition or results of operations.

Physh ical effeff ctstt attrtt ibutedtt to, and various parties’ effoff rts to respond to climatell -relatll ed chtt anges, couldll materiallyll
and adverserr ly affeff ct our operations and impose signi ificff ant costs on our busineii ss and our customtt ersrr and supplu iell rs.

We are subju ect to various climate-related risks. Various policymakers have adopted, or are considering adopting,
regulations regarding GHGs, particularly from fossil fuels, which are integral to our cokemaking and logistics businesses.
Such regulations range from provisions to reduce GHG emissions, either directly or indirectly (such as through carbon
pricing), to requirements for disclosure of climate-related information, any of which may result in subsu tantial compliance
costs. Moreover, pressure to reduce GHG emissions may also contribute to competition with alternatives to our products.

Our operations may be impacted by climate-related changes in weather, temperaturt e, hydrological patterns, and/or
increased frequency or severity of natural disasters. Extreme weather and temperaturt e conditions, such as storms, fires, and
flooding, may increase our costs, impact our production capabia lities, damage our facilities, contribute to workplk ace hazards,
and materially and adversely affeff ct our ability to procure raw materials, and/or manufactff urt e and transport our products.
While we aim to manage such risks, we cannot guarantee that such mitigation effortff s will be successful, orff that insurance will
continue to be availabla e at costs we deem acceptabla e. Any of these transition or physical risks associated with climate change
could materially and adversely affeff ct our reputation, financial condition, and results of operations.

Stakett holderdd scrutinyii of sustaitt naii bility maii ttertt srr couldll materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ct our busineii ss and our stocktt
price.

There continues to be significant attention to climate, civil and human rights, and other sustainability issues by
various stakeholders. Responding to such matters can be complex. Methodologies and data for measuring and reporting on
sustainability matters continue to evolve, as does our own approach to such matters, and we cannot guarantee that our
approach will align with the preferences or interpretations of any particular stakeholder. While we take actions to manage our
sustainability profilff e, such initiatives may be costly and may not have the desired effeff ct.

Various regulations regarding sustainabia lity matters have been adopted or proposed, but such regulations are not
uniform, and can increase the complexity and cost of compliance. We may incur costs to respond to such regulation, or
activism from both advocates and opponents of sustainability measures. Many of our customers, business partners, and
supplu iers may be subju ect to similar expectations, which could create additional risks, including risks unknown to us. Failure
to appropriately navigate any of these considerations could materially and adversely impact our reputation, financial
condition, and/or results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Cokemaking Business

If a substantiatt l portion of our agreements to supplu y coll ke, electricity, anyy d/or steatt m are modifii ed or terminatedtt ,dd
our cash flowll s, financii ial positiott n, permit compliance, resultstt of operations and/or carrying value of our long-lgg ivll ed assets
maya be adverserr ly affeff ctedtt if we are not ablell to replacee e such agreements,tt or if we are not ablell to enter into new agreementstt
at the same level of profitff abitt litii y.tt

We make subsu tantially all of our coke, electricity and steam sales under long-term agreements. If a subsu tantial
portion of these agreements are modified or terminated or if force majeure is exercised, our results of operations may be
adversely affeff cted if we are not able to replace such agreements, or if we are not able to enter into new agreements at the
same level of profitff ability. The profitaff bia lity of our long-term coke, energy and steam sales agreements depends on a variety
of factors that vary from agreement to agreement and fluctuate during the agreement term. We may not be able to obtain
long-term agreements at favorable prices, compared either to market conditions or to our cost structurt e. Price changes
provided in long-term supplyu agreements may not reflect actual increases in production costs. As a result, such cost increases
may reduce profitff margins on our long-term coke and energy sales agreements. In addition, contractuat l provisions for
adjud stment or renegotiation of prices and other provisions may increase our exposure to short-term price volatility.

From time to time, we discuss the extension of existing agreements and enter into new long-term agreements for the
supply ofu coke, steam, and energy to our customers, but these negotiations may not be successfulff and these customers may
not continue to purchase coke, steam, or electricity from us under long-term agreements. In addition, declarations of
bankruptr cy by customers can result in changes in our contracts with less favorable terms. If any one or more of these
customers were to become financially distressed and unable to pay us, significantly reduce their purchases of coke, steam, or
electricity from us, or if we were unable to sell coke or electricity to them on terms as favorable to us as the terms under our
current agreements, our cash flows, financial position, permit compliance or results of operations may be materially and
adversely affeff cted.
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Further, because of certain technological design constraints, we do not have the ability to shut down our cokemaking
operations if we do not have adequate customer demand. If a customer refuses to take or pay for our coke, we must continue
to operate our coke ovens even though we may not be able to sell our coke immediately or may incur significant additional
costs for: (i) natural gas to maintain the temperaturt e inside our coke oven batteries; and (ii) fees under our rail contracts to
account for reductions in inbound coal or outbound coke shipments at our plants, which may have a material and adverse
effeff ct on our cash flows, financial position or results of operations.

Excess capaca itytt in the global steett l industrytt , anyy d/or increased exporxx ts of coke from producingii countritt es,s maya
weaken our customtt ers'rr demand for our coke and couldll materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ct our future revenues and
profitaff bilityii .yy

In some countries, steelmaking capaa city exceeds demand for steel products. Rather than reducing employment by
matching production capacity to consumption, steel manufactff urt ers in these countries (often with local government assistance
or subsu idies in various forms) may export steel at prices that are significantly below their home market prices and that may
not reflect their costs of production or capital. Our steelmaking customers may decrease the prices they charge for steel, or
take other action, as the supply ofu steel increases. The profitaff bia lity and financial position of our steelmaking customers may
be adversely affeff cted, causing such customers to reduce their demand for our coke and making it more likely that they may
seek to renegotiate their contracts with us or fail to pay for the coke they are required to take under our contracts. In addition,
future increases in exports of coke from China and/or other coke-producing countries also may reduce our customers' demand
for coke capaa city. Such reduced demand for our coke could adversely affeff ct the certainty of our long-term relationships with
our customers, depress coke prices, and limit our ability to enter into new, or renew existing, commercial arrangements with
our customers, as well as our ability to sell into the North American spot coke and export coke markets, and could materially
and adversely affeff ct our future revenues and profitff ability.

Certaitt nii provisions in our long-tgg ertt mrr coke agreementstt maya result in economic penalties to us, ors maya result in
terminatiott n of our coke sales agreements for failure to meet minimum volume requirements,s coal-tll o-tt coke yields or otll hett r
required specifii cations, ands certaitt nii provisions in these agreements and our energyr sales agreements maya permit our
customtt ersrr to suspes nd perforff marr nce.

Our agreements for the supply ofu coke, energy and/or steam, contain provisions requiring us to supplyu minimum
volumes of our products to our customers. To the extent we do not meet these minimum volumes, we are generally required
under the terms of our long-term agreements to procure replacement supplyu to our customers at the applicable contract price
or potentially be subju ect to cover damages for any shortfalff l. If future shortfalff ls occur, we will work with our customer to
identify posff sible other supplyu sources while we implement operating improvements at the facility, but we may not be
successfulff in identifying alternative supplu ies and may be subju ect to paying the contract price for any shortfalff l or to cover
damages, either of which could adversely affeff ct our future revenues and profitaff bia lity. Our long-term agreements also contain
provisions requiring us to deliver coke that meets certain quality thresholds. Failure to meet these specifications could result
in economic penalties, including price adjud stments, the rejee ction of deliveries or termination of our agreements. To the extent
that we do not meet the coal-to-coke yield standard in an agreement, we are responsible for the cost of the excess coal used in
the cokemaking process.

Our coke and energy sales agreements contain force majeure provisions allowing temporaryrr suspension of
performance by our customers for the duration of specifieff d events beyond the control of our customers. Declaration of force
majeure, coupled with a lengthy suspension of performance under one or more coke or energy sales agreements, may
seriously and adversely affeff ct our cash flows, financial position and results of operations.

Failure to maintain effeff ctivtt e qualityll contrott l systemtt s at our cokemakingii facilitieii s couldll have a material adverserr
effeff ct on our resultstt of operations.

The quality of our coke is critical to the success of our business. For instance, our coke sales agreements contain
provisions requiring us to deliver coke that meets certain quality thresholds. If our coke fails to meet such specifications, we
could be subju ect to significant contractuat l damages or contract terminations, and our sales could be negatively affeff cted. The
quality of our coke depends significantly on the effeff ctiveness of our quality control systems, which, in turn, depends on a
number of factors, including the design of our quality control systems, our quality-training program, our labora atories and our
ability to ensure that our employees adhere to our quality control policies and guidelines. Any significant failure or
deterioration of our quality control systems could have a material adverse effeff ct on our results of operations.

Disruii ptu iott ns to our supplu yll of coal and coal mixing services maya reduce the amount of coke we produce and
deliver, anr d if we are not ablell to cover the shortfalff l inll coal supplu yll or obtainii replacee ement mixing services from othett r
providerdd s,rr our resultstt of operations and profitaff bilitii ytt could be advll erserr ly affeff cted.
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Subsu tantially all of the metallurgical coal used to produce coke at our cokemaking facilities is purchased from third-
parties under one-year contracts. We cannot assure that there will continue to be an ample supply ofu metallurgical coal
availabla e that meet our quality specifications or that these facilities will be supplu ied without any significant disruptr ion in coke
production, as economic, environmental, and other conditions outside of our control may reduce our ability to source
sufficient amounts of coal for our forecasted operational needs. If we are not able to make up the shortfalff ls resulting from
such supplyu failures through purchases of coal from other sources, the failure of our coal supplu iers to meet their supplyu
commitments could materially and adversely impact our results of operations and, ultimately, impact the structurt al integrity
of our coke oven batteries.

At our Granite City and Haverhill cokemaking facilities, we rely on third-parties to mix coals that we have
purchased into coal mixes that we use to produce coke. We have entered into agreements with coal mixing service providers
that are coterminous with our coke sales agreements. However, there are limited alternative providers of coal mixing services
and any disruptrr ions from our current service providers could materially and adversely impact our results of operations. In
addition, if our rail transportation agreements are terminated, we may have to pay higher rates to access rail lines or make
alternative transportation arrangements.

Limitatioii ns on the availaii bilitii ytt and reliabilitii ytt of transportation, and increases in transportation costs, particularll ly
rail systemtt s, couldll materiallyll and adverserr ly affeff ct our abiliii ty toii obtaitt nii a supplu yll of coal and deliver coke to our customtt ers.rr

Our ability to obtain coal depends primarily on third-party rail systems and to a lesser extent river barges. If we are
unable to obtain rail or other transportation services, or are unable to do so on a cost-effective basis, our results of operations
could be adversely affeff cted. Alternative transportation and delivery systems are generally inadequate and not suitabla e to
handle the quantity of our shipments or to ensure timely delivery.rr The loss of access to rail capacity could create temporaryrr
disruptr ion until the access is restored, significantly impairing our ability to receive coal and resulting in materially decreased
revenues. Our ability to open new cokemaking facilities may also be affeff cted by the availabia lity and cost of rail or other
transportation systems availabla e for servicing these facilities.

Our coke production obligations at our Jewell cokemaking facility and our Haverhill cokemaking facility require us
to deliver coke to certain customers via railcar. We have entered into long-term rail transportation agreements to meet these
obligations. Disruptrr ion of these transportation services because of weather-related problems, including those related to
climate change, mechanical difficulties, train derailments, infrastrucr ture damage, strikes, lock-outs, lack of fuel or
maintenance items, fuel costs, transportation delays, accidents, terrorism, domestic catastrophe or other events could
temporarily, or over the long-term, impair our ability to produce coke, and thereforff e, could materially and adversely affeff ct
our business and results of operations.

If we are unablell to effeff ctivtt elyll protecttt our intellectual property,tt third parties maya use our technology,o which
wouldll impairii our abilitii ytt to compete in our markets.tt

Our future success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain meaningful patent protection for certain
of our technologies and products throughout the world. The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain.
We rely on patents to protect our intellectuat l property portfolff io and to enhance our competitive position. However, our
presently pending or future patent applications may not issue as patents, and any patent previously issued to us or our
subsu idiaries may be challenged, invalidated, held unenforceable or circumvented. Furthermore, the claims in patents that have
been issued to us or our subsu idiaries or that may be issued to us in the future may not be sufficiently broad to prevent third
parties from using cokemaking technologies and heat recovery processes similar to ours. In addition, the laws of various
foreign countries in which we plan to compete may not protect our intellectuat l property to the same extent as do the laws of
the U.S. If we fail to obtain adequate patent protection for our proprietary technology, our ability to be commercially
competitive may be materially impaired.

We are subject to certain politll ictt al or countrytt risks due to the Vitóii ria, Brazil cokemakingii facility thii at couldll
adverserr ly affeff ct our financii ial results.

The Vitória cokemaking facility is owned by ArcelorMittal Brazil. We earn income from the Vitória, Brazil
operations through licensing and operating fees earned at the Brazilian cokemaking facility payable to us under long-term
agreements with ArcelorMittal Brazil. These revenues depend on continuing operations and, in some cases, certain minimum
production levels being achieved at the Vitória cokemaking facility. In the past, the Brazilian economy has been
characterized by frequent and occasionally extensive intervention by the Brazilian government and unstabla e economic cycles.
The Brazilian government has changed in the past, and may change monetary, taxation, credit, tariff and other policies to
influence Brazil’s economy in the future. If the operations at the Vitória cokemaking facility are interruptu ed or if certain
minimum production levels are not achieved, we will not be able to earn the same licensing and operating fees as we are
currently earning, which could have an adverse effeff ct on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
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Additionally, the Vitória, Brazil operations require us to comply with a number of U.S. and international laws and
regulations, including those involving anti-bribery,rr anti-corruptu ion and anti-fraud. In particular, our international operations
are subju ect to U.S. and foreign anti-corruptu ion laws and regulations, including the regulations imposed by the Foreign Corrupr t
Practices Act (“FCPA”), which generally prohibits issuers and their strategic or local partners, agents or representatives,
which we refer to as our intermediaries (even if those intermediaries are not themselves subju ect to the FCPA or other similar
laws), from making improper payments to foreign offiff cials for the purpose of obtaining or keeping business or obtaining an
improper business benefit.

We take precautions to comply with these laws. However, these precautions may not protect us against liability,
particularly as a result of actions by our intermediaries through whom we have exposure under these anti-bribery,rr anti-
corruptu ion and anti-fraud laws even though we may have limited or no ability to control such intermediaries. Any violations
of such laws could be punishable by criminal fines, imprisonment, civil penalties, disgorgement of profitsff , injunctions and
exclusion from government contracts, as well as other remedial measures. Investigations of alleged violations can be very
expensive, disruptr ive and damaging to our reputation and could negatively impact our stock price. Failure by us or our
intermediaries to comply with the foregoing or other anti-bribery, anti-corruptu ion and anti-fraud laws could adversely impact
our results of operations, financial position, and cash flows, damage our reputation and negatively impact our stock price.

Risks Related to Our Logistics Business

The growth and success of our logio stii ictt s busineii ss dependsdd upon our ability toii findii and contratt ct for adequatett
throughput volumes, ans d an extendeddd declinll e in demand for coal could afll feff ct the customtt ersrr for our logio stii ictt s busineii ss
adverserr ly.yy As a consequence, the operatingn results and cash flowll sw of our logio stii ictt s busineii ss could bell materiallyll and
adverserr ly affeff cted.

The financial results of our logistics business segment are significantly affeff cted by the demand for both thermal coal
and metallurgical coal. An extended decline in our customers’ demand for either thermal or metallurgical coals, including as
a result of legislation or regulations promoting renewabla e energy or limiting carbonr emissions from the energy sector, could
result in a reduced need for the coal mixing, terminalling and transloading services we offer,ff thus reducing throughput and
utilization of our logistics assets. Demand for such coals may fluctuate due to factors beyond our control:

• Thermal coal demand: may be impacted by changes in the energy consumption pattern of industrial consumers,
electricity generators and residential users, as well as weather conditions and extreme temperaturt es. The amount
of thermal coal consumed for electric power generation is affeff cted primarily by the overall demand for
electricity, the availabia lity, quality and price of competing fuels for power generation, including natural gas, and
governmental regulation. For example, state and federal mandates and market demand for increased use of
electricity from renewabla e energy sources, or mandates for the retrofittinff g of existing coal-fired generators with
pollution control systems, could adversely impact the demand for thermal coal. Finally, unusually warm winter
weather may reduce the commercial and residential needs for heat and electricity which, in turn, may reduce the
demand for thermal coal; and

• Metallurgical coal demandg : may be impacted adversely by economic downturns resulting in decreased demand
for steel and an overall decline in steel production. A decline in blast furnace production of steel may reduce the
demand for furnace coke, an intermediate product made from metallurgical coal. Decreased demand for
metallurgical coal also may result from increased steel industry utrr ilization of processes that do not use, or
reduce the need for, furnace coke, such as electric arc furnaces, or blast furnace injection of pulverized coal or
natural gas.

Additionally, fluctuations in the market price of coal can greatly affeff ct production rates and investments by third-
parties in the development of new and existing coal reserves. Mining activity may decrease as spot coal prices decrease. We
have no control over the level of mining activity by coal producers, which may be affeff cted by prevailing and projected coal
prices, demand for hydrocarbonsr , the level of coal reserves, geological considerations, governmental regulation and the
availabia lity and cost of capia tal. A material decrease in coal mining production in the areas of operation for our logistics
business, whether as a result of depressed commodity prices or otherwise, could result in a decline in the volume of coal
processed through our logistics facilities, which would reduce our revenues and operating income.

Decreased demand for thermal or metallurgical coals, and extended or subsu tantial price declines for coal could
adversely affeff ct our operating results for future periods and our ability to generate cash flows necessary to improve
productivity and expand operations. The cash flows associated with our logistics business may decline unless we are able to
secure new volumes of coal or other dry bulk prrr oducts, by attracting additional customers to these operations. Future growth
and profitaff bia lity of our logistics business segment will depend, in part, upon whether we can contract for additional coal and
other bulk commodity volumes at a rate greater than that of any decline in volumes from existing customers. Accordingly,

22



decreased demand for coal, or other bulk commodities, or a decrease in the market price of coal, or other bulk commodities,
could have a material adverse effeff ct on the results of operations or financial condition of our logistics business.

The geographic location of CMTMM couldll exposxx e us to potentt tial signi ificant liabilitieii s, includindd g operational hazards
and unforff eseen busineii ss interruptu iott ns,s that couldll substantiatt lly and adverserr ly affeff ct our future financii ial perforff marr nce.

CMT is located in the Gulf Coast region, and its operations are subju ect to operational hazards and unforeseen
interruptu ions, including interruptu ions from hurricanes, floods, or other potential effeff cts of climate change, which have
historically impacted the region with some regularity. If any of these events were to occur, we could incur subsu tantial losses
because of personal injury or loss of life,ff severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment, and pollution or other
environmental damage resulting in curtailment or suspension of our related operations.

Risks Related to Indebtedness, Liquidity and Financial Position

We maya need additioii nal capia tal in thii e future to meet our financii ial obligll atiott ns and to pursue our busineii ss
objectivtt es. Addidd tiii onal capia tal maii ya not be availaii blell on favorablell terms, or at all,ll which couldll compromise our abilitii ytt to
meet our financii ial obligll atiott ns and grow our busineii ss.

We may need to raise additional capital to fund operations in the future or to finance acquisitions or other business
objectives. Such additional capia tal may not be availabla e on favorable terms or at all. Lack of sufficient capital resources could
significantly limit our ability to meet our financial obligations or to take advantage of business and strategic opportunities.
Any additional capital raised through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities would dilute stock ownership, and any
new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges supeu rior to those of holders of our common
stock. Any debt financing we secure in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities
and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue
business opportunities. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require
it, we may be required to delay or reduce the scope of our business strategy.

We maya face material debt maturitieii s which maya adverserr ly affeff ct our consolidll atdd edtt financii ial position.

Over the next five years, we have $500.0 million of total consolidated debt maturing. See Note 11 to our
consolidated financial statements. We may not be able to refinance this debt, or may be forced to do so on terms subsu tantially
less favorable than our currently outstanding debt. We may be forced to delay or not make capital expenditures, which may
adversely affeff ct our competitive position and financial results.

We maya be adverserr ly affeff ctedtt by the effeff ctstt of infln atll iott n.

Inflation has the potential to adversely affeff ct our liquidity, business, financial condition and results of operations by
increasing our overall cost structurt e. The existence of inflation in the economy has resulted in, and may continue to result in,
higher interest rates and capia tal costs, increased costs of labor,a weakening exchange rates and other similar effeff cts. Although
we may take measures to mitigate the impact of this inflation, if these measures are not effeff ctive, our business, financial
condition, results of operations and liquidity could be materially adversely affeff cted. Even if such measures are effeff ctive, there
could be a difference between the timing of when these beneficial actions impact our results of operations and when the cost
of inflation is incurred.

Our level of indebtedtt nedd ss could advll erserr ly affeff ct our financii ial conditiodd n and prevent us from fulfilling our
obligll atiott ns underdd our creditdd facilitieii s and othett r debt documents. Furthett r, our creditdd facilitieii s contaitt nii operating andn
financii ial covenantstt that maya restrict our busineii ss and financii ing activities.

Subju ect to the limits contained in our credit agreements and our other debt instruments, we may be able to incur
additional debt from time to time to finance working capia tal, capia tal expenditures, investments or acquisitions, or for other
purposrr es. If we do so, the risks related to our level of debt could intensify.ff Specifically, a higher level of debt could have
important consequences, including:

• making it more difficult for us to satisfyff our obligations with respect to the notes and our other debt;

• limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions, distributions or other general corporate requirements;

• requiring a subsu tantial portion of our cash flows to be dedicated to debt service payments instead of other
purposrr es, thereby reducing the amount of cash flows availabla e for the payment of dividends, working capital,
capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;

• increasing our vulnerabia lity to general adverse economic and industryrr conditions;
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• exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates as certain of our borrowings, including borrowings under the
credit facilities, are at variable rates of interest;

• limiting our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the industryrr in which we compete;

• placing us at a competitive disadvantage to other, less leveraged competitors; and

• increasing our cost of borrowing.

Our ability to meet our debt obligations and reduce our level of indebtedness depends upon our future performance
and general economic, financial, business, and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. Factors affeff cting our
ability to raise cash through an offeriff ng of our common stock or a refinancing of our debt include financial market conditions,
the value of our assets, and our performance at the time we need capital.

In addition, the credit agreement governing our credit facilities contains restrictive covenants that limit our ability to
engage in activities (such as incurring additional debt) that may be in our long-term best interest. Our failure to comply with
those covenants, or covenants of any new agreements, could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could
result in the acceleration of all our debt. In the event of an acceleration of all our debt, we may not have sufficient cash on
hand to repay the indebtedness in full or refinance such debt on favorable terms, or at all. Such event could materially
adversely affeff ct our business, financial condition and results of operations.

General Risks

Sustained uncertainty in financii ial markets,tt or unfavorablff e ecll onomic conditiodd ns in the industries in which our
customtt ersrr operate,e maya lead to a reductiott n in the demand for our productstt and services, ans d adverserr ly impact our cash
flowll s,w financii ial position or results of operations.

Sustained volatility and disruptrr ion in worldwide capital and credit markets in the U.S. and globally could restrict our
ability to access the capia tal market at a time when we would like, or need, to raise capital for our business including for
potential acquisitions, or other growth opportunities.

Deteriorating or unfavff orable economic conditions in the industries in which our customers operate, such as
steelmaking and electric power generation, may lead to reduced demand for steel products, coal, and other bulk commodities
which, in turn, could adversely affeff ct the demand for our products and services and negatively impact the revenues, margins
and profitaff bia lity of our business.

Labor dispii utestt withii the unionizeii d portion of our workfok rce could afll feff ct us adverserr ly.yy Union repree esented labor
creates an increased risk of work stoppagett s and highi er labor costs.

We rely, at one or more of our facilities, on unionized labor,a and there is always the possibility that we may be
unable to reach agreement on terms and conditions of employment or renewal of a collective bargaining agreement. When
collective bargaining agreements expire or terminate, we may not be able to negotiate new agreements on the same or more
favorable terms as the current agreements, or at all, and without production interruptu ions, including labora stoppages. If we are
unable to negotiate the renewal of a collective bargaining agreement before its expiration date, our operations and our
profitaff bia lity could be adversely affeff cted. A prolonged labor dia spute, which may include a work stoppage, could adversely
affeff ct our ability to satisfy our customers’ orders and, as a result, adversely affeff ct our operations, or the stability of
production and reduce our future revenues, or profitff ability. It is also possible that, in the future, additional employee groups
may choose to be represented by a labor union.a

Our abilitii ytt to operate our company efn feff ctivtt ely could bell impairei d if we fail to attrtt act and retain keye personnel.

We have implemented recruir tment, training and retention effortff s to optimally staffff our operations. Our ability to
operate our business and implement our strategies depends in part on the effortff s of our executive offiff cers and other key
employees. In addition, our future success will depend on, among other factors, our ability to attract and retain other qualified
personnel. The loss of the services of any of our executive offiff cers or other key employees or the inability to attract or retain
other qualified personnel in the future could have a material adverse effeff ct on our business or business prospects. With
respect to our represented employees, we may be adversely impacted by the loss of employees who retire or obtain other
employment during a layoffff or a work stoppage.

We currentlytt are, and likelyll willii be, subject to litiii gati iott n, the dispii ositiott n of which couldll have a material adverserr
effeff ct on our cash flowll s, financii ial position or results of operations.

The nature of our operations exposes us to possible litigation claims in the future, including disputes relating to our
operations and commercial and contractuat l arrangements. Although we make everyrr effortff to avoid litigation, these matters
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are not totally within our control. We will contest these matters vigorously and have made insurance claims where
appropriate, but because of the uncertain nature of litigation and coverage decisions, we cannot predict the outcome of these
matters. Litigation is very costly, and the costs associated with prosecuting and defending litigation matters could have a
material adverse effeff ct on our financial condition and profitaff bia lity. In addition, our profitaff bia lity or cash flow in a particular
period could be affeff cted by an adverse ruling in any litigation currently pending in the courts or by litigation that may be filed
against us in the future. We are also subju ect to significant environmental and other government regulation, which sometimes
results in various administrative proceedings. For additional information, see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings.”

Securityii breaches and othett r infon rmatiott n systemtt s failures could dill sruii pt ouu r operations,s compromise the integre ity
of our data, exposxx e us to liabilitii y, catt use increased expexx nses and cause our repuee tation to suffeu r, anyn or allll of which couldll
have a material and adverserr effeff ct on our busineii ss or financii ial position.

Our business is dependent on financial, accounting and other data processing systems and other communications and
information systems, including our enterprise resource planning tools. We process a large number of transactions on a daily
basis and rely upon the proper functioning of computer systems. If a key system were to fail or experience unscheduld ed
downtime for any reason, our operations and financial results could be affeff cted adversely. Our systems could be damaged or
interruptu ed by a security breach, terrorist attack, fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure or similar event. Our
disaster recovery plans may not entirely prevent delays or other complications that could arise from an information systems
failure. Our business interruptu ion insurance may not compensate us adequately for losses that may occur.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data in our data centers, on our networks, and in
our cloud vendors. In addition, we rely on third party service providers, for supporu t of our information technology systems,
including the maintenance and integrity of proprietary business information and other confidff ential company information and
data relating to customers, supplu iers and employees. The secure processing, maintenance and transmission of this information
is critical to our operations and business strategy. We have institutt ed data security measures for confidff ential company
information and data stored on electronic and computing devices, whether owned or leased by us or a third party vendor.
However, despite such measures, there are risks associated with customer, vendor, and other third-party access and our
information technology and infrastructurt e may be vulnerabla e to attacks by hackers or breached due to: employee error or
malfeasance,ff failure of third parties to meet contractuat l, regulatoryrr and other obligations to us, or other disruptr ions.

Any such breach could compromise our networks and the information stored there could be accessed, publicly
disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings,
liabia lity under laws that protect the privacy of personal information, and regulatory penalties, disrupt our operr rations, and
damage our reputation, which could materially and adversely affeff ct our business and financial position.

We are exposxx ed to, and maya be adverserr ly affeff cted by, interruptions to our computertt and infon rmatiott n technologyo
systemtt s and sopho isticated cyber-attatt cks.kk

We rely on our information technology systems and networks in connection with many of our business activities.
Some of these networks and systems are managed by third-party service providers and are not under our direct control. Our
operations routinely involve receiving, storing, processing and transmitting sensitive information pertaining to our business,
customers, dealers, supplu iers, employees and other sensitive matters. Cyber-attacks could materially disrupt operr rational
systems; result in loss of trade secrets or other proprietary or competitively sensitive information; compromise personally
identifiabla e information regarding customers or employees; and jeopardize the security of our facilities. A cyber-attack could
be caused by malicious outsiders using sophisticated methods to circumvent firewalls, encryptrr ion and other security defenses.
Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabota age systems change frequently and generally are not
recognized until they are launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate
preventative measures. Information technology security threats, including security breaches, computer malware and other
cyber-attacks are increasing in both frequency and sophistication and could create financial liabia lity, subju ect us to legal or
regulatory sanctions or damage our reputation with customers, dealers, supplu iers and other stakeholders. We continuously
seek to maintain a robust program of information security and controls, but a cyber-attack could have a material adverse
effeff ct on our competitive position, reputation, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. As cyber-attacks
continue to evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective
measures or to investigate and remediate any information security vulnerabia lities.

We are or maya become subject to privacyc and data protecttt iott n laws,s rules and direii ctivtt es relatingn to the processingii
of personal data in the stattt estt and countries where we operate.ee

The growth of cyber-attacks has resulted in an evolving legal landscape which imposes costs that are likely to
increase over time. For example, new laws and regulations governing data privacy and the unauthorized disclosure of
confidff ential information including, but not limited to the European Union General Data Protection Regulation and recent
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Californiff a legislation (which, among other things, provides for a private right of action), pose increasingly complex
compliance challenges and could potentially elevate our costs over time. Any failure by us to comply with such laws and
regulations could result in penalties and liabia lities. It is also possible under certain legislation that if we acquire a company
that has violated or is not in compliance with applicable data protection laws, we may incur significant liabia lities and
penalties as a result.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staffff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity Risk Management, Strategy, and Governance

We recognize the importance of assessing, identifying, and managing material risks associated with cybersecurity
threats, as such term is defined in Item 106(a) of Regulation S-K, to protect the confidff entiality, integrity and availabia lity of
our critical systems and information. Our enterprise risk management program considers cybersecurity threats as part of our
overall risk assessment process. We perform these risk assessments to inform our risk mitigation strategies and prioritize
cybersecurity initiatives. Our cybersecurity risk assessment process includes network and endpoint monitoring, vulnerabia lity
assessments, and penetration testing, and we believe helps identify ourff cybersecurity threat risks by aligning our processes to
standards set by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (“NIST”). This does not imply that we meet any
particular technical standards, specifications, or requirements, only that we use the NIST standards as a guide to help us
identify,ff assess, and manage cybersecurity risks relevant to our business. The results of our cybersecurity assessments are
regularly shared with senior management and the Board of Directors. Additionally, we have implemented technologies,
controls and processes to aid in our effortff s to assess, identify, manage, and monitor material cybersecurity risks, their
severity, and potential mitigation. We regularly review and update our cybersecurity processes to help address the evolving
cybersecurity landscapea and legal requirements, providing clear guidelines for our employees and third-party service
providers.

Governance Structure and Risk Management Functions

Cybersecurity is an integral part of our risk management processes. Our cross-functional risk management team
evaluates cybersecurity risks alongside other operational, financial, and reputational risks, facilitating effeff ctive resource
allocation and coordinated mitigation strategies. In 2021, we updated our Audit Committee charter to memorialize the
Committee’s role in reviewing cybersecurity matters. The Audit Committee oversees the initial assessment of cybersecurity
threats as well as the Company’s approach to management and mitigation of such risks, compliance with industryrr standards
related to cybersecurity, and the Company’s public disclosures related to cybersecurity matters. In addition, our Board of
Directors devotes regular attention to oversight of cybersecurity risks. At least annually, the entire Board of Directors
receives an update from our Chief Information Offiff cer (“CIO”) detailing our cybersecurity threat risk management and
strategy processes. This update covers topics such as data security posture, results from assessments conducted by third
parties, progress towards security goals, and any material cybersecurity developments, as well as steps taken in response to
such developments. Our governance structurt e allows senior management and the Board of Directors to also remain involved
in our cybersecurity strategy and risk management oversight, creating a comprehensive approach to our risk management.

Cybersecurity Leadership and Communication

Our CIO has experience in various roles implementing effeff ctive information and cybersecurity programs. The CIO
reports to the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offiff cer and maintains open channels of communication
with the broader senior management team and the Board of Directors. The CIO leads our cybersecurity initiatives and is
responsible for implementing our cybersecurity strategy, managing daily operations, coordinating incident responses, and
providing regular updates to management, the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors regarding the Company’s
cybersecurity statust and risk assessments.

External Support and Third-Party Risk Management

Management continues to take steps to enhance our data security infrastructurt e and defenses. Our processes also
address cybersecurity threat risks associated with using third-party service providers, including those in our supplyu chain or
who have access to our customer and employee data, our information systems, or the facilities that house such systems or
data. We engage outside third-party experts, cybersecurity advisors, and auditors to conduct regular risk assessments,
penetration testing, and vulnerabia lity analyses. Our enterprise risk management and cybersecurity-specific risk identification
programs include consideration of third-party risks and informs our selection and oversight of third-party service providers.
We conduct appropriate due diligence on third-party service providers, vendors, and partners before establa ishing relationships
with them, and we monitor such relationships on an ongoing basis. We also periodically review the Company’s cyber
insurance policies to ensure appropriate coverage.
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Incident Response and Vulnerability Management

In the event of a cybersecurity incident, our incident response plans are designed to respond with an incident
response team to address any breaches. Our ongoing vulnerabia lity management program complements our incident response
capabilities. It includes periodic scanning, risk assessment, and patch management to address system and network
vulnerabia lities and help ensure that our infrastructurt e remains resilient against evolving threats.

As part of our risk factor disclosures at Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in our MD&A at Item 7
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we describe whether and how risks from identified cybersecurity threats, including any
previous incidents, have materially affeff cted or are reasonably likely to materially affeff ct our business strategy, results of
operations, or financial condition. These disclosures are incorporated by reference herein. There can be no assurance that our
cybersecurity risk management program and processes, including our policies, controls or procedurd es, will be fully
implemented, complied with or effeff ctive in protecting our systems and information. Based on the information we have as of
the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we do not believe any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of
any previous cybersecurity incidents, have materially affeff cted or are reasonably likely to materially affeff ct us, including our
business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. This includes penalties and settlements, of which there were
none.

Item 2. Properties

We own the following real property as of December 31, 2024:

• Ap iproximatelytely 900 acres iin Vansant ((B huchanan County),unty), iVi grgiiniia on hwhiichh hthe Jewellll cokkemakingking fa icililityy iis
llocatedd, lal gong iwi h hth the offififf ces, warehhouse andd supporu t b ibuildldiinggs for our Jewellll cokke affififf liliates as wellll as hother
ggenerall property holdingsy holdings andd unoccu ipiu ded lla dnd.

• Ap iproximatelytely 400 acres iin Franklkliin Furnace ((S icioto County),unty), hOhiio, at andd ar dound hthe area hwhere hthe Have hrhillill
cokkemakingking fa icilili yty (b(b hoth hthe fifirst andd seco d hnd pha )ses) iis llo dcated.

• Ap iproximatelytely 45 acres iin Graniite iCi yty ((M dadiison County),unty), lIllili inois, dadjajadd cen ht to the U.S. St leel Graniite iCi yty
Wo krks fa icilitylity, on hwhiichh hthe Graniite iCi yty cokkemakingking fa icililityy iis llo dcated. Upon hthe earlilier of ceasiing producg produc ition
at hthe fa icilitylity or hthe end fd of 2044, U.S. St leel hhas hthe irightght to repur hchase hthe propertyy, iin lcludinguding hthe fa icililityy, at hthe
faiir ma krket vallue of hthe lla dnd. lAlternatiiv lelyy, U.S. St leel mayy re iquire us to dde limolishh andd remove hthe fa icililityy dand
remedidiate hthe isite to origigiin lal c diondi ition upon ex iercise of iits optiion to repur hchase hthe lla dnd.

• Ap iproximatelytely 250 acres iin iMiddlddletown ((Butller County),unty), hOhiio near hthe lClififfsff St leel iMiddlddletown Wo krks fa icilili yty,
on hwhiichh hthe iMiddlddletown cokkemakingking fa icilili yty iis llocatedd.

• Ap iproximatelytely 180 acres iin Cereddo ((W yayne County),unty), West iVi grgi iinia on hwhiichh KRT hhas two termiin lals for iits
i imixingg and/ h dld/or handliingg serviices lal gong hthe hOhiio andd iBigg Sandyndy iRivers.

• Ap iproximatelytely 175 acres iin Convent ((St. James Pa iri hsh)), Lo iui isiana, on hwhiichh CMT i lis lo dcated.

We llease hthe follllowiingg re lal proper yty as of Decembber 31, 2024:

• Ap iproximatelytely 90 acres of lla dnd llocat ded iin East hChiic gago ((L kake County),unty), Indidiana, on hwhiichh hthe Indidiana Ha brbor
cokkemakingking fa icilili yty iis llocat ded a dnd hthe lcoal h dlhandliingg and/d/or imixingxing fa icili ilities ((L kake Termiin lal)) hthat serviice hthe
Indidiana Ha brbor cokkemakingking fa icilitylity. hThe lleas ded propertyy iis iin isidde hthe lClififfsff St leel Indidiana Ha brbor Wo krks fa icilili yty
andd iis part of an ente irprise zone. As llessee of hthe propertyy, we are responsiblible for restoriingg hthe lleas ded prope yrty
to a safe andd ordde lrlyy co dindi ition.

• Ap iproximatelytely 310 acres of lla dnd llo dcated iin Bu hchanan Co yunty, iVi grgi iinia at andd ar dound hthe area hwhere our Jewellll
lcoal h dlhandliingg termiin lal iis llocatedd.

• Ap iproximatelytely 30 acres iin Belllle ((Kanawhha County),unty), West iVi grgiiniia, on hwhiichh KRT hhas a termiin lal for iits imixingxing
and/ h dld/or handliingg serviices lal gong hthe Kana hwha iRiver.

• Our corporate hhe dadquarters iis llocat ded iin lleas ded offififf ce space iin iLi lsle, lIllilin iois dunder a y9 year llease hthat
commenc ded iin 2021.

hWhil hile the Companyy co lmpletedd hthe didispos lal of iits lcoal imining busning busiiness iin Ap irill 2016, we contiinue to hhave irightghts to
sm lalll parc lels of lla dnd, iminer lal irightghts andd lcoal iminiingg irightghts for ap iproximatelymately 4,200 acres of lla dnd iin Bu hchanan andd Russellll
Countiies, iVi grgi iinia. hThese gagreements co ynvey iminiingg irightghts to us iin hexchangge for ypayment of cer i itain immate iri lal royyalltiies
and/d/or fifi dxed fees.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information presented in Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements within this Annual Report on Form
10-K is incorporated herein by reference.

Many legal and administrative proceedings are pending or may be brought against us arising out of our current and
past operations, including matters related to commercial and tax disputes, product liabia lity, employment claims, personal
injury claims, premises-liabia lity claims, allegations of exposures to toxic subsu tances and general environmental claims.
Although the ultimate outcome of these proceedings cannot be ascertained at this time, it is reasonably possible that some of
them could be resolved unfavff orably to us. Our management believes that any liabia lities that may arise from such matters
would not likely be material in relation to our business or our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows at December 31, 2024.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

While the Company divested subsu tantially all of its remaining coal mining assets in April 2016, the Company
remains responsible for reclamation of certain legacy coal mining locations that are subju ect to Mine Safety and Health
Administration (“MSHA”) regulatory purview and the Company continues to own certain logistics assets that are regulated
by MSHA. The information concerning mine safety violations and other regulatory matters that we are required to report in
accordance with Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of
Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.014) is included in Exhibit 95.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholders Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Market Information

Shares of our common stock trade under the stock trading symbol “SXC” on the New York Stock Exchange.

Perforff mance Graph

The following perforff mance graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or be “filed“ ”dd
with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by refee rence into any future filing under the Securities Act or
Exchange Act, except to the extent we specifici ally incorporate it by refee rence into such filing. The shareholder returns in the
graph below are based on histii orical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast,t future perforff mance.

The graph below matches the Company's cumulative 5-Year total shareholder return on common stock with the
cumulative total returns of the S&P Small Cap 600a Index and the NASDAQ U.S. Benchmark Iron & Steel Index. The graph
tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and in each index (with the reinvestment of all dividends)
from December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2024.

In selecting the indices for comparison, we considered market capia talization and industry orrr line-of-bff usiness. The
S&P Small Cap 600a Index is a broad equity market index comprised of companies of between $1.1 billion and $7.4 billion.
The Company is a part of this index. The NASDAQ U.S. Benchmark Iron and Steel Index is comprised of U.S.-based steel
and metals manufacff turing and coal and iron ore mining companies. While we do not manufactff urt e steel, we do produce coke,
an essential ingredient in the blast furnace production of steel. Accordingly, we believe the NASDAQ U.S. Benchmark Iron
& Steel Index is appropriate for comparison purposr es.
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Holders

As of Februarr ry 14, 2025, we had 7,408 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

Our Board of Directors declared the following dividends during 2024 and through February 21, 2025:
Date Declared Record Date Dividend Per Share Payment Date

Februarr ry 1, 2024 Februarr ry 15, 2024 $0.10 March 1, 2024
May 1, 2024 May 15, 2024 $0.10 June 3, 2024
July 31, 2024 August 15, 2024 $0.12 September 3, 2024
October 31, 2024 November 15, 2024 $0.12 December 2, 2024
January 30, 2025 Februarr ry 17, 2025 $0.12 March 3, 2025

Our payment of dividends in the futurff e, if any, will be determined by our Board of Directors and will depend on
business conditions, our financial condition, earnings, liquidity and capital requirements, covenants in our debt agreements
and other factors. Any dividend program may be canceled, suspended, terminated or modified at any time at the discretion of
the Board of Directors.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On October 28, 2019, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase outstanding shares of
the Company’s common stock, $0.01 par value per share, froff m time to time in open market transactions at prevailing market
prices, in privately negotiated transactions, or by other means in accordance with federal securities laws, for a total aggregate
cost to the Company not to exceed $100.0 million. There have been no share repurchases since the first quarter of 2020 as the
Company has suspended additional repurchases, leaving $96.3 million availabla e under the authorized repurchase program as
of December 31, 2024.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Annual Repore t on ForFF m 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements,tt as define ed in the Private Securities
Litigation Reforff m Act of 1995. This discii ussion contains forward-looking statements att bout our business, operations and
industry tr hattt involve risks and uncertainties, such as statements regarding our planse , objectives, expectedee future
developments, expee ectations and intentions, and they involve knowkk n and unknown risks that are difficult to predict. As a result,
our future results and financial condition may diffei r materially from those we currently anticipate as a result of the facff tors
we describe under “Cautionary Sr tateS ment Concerning Forward-Looking StateS ments”tt and “Risk FacFF tors.”

This Management’s Discii ussion and Analysll is of Financial CondiCC tion and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is based
on financial datdd a derdd ived from the finff ancial statements ptt repare ed in accordancdd e with United StateS s generally accepte ed
accounting principles (“GAAGG P”) a” nd certain other financial datdd a thattt is prepared using a non-GAAP measure. For a
reconciliation of to he non-tt GAAP measure to its most comparable GAAPGG component, st ee “Non-NN GAAP Financial MeaMM sures” in
this Item 7.

Our MD&MM A i&& s pii rovided in addition to the accompanying consolidatdd ed financial statements att nd notes to assist
readers in understanding our results of operations, finff ancial condition and cash flows. Our results of operations include
refee rence to our business opeo rations and marketkk conditions, which are furff ther described in Part I of this document.

2024 Overview

Our consolidated results of operations in 2024 were as follows:
Year Ended

December 31, 2024
(Dollars in millions)

Net income $ 103.5
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 168.8
Adjud sted EBITDA(1) $ 272.8

((1) S) ee “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” in this Item 7 below for botff h the definition of Adjusted EBITDA and the
reconciliation froff m GAAP to the non-GAAP measurement.

Operating results during the year ended December 31, 2024 primarily reflect higher transloading volumes and
pricing in our Logistics segment, as well as the extinguishment of certain black lung liabia lities durd ing the current year period,
which resulted in the recognition of a $9.5 million pre-tax gain. These increases were partially offsff et by unfavff orable coal-to-
coke yields on our long-term, take-or-pay agreements within our Domestic Coke segment. Operating cash floff ws during the
current period primarily refleff ct an unfavff orable year-over-year change in primary working capital and a one-time payment of
$36.0 million related to the extinguishment of certain black lung liabia lities.

We return ded meaniinggf lulff ca ipia tall to our hshar heh ldolders hthroughugh hth de decllara ition and paymnd payment of a di id ddividend dduriingg e hach
quarter of 2024, iincrea isi gng fro $m $0.10 per shhare dduringing hthe fiirff st hhalflf of hth ye year to $$0.12 per hshar de durd iingg thhe seco d hnd halflf of
hth ye year, representiingg a quarterlyly iincrease of 20 percent.

Recent Developments

• GraGG niteii Cityii Contratt ct Extension. In October 2024, the Granite City long-term, take-or-pay agreement with
United States Steel Corporation (“U.S. Steel”) was extended through June 30, 2025, with an option forff U.S.
Steel to extend for an additional six months. Under the terms of the agreement, Granite City will supplu y 295
thousand tons of coke to U.S. Steel during the initial six month term. The terms of the extension includes a turn
down feeff , but results in significantly lower overall economics compared to the current long-term, take-or-pay
agreement. Other key provisions of the agreement, including the pass-through of coal costs, remain unchanged.

Items Impacting Comparability

• U.S. Deparee tment of Labor’s Divisiii on of Coal Mineii Workers Crr ompeCC nsatiott n (“DCMWC”) Regue latory
Exemptm iott n. In August 2024, the Company reached an agreement with the DCMWC and made a payment of
$36.0 million to extinguish the majority of its self-insured federal black lung liabia lities. As a result of the
agreement, the Company recognized a $9.5 million pre-tax gain within selling, general and administrative
expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income during the year ended December 31, 2024. The agreement
resulted in a reducd tion of $45.5 million of the Company's black lung liabia lity on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. See Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements forff further detail.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

The folff lowing section includes year-over-year analysis of consolidated results of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2024 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. See “Analysis of Segment Results” later in this Item
7 forff further details of these results. Refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations in our 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the year-over-year analysis of consolidated results of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

Years Ended
December 31,

2024 2023
Increase
(Decrease)

(Dollars in millions)

Revenues
Sales and other operating revenue $ 1,935.4 $ 2,063.2 $ (127.8)
Costs and operating expenses
Cost of products sold and operating expenses 1,603.4 1,724.6 (121.2)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 61.2 70.7 (9.5)
Depreciation and amortization expense 118.9 142.8 (23.9)
Total costs and operating expenses 1,783.5 1,938.1 (154.6)
Operating income 151.9 125.1 26.8
Interest expense, net 23.4 27.3 (3.9)
Income before income tax expense 128.5 97.8 30.7
Income tax expense 25.0 34.3 (9.3)
Net income 103.5 63.5 40.0
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 7.6 6.0 1.6
Net income attributable to SunCoke Energy, Inc. $ 95.9 $ 57.5 $ 38.4

SSales and Othett r OpeOO rati gngii Revenue and Costs ott ff Po roPP ducts Stt olSS d all nd Operatintt gg ExpeEE nses. Salles a d hnd other opera iti gng
revenue andd costs of pr doducts soldld andd opera itingg expenses ddecreaseded iin 2024 as comp dared to 2023, priima irilyly ddriiven byby hthe
ppass- hthrough ofugh of llower coall p irices on our llo gng-term, t kake-or-p yay gagreements.

SSellingg,n General and Admidd niii straii tive ExpeEE nses. hTh de decreas ie in s lelliling gg, generall a dnd dad iminiistratiive expense was priima irilyly
iimp dacted byby hthe recogniogni ition of a $$9.5 illimillion ggaiin, whihi hch was thhe resullt of hthe extiinguigui hshment of cert iai ln liiabibia li ilities r lelat ded to
our lleggacy coalcy coal imining busning busiiness. See NNote 12 to our co lnsolididat ded fifinanciiall statements forff furthher ddetailil.

DDepree eciatiott n and Amortizaii tion Expexx nse. Depr ieciatiion a dnd amor itiza ition expens de decreas ded iin 2024 as comp dared to 2023 as
a res lult of thhe ex ipira ition of hthe useful ll liives of assets iin our Domestiic Cokke seggment, hwhiichh were plla dced iinto serviic ie in p irior
ppe iri dods.

IInterest Expexx nse, net. Interest expense, net, bbenefifited id in 2024 from llower average debt bage debt ballances dduriingg thhe curre ynt year
ppe iri dod and hd higighhe ir interes it income of $$2.6 illimillion.

Income Tax Eaa xpeEE nse. Income tax expense durd ing 2024 benefited froff m the absence of $8.4 million of deferred tax expense
recorded in the prior year related to the establa ishment of a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets attributable to existing
foreign tax credit carryforwards, as a result of changes in tax regulations. Additionally, the current year period further
benefited froff m the release of valuation allowances establa ished on deferred tax assets related to state net operating loss
carryforwards, partially offsff et by the revaluation of certain deferred tax liabia lities dued to changes in appora tioned state tax
rates. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements forff further detail.

NNoncontrollinll g In ntII ertt est. NNet iincome attributable to noncontrolling interests represents a 14.8 percent third-party interest in
our Indidiana Harbbor r c kokemakingking fa icilitylity and fd fllufff ctuat tes wiithh thhe fifinanciiall performance of hthat fa icility.lity.
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Results of Reportable Business Segments

We report our business results through three reportabla e segments:

• Domestic Coke consists of our Jewell facility, located in Vansant, Virginia, our Indiana Harbor facility, located
in East Chicago, Indiana, our Haverhill facility, located in Franklin Furnace, Ohio, our Granite City facility
located in Granite City, Illinois, and our Middletown facility located in Middletown, Ohio.

• Brazil Coke consists of operations in Vitória, Brazil, where we operate the ArcelorMittal Brazil cokemaking
facility.

L• ogistics consists of CMT, located in Convent, Louisiana, KRT, located in Ceredo and Belle, West Virginia,
and Lake Terminal, located in East Chicago, Indiana. Lake Terminal is located adjad cent to our Indiana Harbor
cokemaking facility.

The operations of each of our reportabla e segments are described in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Corporate expenses that can be identified with a segment have been included in determining segment results. The
remainder is included in Corporate and Other, including activity from our legacy coal mining business, which is not
considered a reportabla e segment and, thereforff e, not included in our segment information in Note 19. However, we have
included Corporate and Other within our operating data below.

Management believes Adjud sted EBITDA is an important measure of operating performance, which is used by the
chief operating decision maker as one of the measurements to help determine the allocation of costs and resources to our
reportabla e segments. Adjud sted EBITDA should not be considered a subsu titute for the reported results prepared in accordance
with GAAP. See the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section below for both the definition of Adjud sted EBITDA and the
reconciliation from GAAP to the non-GAAP measurement.
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Segment Operating Data

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th financial and operating data by segment for the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023
Increase
(Decrease)

(Dollars in millions, except per ton amounts)

Sales and other operating revenue:
Domestic Coke $ 1,817.3 $ 1,954.0 $ (136.7)
Brazil Coke 35.1 35.2 (0.1)
Logistics 83.0 74.0 9.0
Logistics intersegment sales 22.9 22.1 0.8
Elimination of intersegment sales (22.9) (22.1) (0.8)
Total sales and other operating revenue $ 1,935.4 $ 2,063.2 $ (127.8)
Adjud sted EBITDA:
Domestic Coke $ 234.7 $ 247.8 $ (13.1)
Brazil Coke 9.9 9.1 0.8
Logistics 50.4 44.3 6.1
Corporate and Other, net(1) (22.2) (32.4) 10.2
Total Adjusted EBITDA(2) $ 272.8 $ 268.8 $ 4.0
Coke Operating Data:
Domestic Coke capaa city utilization(3) 100 % 101 % (1)%
Domestic Coke production volumes (thousands of tons) 4,032 4,049 (17)
Domestic Coke sales volumes (thousands of tons) 4,028 4,046 (18)
Domestic Coke Adjud sted EBITDA per ton(4) $ 58.27 $ 61.25 $ (2.98)
Brazilian Coke production—operated faciff lity (thousands of tons) 1,579 1,558 21
Logistics Operating Data:
Tons handled (thousands of tons) 22,540 20,483 2,057

((1) C) orporr ate and Other, net is not a reportabla e segment.

(2) See the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section below for both the definition of Adjusted EBITDA and the
reconciliation froff m GAAP to the non-GAAP measurement.

(3) The production of foundrff y crr oke tons does not replace blast furnaff ce coke tons on a ton for ton basis, as foundry crr oke
requires longer coking time. The Domestic Coke capacity utilization is calculated assuming a single ton of foundry
coke replaces approximately two tons of blast furnaff ce coke.

(4) Refleff cts Domestic Coke Adjud sted EBITDA divided by Domestic Coke sales volumes.
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Analysis of Segment Results

Domestictt Coke

The folff lowing tabla e explains year-over-year changes in our Domestic Coke segment's sales and other operating
revenues and Adjud sted EBITDA results:

Sales and other
operating revenue Adjud sted EBITDA

2024 vs 2023 2024 vs 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Beginning $ 1,954.0 $ 247.8
Volume(1) (6.1) —
Price(2) (127.1) (11.1)
Operating and maintenance costs(3) N/ 1A .2
Energy and other(4) (3.5) (3.2)
Ending $ 1,817.3 $ 234.7

( )(1) Vollume ds durd iingg 2024 were gnega itiv lely iy impacted by ld by lower lcoal-to-coke yike yi leldds. Thhese ddecreases were partiiallllyy a dnd
co lmpletelyly offsff et for Revenues a dnd dAdjujudd st ded EBITDA, respec itiv lelyy, by highebby higher v lolumes on our fo dundryy crr koke salles
and hd higighher v lolumes at cer itain of our cokkemakingking fa icililitiie ds d iriven by tn by thhe babsence of oven r beb iuildld is in thhe curren yt year
ppe iriodod.

( )(2) Salles a dnd hother opera itingg revenue ddecreas ded priima irilyly as a res lult of thhe pass- hthrough ofugh of llower coall p irices on our
llo gng-term, t kake-or-p yay gagreements. Adjusdjustedd EBITDA was gnega itiv lely iy imp dacted byby llower coall-to-coke yioke yi leldds on our
llo gng-term, t kake-or-p yay gagreements and ld lower salles p iri ici gng on our non-contra dcted blblast c koke salles, hwhiichh was
ppartiallyially offsff et byby hth ie impact of lf lower co lal priices on our non-contra dcted blblast c koke salles.

( )(3) Oppera itingg a dnd imaintenance costs priima irilyly bbenefifited id in thhe current yyear pe iri dod fro lm lower lplannedd out gage costs dand
hthe abbsa ence of oven r beb iuildlds.

( )(4) Energygy andd o hther ddecreasedd p irima irilyly as a res lult of unfavff or bablle energygy pricingicing. hThes de decreases were par iti lallyly offsff et
by higheby higher ene grgyy s lales as a res lult of iincr deased lvolumes rellated to ud to pgru ades of our assets made in the prior year
period.

Logio stii icstt

The folff lowing tabla e explains year-over-year changes in our Logistics segment's sales and other operating revenues,
exclusive of intersegment sales, and Adjud sted EBITDA results:

Sales and other operating
revenue, exclusive of
intersegment sales Adjusted EBITDA
2024 vs 2023 2024 vs 2023

(Dollars in millions)

Beginning $ 74.0 $ 44.3
Transloading volumes(1) 6.1 3.9
Price/margin impact of mix in transloading services(2) 1.2 1.5
Other(3) 1.7 0.7
Ending $ 83.0 $ 50.4

Intersegment sales and other operating revenue in our Logistics segment were $22.9 million and $22.1 million as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Adjud sted EBITDA presented abovea is inclusive of the impact of intersegment
transactions.

( )(1) Vollumes ppriimarilily iy increas ded as a result of higher demand and transloading volumes at KRT.

( )(2) Revenues a dnd dAdjujudd st ded EBITDA iincreas ded as a res lult of hf higighher transllo dadiingg p iri ici gng at CMT.

( )(3) Revenues a dnd dAdjujudd st ded EBITDA iincreas ded as a res lult of favff or bablle iancilllla yry revenue.
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Brazil Coke

Salles a dnd hother opera itingg revenue ddecreas ded $$0.1 illimillion, or zero percent, to $$35.1 illimillion iin 2024 compar ded to
$$35.2 illimillion iin 2023. Adjusdjustedd EBITDA iincrea dsed $$0.8 illimillion, or 9 percent, to $$9.9 illimillion iin 2024 compar ded to $$9.1
illimillion iin 2023. hTh ie increas ie in Adjusdjustedd EBITDA p irima irilyly flreflects highehigher opera iti gng fees andd prodduc iti lon volumes.

Corporate att nd Othertt

Corporate a dnd Othher Adjusdjustedd EBITDA iincr deased $$10.2 illimillion, or 31 percent, to a lloss of $$22.2 illimillion iin 2024
comp dared to la loss of $$32.4 illimillion iin 2023. Thihis iincrease was priimarilily dy d iriven by tn by thhe recognigni ition of a $$9.5 illimillion ggaiin,
hwhiichh was hthe res lult of thhe ex itinguigui hshment of cer i litain li babiliili ities rellatedd to our lleggacy coalcy coal i imining bg busiiness. See NNote 12 to our
cons lolidid dated fifinanciiall statements forff furthhe dr det iaill.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to the GAAP results provided in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have provided a non-GAAP
financial measure, Adjud sted EBITDA. Our management, as well as certain investors, use this non-GAAP measure to analyze
our current and expected future financial performance. This measure is not in accordance with, or a subsu titute for, GAAP and
may be differeff nt from, or inconsistent with, non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies.

The Company evaluates the performance of its segments based on segment Adjud sted EBITDA, which is definff ed as
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”), adjud sted for any impairments, restrucrr turing costs,
gains or losses on extinguishment of debt, and/or transaction costs (“Adjud sted EBITDA”). EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
do not represent and should not be considered alternatives to net income or operating income under GAAP and may not be
comparable to other similarly titled measures in other businesses.

Management believes Adjud sted EBITDA is an important measure in assessing operating performance. Adjud sted
EBITDA provides useful inforff mation to investors because it highlights trends in our business that may not otherwise be
apparent when relying solely on GAAP measures and because it eliminates items that have less bearing on our operating
performance. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measures calculated in accordance with GAAP, and they should not be
considered a substitute for net income, or any other measure of finff ancial performance presented in accordance with GAAP.
Additionally, other companies may calculate Adjud sted EBITDA differently than we do, limiting its usefulneff ss as a
comparative measure.

Reconciliatiott n of No onNN -GAAGG P FinFF ancial Measures

Below is a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, which is its most directly comparable financial
measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(Dollars in millions)

Net income $ 103.5 $ 63.5 $ 104.9
Add:
Depreciation and amortization expense 118.9 142.8 142.5
Interest expense, net 23.4 27.3 32.0
Income tax expense 25.0 34.3 16.8
Transaction costs(1) 2.0 0.9 1.5

Adjud sted EBITDA $ 272.8 $ 268.8 $ 297.7

(1) Refleff cts costs incurred related to potential mergers and acquisitions and the granulated pig iron projeo ct with U.S.
Steel.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary liquidity needs are to fund working capital, fundff investments, service our debt, maintain cash reserves
and replace partially or fully depreciated assets and other capital expenditures. Our sources of liquidity include cash
generated froff m operations, borrowings under our revolving credit facility (“Revolving Facility”) and, from time to time, debt
and equity offeriff ngs. We believe our current resources are suffiff cient to meet our working capital requirements forff our current
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business forff at least the next 12 months and thereafteff r forff the forff eseeable future. As of December 31, 2024, we had $189.6
million of cash and cash equivalents and $350.0 million of borrowing availabia lity under our Revolving Facility.

We may, from time to time, seek to retire or purchase additional amounts of our outstanding equity and/or debt
securities through cash purchases and/or exchanges forff other securities, in open market purchases, privately negotiated
transactions or otherwise. Such repurchases or exchanges, if any, will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity
requirements, contractuat l restrictions and other factors. The amounts involved may be material. Refer to further liquidity
discussion in “Part II - Item 5 - Market forff Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholders Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities.”

On Februarr ry 1, 2013, SunCoke obtained commercial insurance for state and federalff black lung claims, in excess of a
deductible, forff employees with a last date of employment after that date. For claims based on employment that ended prior to
Februar ry 1, 2013, SunCoke was reauthorized by the U.S. Department of Labora ’s Division of Coal Mine Workers
Compensation (“DCMWC”) to self-iff nsure its black lung liabilities for $8.4 million. On February 21, 2020, DCMWC made
an initial security determination to increase the amount of SunCoke’s collateral requirement for self-insured claims to
$40.4 million. The Company appealed the security determination to the DCMWC. On August 13, 2024, the Company and
DCMWC agreed that the Company would make a lump sum payment of $36.0 million to satisfy its self-iff nsured federal black
lung liabia lities, with limited exceptions estimated to be approxia mately $1.4 million. In exchange, the DCMWC agreed to
permanently assume responsibility for payment of black lung benefits for claims based on employment that ended prior to
Februar ry 1, 2013, and SunCoke received a certificff ate of exemption that eliminates the Company’s responsibility for futurff e
payments arising froff m claims based on employment that ended prior to February 1, 2013, excluding limited exceptions
estimated to be appra oximately $1.4 million. As a result of the agreement, the Company no longer maintains any collateral to
self-iff nsure its former black lung liabia lities incurred prior to February 1, 2013. Additionally, on January 19, 2023, the
Department of Labor proposa ed a new rule that would require self-iff nsured operators to post collateral in the amount of 120
percent of the company's total expected lifetff ime black lung liabilities as determined by the DCMWC. If finff alized, the new
rule would not apply to SunCoke. See further discussion in Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements.

Cash Flow Summary

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th a summary of the net cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing
activities forff the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 168.8 $ 249.0
Net cash used in investing activities (72.3) (109.2)
Net cash used in finff ancing activities (47.0) (89.7)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 49.5 $ 50.1

Cash Provideddd by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $80.2 million to $168.8 million in 2024 as compared to $249.0
million in 2023. The decrease primarily reflects an unfavff orable year-over-year change in primary working capital, which is
comprised of accounts receivable, inventories, and accounts payable, driven by the timing of receipts froff m customers and the
impact of the changes in coal prices. A payment of $36.0 million related to the extinguishment of certain liabia lities related to
our legacy coal mining business furff ther negatively impacted net cash provided by operating activities in the current year
period. Lower depreciation and deferred income tax expense as compared to the prior year period also favorably impacted
cash provided by operating activities. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements forff further detail on the change in
deferred income tax expense.

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities decreased $36.9 million to $72.3 million in 2024 as compared to $109.2 million
in 2023. The decrease primarily reflects lower ongoing capia tal expenditures, partially driven by the absa ence of capital
spending in connection with oven rebuild projects, as well as the absa ence of the foundrff y err xpansion projeo ct in the current year
period. Refer to Capital Requirements and Expenditures below for furff ther detail.
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Cash Used in Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities decreased $42.7 million to $47.0 million in 2024 as compared to $89.7 million
iin 2023. The decrease in net cash used in financing activities was primarily driven by lower net repayments of $35.0 million
on the Revolving Facility, the absence of repayments on financing obligations of $8.8 million resulting from the early buyout
on a sale leaseback arrangement in the prior year period, and lower cash distributions made to noncontrolling interests of $3.7
million. These decreases were partially offsff et by an increase to dividends paid of $6.9 million as compared to the prior year
period, primarily as a result of an increase in the dividend per share amount.

Dividends

In addition to the $37.6 million in dividends paid to our shareholders during 2024, on January 30, 2025, SunCoke's
Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.12 per share of the Company's common stock. This dividend will be paid
on March 3, 2025, to stockholders of record on Februar ry 17, 2025. See further discussion in “Item 5. Market for Registrant’s
Common Equity, Related Stockholders Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.”

Covenantstt

As of December 31, 2024, we were in compliance with all applicable debt covenants. We do not anticipate a
violation of these covenants nor do we anticipate that any of these covenants will restrict our operations or our ability to
obtain additional financing. See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements for details on debt covenants.

Credit Rating

In February 2024, S&P Global Ratings reaffirmff ed our corporate credit rating of BB- (stabla e). In October 2024,
Moody’s Investors Service reaffirmff ed our corporate credit rating of B1 and changed the rating outlook from positive to
stable.

Contrat ctual Obligati ions

As of December 31, 2024, significant contractuat l obligations related to our metallurgical coal procurement
contracts, which are generally based on annual coke production requirements at fixed coal prices, were $876.6 million and
extend through 2025. As of December 31, 2024, significant contractuat l obligations related to debt were $500 milliillion of
ppriin icipall bborro iwi gngs andd $$109.7 illimillion of rellatedd iinterest, hwhiichh iwillll bbe repaidid hthrough 2029.ugh 2029. See NoN te 11 to our
cons lolidid dated fifinanciiall statements. lWe also hhave contractuat ll blobligigatiions for lleases, iin lcludinguding lla d fnd, offififff ce space, eq iuipment,
raililcars andd lloco imotives. See NNote 13 to our co lnsolididat ded fifinanciiall statements.

Capital Requirements and Expenditures

Our operations are capia tal intensive, requiring significant investment to upgrade or enhance existing operations and
to meet environmental and operational regulations. The level of future capital expenditures will depend on various factors,
including market conditions, regulatory requirements and customer requirements, and may differ from current or anticipated
levels. Material changes in capia tal expenditure levels may impact financial results, including but not limited to the amount of
depreciation, interest expense and repair and maintenance expense.

Our capital requirements have consisted, and are expected to consist, primarily of:ff

• Ongoing capia tal expenditures required to maintain equipment reliabia lity, the integrity and safety of our coke
ovens and steam generators and to comply with environmental regulations. Ongoing capital expenditures are
made to replace partially or fully depreciated assets in order to maintain the existing operating capacity of the
assets and/or to extend their usefulff lives and also include new equipment that improves the effiff ciency, reliability
or effeff ctiveness of existing assets. Ongoing capital expenditures do not include normal repairs and maintenance
expenses, which are expensed as incurred;

• Expansion capital expenditures to acquire and/or construcrr t complementaryrr assets to grow our business and to
expand existing facilities as well as capital expenditures made to enable the renewal of a coke sales agreement
and/or logistics service agreement and on which we expect to earn a reasonable return; and

• Environmental project expenditures to ensure that our existing facilities operate in accordance with changing
regulations.
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The folff lowing tabla e summarizes our capital expenditures:
Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Ongoing capital $ 64.3 $ 94.5
Expansion capital(1) 8.6 14.7
Total capital expenditures(2) $ 72.9 $ 109.2

(1) Capital expenditures forff the year ended December 31, 2023 includes capital spending in connection with the foundryff
cokemaking growth project.

(2) Refleff cts actuat l cash payments durd ing the periods presented for ourff capital requirements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

A summary of our significant accounting policies is included in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements. Our
management believes that the appla ication of these policies on a consistent basis enables us to provide the users of our
financial statements with useful and reliabla e inforff mation about our opea rating results and finff ancial condition. The preparation
of our consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the reported
amounts of assets, liabia lities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabia lities. The Company's
black lung benefit obligations is an item that is subject to such estimates and assumptions. Although our management bases
its estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, actuat l results may diffeff r to some extent froff m the estimates on which our consolidated financial statements
have been prepared at any point in time. Despite these inherent limitations, our management believes the “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and consolidated financial statements and
footnotes provide a meaningfulff and faiff r perspective of our financial condition.

Blacll k Lung Benefie t Lii iabilitii iestt

The Company has obligations to provide certain black lung benefits to legacy coal miners and their dependents
further described in Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements.

We adjud st our liability each year based uponu actuat rial calculations of our expected future payments for these
benefits. Our independent actuarial consultants calculate the present value of the estimated black lung liabia lity annually in the
fourth quarter, unless there are changes in factff s and circumstances that could materially alter the amount of the liabia lity,
based on actuat rial models utilizing our population of legacy coal miners, historical payout patterns of both the Company and
the industry,rr expected claim filinff g patterns, expected claimant success rates, actuat rial mortality rates, medical costs, death
benefits, dependents, discount rates and the current federally mandated payout rates. The estimated liabia lity may be impacted
by future changes in the applicable laws, as interprrr eted by the courts, and changes in filinff g patterns by claimants and their
advisors, the impact of which cannot be estimated.

On Februarr ry 1, 2013, SunCoke obtained commercial insurance for state and federalff black lung claims, in excess of a
deductible, forff employees with a last date of employment after that date. For claims based on employment that ended prior to
Februar ry 1, 2013, SunCoke was reauthorized by the U.S. Department of Labora ’s Division of Coal Mine Workers
Compensation (“DCMWC”) to self-iff nsure its black lung liabilities for $8.4 million. On February 21, 2020, DCMWC made
an initial security determination to increase the amount of SunCoke’s collateral requirement for self-insured claims to
$40.4 million. The Company appealed the security determination to the DCMWC. On August 13, 2024, the Company and
DCMWC agreed that the Company would make a lump sum payment of $36.0 million to satisfy its self-iff nsured federal black
lung liabia lities, with limited exceptions estimated to be approxia mately $1.4 million. In exchange, the DCMWC agreed to
permanently assume responsibility for payment of black lung benefits for claims based on employment that ended prior to
Februar ry 1, 2013, and SunCoke received a certificff ate of exemption that eliminates the Company’s responsibility for futurff e
payments arising froff m claims based on employment that ended prior to February 1, 2013, excluding limited exceptions
estimated to be appra oximately $1.4 million. This agreement resulted in a reduction of $45.5 million of the Company's black
lung liabia lity, and a one-time gain of $9.5 million within selling, general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated
Statements of Income during the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company no longer maintains any collateral to self-
insure its former black lung liabia lities incurred prior to Februar ry 1, 2013. The Company’s commercially insured federff al and
state black lung liabilities are not impacted by this agreement.

Additionally, on January 19, 2023, the Department of Labor proposed a new rule that would require self-iff nsured
operators to post collateral in the amount of 120 percent of the company's total expected lifetff ime black lung liabia lities as
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determined by the DCMWC. This proposed new rulrr e and any futurff e rulr ings would not apply to SunCoke as a result of the
regulatory err xemption detailed above.a

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes discount rates utilized, active claims and total black lung liabia lities:

December 31,

2024 2023

(Dollars in millions)

Discount rate(1) 4.5 % 4.5 %
Active claims 57 311
Total black lung liability, discounted(2) $ 13.7 $ 58.2
Total black lung liability, undiscounted $ 25.3 $ 96.0

(1) The discount rate is determined based on a portfolff io of high-quality corporate bonds with maturities that are
consistent with the estimated duration of our black lung obligations. A decrease of 25 basis points in the discount
rate would have increased black lung expense by $0.4 million in 2024.

(2) The current portion of the black lung liabia lity was $1.0 million and $5.0 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, and was included in accruer d liabia lities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the annual black lung payments and expense (benefit):

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(Dollars in millions)

Payments(1) $ 40.4 $ 5.4 $ 5.0
Expense (benefit)(2) $ (4.1) $ 5.5 $ (0.2)

(1) Payments forff the year ended December 31, 2024 represent $4.4 million of black lung benefit payments made by the
Company and the $36.0 million payment made to the DCMWC related to the regulatory err xemption detailed above.a

(2) The benefit forff the year ended December 31, 2024 includes $5.4 million of accretion expense of the black lung
liabia lity and a $9.5 million gain related to the regulatory err xemption detailed abovea . The $9.5 million gain is included
in selling, general and administrative expense on the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Recent Accounting Standards

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our primaryrr areas of market risk include the following: (1) changes in the price of coal and coke in certain cases, as
detailed below; (2) changes in interest rates; and (3) changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We do not enter into any
market risk sensitive instruments for trading purposrr es.

Price of coal and coke

Although we have not previously done so, we may enter into derivative financial instruments from time to time in
the future to economically manage our exposure related to these market risks.

Coal is the key raw material for our cokemaking business and is the largest component of the cost of our coke.
Under our long-term, take-or-pay coke sales agreements at our Domestic Coke cokemaking facilities, coal costs are a pass-
through component of the coke price, provided that we are able to realize certain targeted coal-to-coke yields. As such, when
targeted coal-to-coke yields are achieved, the price of coal is not a significant determining factor in the profitaff bia lity of coke
sold under our long-term, take-or-pay agreements, which comprise the vast majority of our sales volumes in our Domestic
Coke segment.

Our long-term, take-or-pay agreements require us to meet minimum production levels and generally require us to
provide replacement coke if we do not meet contractuat l minimum volumes. To the extent any of our facilities are unable to
produce their contractuat l minimum volumes, and we are unable to supplyu coke from one of our other facilities, we are subju ect
to market risk related to the procurement of replacement supplu ies.

We are subju ect to market risk for the price of coals used to produce non-contracted blast coke sold into both the
export and North American domestic coke markets. Non-contracted blast coke sales are typically based on coke market
pricing at the time of sale, rather than the pass-through provisions in our long-term, take-or-pay agreements. Generally over
time, market prices for metallurgical coal and coke have been correlated. We monitor the market for our coal purchases
versus pricing in the coke markets to optimize profitaff bia lity in both the export and North American domestic coke markets.
However, we are exposed to market risk to the extent the coal and coke markets fall out of correlation. Additionally, the
timing of contracting our coal purchases versus the timing of contracting our coke sales may cause favorable or unfavff orable
differences between the prices at which we procure our coals and the market rates at which we are able to sell our coke into
both the export and North American domestic coke markets. We are also subju ect to market risk for the price of coal as it
relates to the foundry coke sales. However, our foundry coke prices are largely set at the time we negotiate our coal purchases
and thereforff e we are less exposed to market risk as it relates to the volatility in the price of coal on our foundry coke sales.

Interest rates

We are exposed to changes in interest rates as a result of borrowing activities with variable interest rates and interest
earned on our cash balances. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the daily average outstanding balance on
borrowings with variable interest rates was $$0.2 illmilliion and $14.9 million, respectively. Assuming a 50 basis point change in
secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”), interest expense would have been impacted by zero and $0.1 million in 2024 and
2023, respectively. At December 31, 2024, we had no outstanding borrowings with variable interest rates under the
Revolving Facility.

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $$189.6 illimillion and $140.1 million,
respectively, which accrue interest at various rates. Assuming a 50 basis point change in the rate of interest associated with
our cash and cash equivalents, interest income would have been impacted by $$0.8 illimillion and $0.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Foreigngg currency

Because we operate outside the U.S., we are subju ect to risk resulting from changes in the Brazilian real currency
exchange rates. The currency exchange rates are influenced by a variety of economic factors including local inflation, growth,
interest rates and governmental actions, as well as other factors. Revenues and expenses of our foreign operations are
translated at average exchange rates during the period and balance sheet accounts are translated at period-end exchange rates.
Balance sheet translation adjud stments are excluded from the results of operations and are recorded in equity as a component
of accumulated other compr hehen isive iincome (l(los )s). If hthe curre yncy ex hchangge rates h dhad hchanged by 10 peged by 10 percent, we es itimate
hthe iimpact to our ne it income iin 2024 andd 2023 wo ld h buld have been ap iproximatelymately $$0.2 illimillion andd $$0.4 illimillion, respectiiv lelyy.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
SunCoke Energy, Inc.:

Opinions on the Consolidatdd ed Financial Statements and Internal Controt l Over Financial Repore ting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SunCoke Energy, Inc. and subsu idiaries (the Company) as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, equity, and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the
consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2024, based on criteria establa ished in Internal Contrott l – Integrate ed Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effeff ctive internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2024 based on criteria establa ished in Internal Controt l – Integre ated Frameworkrr (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effeff ctive internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effeff ctiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Publu ic Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effeff ctive internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included perforff ming procedurd es to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedurd es that respond
to those risks. Such procedurd es included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effeff ctiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedurd es as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definitioe n and Limitations of Internal Controt l Over Financial Repore ting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliabia lity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedurd es
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effeff ct on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effeff ctiveness to future periods are subju ect to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurd es may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subju ective,
or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Sufficieff ncyc of audit evidencedd over metallurgical coal inventory

As discussed in Notes 2 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the value of metallurgical coal inventory was $109.3
million as of December 31, 2024. Metallurgical coal is received at the coke plants throughout the year and is the principal
raw material for the Company's cokemaking operations. The Company engages an independent third-party to perform
surveys of the quantity of metallurgical coal inventory usrr ing unmanned aerial system technology.

We identifieff d the assessment of the sufficiency of evidence over the quantity of metallurgical coal inventory as a critical
audit matter. Subju ective auditor judgment was required to assess the quantity of metallurgical coal inventory because of the
nature of the evidence obtained and the need to evaluate the survey results developed by the Company's independent third-
party.

The following are the primary prrr ocedurd es we performed to address this critical audit matter. We applied auditor judgment to
determine the nature and extent of procedurd es to be performed over the quantity of metallurgical coal inventory. We
evaluated the design and tested the operating effeff ctiveness of certain internal controls over the Company's metallurgical coal
inventory prrr ocess, including controls over the quantity of metallurgical coal inventory. We evaluated the qualifications and
experience of the Company's independent third-party who performs the metallurgical coal inventory surveys. We observed
the metallurgical coal inventory surveys performed by the Company's independent third-party at an interim date. We
evaluated the independent third-party's surveys by reconciling the results to the number of piles of metallurgical coal at each
coke plant observed and to the Company's calculations and records. We also compared the individual survey results for each
coke plant to each other and evaluated certain adjud stments and trends. We selected a sample of metallurgical coal receipts
from the interim survey date through year- end and agreed them to third-party supporu t including coal and freight invoices. We
developed an expectation of metallurgical coal quantity used in production from the date of the interim survey through year-
end and compared it to actuat l metallurgical coal used in production. We evaluated the sufficiency of audit evidence obtained
by assessing the results of procedurd es performed, including the appropriateness of the nature and extent of evidence obtained.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015.

Chicago, Illinois
Februar ry 21, 2025
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SunCoke Energy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(Dollars and shares in millions, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Sales and other operating revenue $ 1,935.4 $ 2,063.2 $ 1,972.5
Costs and operating expenses
Cost of products sold and operating expenses 1,603.4 1,724.6 1,604.9
Selling, general and administrative expenses 61.2 70.7 71.4
Depreciation and amortization expense 118.9 142.8 142.5
Total costs and operating expenses 1,783.5 1,938.1 1,818.8
Operating income 151.9 125.1 153.7
Interest expense, net 23.4 27.3 32.0
Income before income tax expense 128.5 97.8 121.7
Income tax expense 25.0 34.3 16.8
Net income 103.5 63.5 104.9
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 7.6 6.0 4.2
Net income attributable to SunCoke Energy, Inc. $ 95.9 $ 57.5 $ 100.7
Earnings attributable to SunCoke Energy, Inc. per common share:

Basic $ 1.13 $ 0.68 $ 1.20
Diluted $ 1.12 $ 0.68 $ 1.19

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic 85.1 84.7 83.8
Diluted 85.3 84.9 84.6

(See Accompanying Notes)
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SunCoke Energy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(Dollars in millions)

Net income $ 103.5 $ 63.5 $ 104.9
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Reclassifications of actuat rial loss amortization and prior service
benefit to earnings (net of related tax benefit of $0.1 million for
all years) 0.2 0.1 0.4

Retirement benefitff plans fundeff d status adjustment (net of related tax
(expense) benefit of $(1.9) million, $0.2 million and
$(0.9) million, respectively) 6.4 (0.4) 3.1

Currency translation adjud stment (1.5) 0.5 0.2
Comprehensive income 108.6 63.7 108.6
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 7.6 6.0 4.2
Comprehensive income attributable to SunCoke Energy, Inc. $ 101.0 $ 57.7 $ 104.4

(See Accompanying Notes)
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SunCoke Energy, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

2024 2023

(Dollars in millions,
except par value amounts)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 189.6 $ 140.1
Receivables, net 96.6 88.3
Inventories 180.8 182.6
Income tax receivabla e — 1.4
Other current assets 7.6 4.4
Total current assets 474.6 416.8
Properties, plants and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation of $1,497.6 and $1,383.6 at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively) 1,143.6 1,191.1
Intangible assets, net 29.2 31.1
Deferred charges and other assets 20.8 21.4
Total assets $ 1,668.2 $ 1,660.4
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $ 153.2 $ 172.1
Accruerr d liabia lities 52.6 51.7
Total current liabia lities 205.8 223.8
Long-term debt 492.3 490.3
Accruarr l for blff ack lung benefits 12.7 53.2
Retirement benefitff liabia lities 7.6 15.8
Deferred income taxes 196.8 190.4
Asset retirement obligations 17.2 14.1
Other deferff red credits and liabia lities 24.8 27.3
Total liabia lities 957.2 1,014.9
Equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value. Authorized 50,000,000 shares; no issued shares at both
December 31, 2024 and 2023 — —

Common stock, $0.01 par value. Authorized 300,000,000 shares; issued 99,756,420 and 99,161,446
shares at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively 1.0 1.0

Treasury sr tock, 15,404,482 shares at both December 31, 2024 and 2023 (184.0) (184.0)
Additional paid-in capia tal 732.8 729.8
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (7.7) (12.8)
Retained earnings 138.1 80.2
Total SunCoke Energy, Inc. stockholders' equity 680.2 614.2
Noncontrolling interests 30.8 31.3
Total equity 711.0 645.5
Total liabia lities and equity $ 1,668.2 $ 1,660.4

(See Accompanying Notes)
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SunCoke Energy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(Dollars in millions)
Cash Flows froff m Operating Activities:
Net income $ 103.5 $ 63.5 $ 104.9
Adjud stments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 118.9 142.8 142.5
Deferred income tax expense 4.5 18.6 2.3
Share-based compensation expense 4.0 5.1 6.7
Gain on extinguishment of legacy coal liabia lities (9.5) — —
Changes in working capital pertaining to operating activities:

Receivables, net (8.9) 16.8 (32.3)
Inventories 1.8 (7.2) (48.2)
Accounts payable (12.9) 19.7 27.4
Accruerr d liabia lities (31.9) (10.2) 8.4
Income taxes 1.4 (1.4) —

Other (2.1) 1.3 (2.8)
Net cash provided by operating activities 168.8 249.0 208.9
Cash Flows froff m Investing Activities:
Capia tal expenditures (72.9) (109.2) (75.5)
Other investing activities 0.6 — 5.3
Net cash used in investing activities (72.3) (109.2) (70.2)
Cash Flows froff m Financing Activities:
Proceeds froff m revolving facility 11.0 291.0 596.0
Repayment of revolving facility (11.0) (326.0) (676.0)
Repayment of finff ancing obligation — (8.8) (3.2)
Dividends paid (37.6) (30.7) (23.6)
Cash distributions to noncontrolling interests (8.1) (11.8) (4.4)
Other finff ancing activities (1.3) (3.4) (1.3)
Net cash used in finff ancing activities (47.0) (89.7) (112.5)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 49.5 50.1 26.2
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 140.1 90.0 63.8
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 189.6 $ 140.1 $ 90.0
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Inforff mation
Interest paid $ 24.4 $ 25.7 $ 28.5
Income taxes paid, net of refunds offf $$0.3 illimillio ,n zero and $0.5 million,
respectively $ 18.0 $ 17.7 $ 14.5

(See Accompanying Notes)
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SunCoke Energy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Equity

mmon Stock Treasury Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Retained
(Deficit)ff
Earnings

Total
SunCoke
Energy,
Inc.
Equity

Non-
controlling
Interests

Total
EquityShares Amount Shares Amount

(Dollars in millions)
At December 31, 2021 98,496,809 $ 1.0 15,404,482 $ (184.0) $ 721.2 $ (16.7) $ (23.4) $ 498.1 $ 37.3 $ 535.4
Net income — — — — — — 100.7 100.7 4.2 104.9
Reclassification of prior

service benefitff and
actuat rial loss
amortization to
earnings (net of
related tax benefit
of $0.1 million) — — — — — 0.4 — 0.4 — 0.4

Retirement benefitff
plans fundeff d status
adjud stment (net of
related tax expense
of $0.9 million) — — — — — 3.1 — 3.1 — 3.1

Currency translation
adjud stment — — — — — 0.2 — 0.2 — 0.2

Share-based
compensation — — — — 8.1 — — 8.1 — 8.1

Share issuances, net of
shares withheld for
taxes 318,971 — — — (1.2) — — (1.2) — (1.2)

Dividends — — — — — — (23.8) (23.8) — (23.8)
Cash distribution to

noncontrolling
interests — — — — — — — — (4.4) (4.4)

At December 31, 2022 98,815,780 $ 1.0 15,404,482 $ (184.0) $ 728.1 $ (13.0) $ 53.5 $ 585.6 $ 37.1 $ 622.7
Net income — — — — — — 57.5 57.5 6.0 63.5
Reclassification of prior

service benefitff and
actuat rial loss
amortization to
earnings (net of
related tax benefit
of $0.1 million) — — — — — 0.1 — 0.1 — 0.1

Retirement benefitff
plans fundeff d status
adjud stment (net of
related tax benefit
of $0.2 million) — — — — — (0.4) — (0.4) — (0.4)

Currency translation
adjud stment — — — — — 0.5 — 0.5 — 0.5

Share-based
compensation — — — — 5.1 — — 5.1 — 5.1

Share issuances, net of
shares withheld for
taxes 345,666 — — — (3.4) — — (3.4) — (3.4)

Dividends — — — — — — (30.8) (30.8) — (30.8)
Cash distribution to

noncontrolling
interests — — — — — — — — (11.8) (11.8)

At December 31, 2023 99,161,446 $ 1.0 15,404,482 $ (184.0) $ 729.8 $ (12.8) $ 80.2 $ 614.2 $ 31.3 $ 645.5

(See Accompanying Notes)
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SunCoke Energy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Equity

Common Stock Treasury Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Retained
Earnings

Total
SunCoke
Energy,
Inc.
Equity

Non-
controlling
Interests

Total
EquityShares Amount Shares Amount

(Dollars in millions)
At December 31, 2023 99,161,446 $ 1.0 15,404,482 $ (184.0) $ 729.8 $ (12.8) $ 80.2 $ 614.2 $ 31.3 $ 645.5
Net income — — — — — — 95.9 95.9 7.6 103.5
Reclassification of prior

service benefitff and
actuat rial loss
amortization to
earnings (net of
related tax benefit
of $0.1 million) — — — — — 0.2 — 0.2 — 0.2

Retirement benefitff
plans fundeff d status
adjud stment (net of
related tax expense
of $1.9 million) — — — — — 6.4 — 6.4 — 6.4

Currency translation
adjud stment — — — — — (1.5) — (1.5) — (1.5)

Share-based
compensation — — — — 4.0 — — 4.0 — 4.0

Share issuances, net of
shares withheld for
taxes 594,974 — — — (1.0) — — (1.0) — (1.0)

Dividends — — — — — (38.0) (38.0) — (38.0)

Cash distribution to
noncontrolling
interests — — — — — — — — (8.1) (8.1)

At December 31, 2024 99,756,420 $ 1.0 15,404,482 $ (184.0) $ 732.8 $ (7.7) $ 138.1 $ 680.2 $ 30.8 $ 711.0

(See Accompanying Notes)
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SunCoke Energy, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. General and Basis of Presentation

Descriptii iott n of Busineii ss

SunCoke Energy, Inc. (“SunCoke Energy,” “SunCoke,” “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us”) is the largest
independent producer of high-quality coke in the Americas, as measured by tons of coke produced each year, and has more
than 60 years of coke production experience. Coke is produced by heating metallurgical coal in a refractory oven, which
releases certain volatile components from the coal, thus transforff ming the coal into coke. Our coke is primarily used as a
principal raw material in the blast furnace steelmaking process as well as in the foundry production of casted iron, and the
majority of our sales are derived from blast furnace coke sales made under long-term, take-or-pay agreements. We also sell
coke produced utilizing capaa city in excess of that reserved for our long-term, take-or-pay agreements to customers in both the
export and North American domestic coke markets seeking high-quality product for their blast furnaces. We have designed,
developed and built, and we currently own and operate five cokemaking facilities in the United States (“U.S.”) with
collective nameplate capaa city to produce approximately 4.2 million tons of blast furnace coke per year. Additionally, we
designed and currently operate one cokemaking facility in Brazil under licensing and operating agreements on behalf of
ArcelorMittal Brasil S.A. (“ArcelorMittal Brazil”), which has approximately 1.7 million tons of annual cokemaking capaa city.

We also own and operate a logistics business that provides export and domestic material handling and/or mixing
services to steel, coke (including some of our domestic cokemaking facilities), electric utility, coal producing and other
manufactff urt ing based customers. Our logistics terminals, which are strategically located to reach Gulf Coast, East Coast,
Great Lakes and international ports, have the collective capacity to mix and/or transload more than 40 million tons of coal
and other aggregates annually and have storage capacity of approximately 3 million tons.

Consolidll atdd iott n and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsu idiaries were prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”) and include the assets, liabia lities, revenues and expenses of
the Company and all subsu idiaries where we have a controlling financial interest. Intercompany transactions and balances have
been eliminated in consolidation. Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest represents a 14.8 percent third-party
interest in our Indiana Harbor cokemaking facility.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimatestt

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affeff ct the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual
amounts could differ from these estimates.

Revenue Recogno itiontt

The Company sells coke as well as steam and electricity and also provides mixing and/or handling services of coal
and other aggregates. The Company also receives fees for operating the cokemaking plant in Brazil and for the licensing of
its proprietary technology for use at this facility as well as reimbursement of subsu tantially all of its operating costs. See Note
18.

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a remaining maturity of three months or less at the time
of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
method, except for the Company’s materials and supplu ies inventory,rr which are determined using the average-cost method.
The Company primarily utilizes the contracted sales prices under its coke sales contracts to record lower of cost or net
realizable value inventory adjud stments. The Company engages an independent third-party to perform surveys of the quantity
of metallurgical coal inventory using unmanned aerial system technology. See Note 5.
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Propertiett s, Planll ts and Equipmii ent

Plants and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated usefulff lives. Coke and energy
plant, machineryrr and equipment are generally depreciated over 20 to 30 years. Logistics plant, machineryrr and equipment are
generally depreciated over 15 to 30 years. Depreciation and amortization is excluded from cost of products sold and operating
expenses and is presented separately on the Consolidated Statements of Income. Gains and losses on the disposal or
retirement of fixed assets are reflected in earnings when the assets are sold or retired. Amounts incurred that extend an asset’s
usefulff life,ff increase its productivity or add production capacity are capitalized. Additionally, the Company generally
capitalizes interest on capital projects with an expected construcr tion period of one year or longer. The Company accounts for
changes in usefulff lives, when appropriate, as a change in estimate, with prospective application only. Direct costs, such as
outside labor,a materials, internal payroll and benefits costs incurred during capital projects are capitalized; indirect costs are
not capitalized. Normal repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. The amounts of accruedr capital expenditures
for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $2.7 million, $8.7 million and $15.6 million, respectively. See
Note 6 and the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are primarily comprised of permits. Intangible assets are amortized over their usefulff lives in a
manner that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefit of the intangible asset is consumed. Intangible assets are
assessed for impairment when a triggering event occurs. See Note 7.

Impaim rmii ent of Long-Lgg ived Assets

Long-lived assets, which includes intangible assets and properties, plants and equipment, are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be
recoverabla e. The Company did not identifyff any triggering events for a review for impairment during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023. A long-lived asset, or group of assets, is considered to be impaired when the undiscounted net
cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, which are largely driven by our contractuat l arrangements, are less than its
carrying amount. Such estimated future cash flows are highly subju ective and are based on numerous assumptions about future
operations and market conditions. The impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair
market value of the impaired asset, or group of assets. It is also difficult to precisely estimate fair market value because
quoted market prices for the Company's long-lived assets may not be readily availabla e. Thereforff e, fair market value is
generally based on the present values of estimated future cash flows using discount rates commensurate with the risks
associated with the assets being reviewed for impairment. See Note 6 and Note 7.

Income Taxeaa s

Income tax expense (benefitff ) is determined by applying the provisions of federal and state tax laws to taxable
income (loss) during the period. The Company does business in a number of states with differing laws concerning how
income subju ect to each state's tax structurt e is measured. These laws, as well as changes in tax legislation, impact what
effeff ctive tax rate is applied to income generated in each state, and the Company makes estimates of how income will be
apportioned among various states based on these factors. Deferred tax asset and liabia lities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those differences are projected to be recovered or settled. The
Company records a valuation allowance against net deferred tax assets if, baff sed upon the availabla e evidence, it is more likely
than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company recognizes uncertain tax positions in its
financial statements when minimum recognition threshold and measurement attributes are met in accordance with current
accounting guidance. See Note 4.

Blackll Lung Benefie tii Liabilitii iestt

The Company has obligations related to coal workers’ pneumoconiosis, or black lung, benefits of certain of the
Company's former coal miners and their dependents. The Company adjud sts the liabia lity each year based upon actuat rial
calculations of the Company's expected future payments for these benefits, including a provision for incurred but not reported
losses. Adjud stments are recognized in the period the adjud stment occurs as a component of selling, general and administrative
expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 12.
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Postretirement Benefie tii Planll Liabilitiesii

The postretirement benefit plans, which are frozen, are unfunded and the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation is fully recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Actuarial gains (losses) and prior service costs (benefits)
which have not yet been recognized in net income are recognized as a credit (charge) to accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss). The credit (charge) to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), which is reflected net of related tax
effeff cts, is subsu equently recognized in net income when amortized as a component of postretirement benefit plans expense
included in interest expense, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 9.

Asset Retirement Obligati iott ns

The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation is recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a
reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying
amount of the asset and depreciated over its remaining estimated usefulff life. Whenff the assumptions used to estimate a
recorded asset retirement obligation change, a revision is recorded to both the asset retirement obligation and the asset
retirement cost capia talized to the extent remaining usefulff lifeff exists. The Company’s asset retirement obligations primarily
relate to costs associated with restoring land to its original state. See Note 8.

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement contains a lease at inception. The Company recognizes right-of-use
assets and lease liabia lities associated with leases based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the
lease term at the commencement date. The Company's leases do not provide an implicit rate of return, thereforff e, the
Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the inception of the lease to calculate the present value of lease payments.
The Company's incremental borrowing rate is determined through market sources for secured borrowings and approximates
the interest rate at which the Company could borrow on a collateralized basis with similar terms and payments in similar
economic environments. Lease terms reflect options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the
option will be exercised. The Company has elected to apply the short-term lease exception for all asset classes, thereforeff ,
excluding all leases with a term of less than 12 months from the balance sheet, and will recognize the lease payments in the
period they are incurred. Additionally, the Company accounts for lease and non-lease components of an arrangement, such as
assets and services, as a single lease component for all asset classes on existing leases. See Note 13.

Shippiii ngii and Handlidd ngii Costs

Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of products sold and operating expenses on the Consolidated
Statements of Income and are generally passed through to the Company's customers. The Company has elected the practical
expedient under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” to account for
shipping and handling activities as a promise to fulfilff l the transferff of coke. See Note 18.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company measures the cost of employee services in exchange for equity instrument awards and cash awards
based on the grant-date fair value of the award. Cash awards and the performance metrics of equity awards are remeasured on
a quarterly basis. The market metrics of equity awards are not remeasured. The total cost is recognized over the requisite
service period. Award forfeiturt es are accounted for as they occur. The costs of equity awards and cash awards are recorded to
additional paid-in capital and accruedr liabia lities, respectively, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 15.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company determines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transferff a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As required, the Company utilizes valuation
techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs (levels 1 and 2) and minimize the use of unobservable inputs (level 3)
within the fair value hierarchy included in current accounting guidance. Assets and liabia lities are classified within the fair
value hierarchy based on the lowest level (least observable) input that is significant to the measurement in its entirety. See
Note 17.

Currencyc Translatll iontt

The functional currency of the Company’s Brazilian operations is the Brazilian real. The Company’s Brazil
operations translate its assets and liabia lities into U.S. dollars at the current exchange rates in effeff ct at the end of the fiscal
period. The gains or losses that result from this process are shown as cumulative translation adjud stments within accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The revenue and expense accounts of foreign
operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rates during the period.
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Recentlytt Adoptdd edtt Accountingii Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU”) 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportabla e Segment Disclosures.” ASU 2023-07
requires disclosure of incremental segment inforff mation on an interim and annual basis. The Company adopted this standard
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024 with a retrospective appla ication to all prior periods presented in the financial
statements. See Note 19 to our consolidated financial statements forff further detail.

Recent Accountintt g ProPP nouncements

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvement to Income Tax
Disclosures.” ASU 2023-09 requires additional disclosures aimed at enhancing the transparency and decision usefulneff ss of
income tax disclosures. This ASU is effeff ctive forff fiscal years beginning afteff r December 15, 2024 on a prospective basis. The
Company does not expect this ASU to have a material impact on the Company's disclosures. The Company plans to adopt the
guidance forff the fisff cal year ending December 31, 2025.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, “Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic
220): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses.” ASU 2024-03 requires additional disclosures aimed at enhancing the
transparency and decision usefulness of income statement expenses. This ASU is effeff ctive forff fiscal years beginning afterff
December 15, 2026 as well as interim periods beginning afteff r December 15, 2027 and requires retrospective appla ication to all
prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the guidance on the
related disclosures. The Company plans to adopt the guidance forff the fisff cal year ending December 31, 2027.

Labor Concentratiott ns

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has 868 employees in the U.S. Approximately 40 percent of the Company's
domestic employees, principally at the Company's cokemaking operations, are represented by the United Steelworkers union
under various contracts. Additionally, appra oximately 3 percent of the Company's domestic employees are represented by the
International Union of Operating Engineers. Labora agreements at Kanawha River Terminal (“KRT”), SunCoke Lake
Terminal (“Lake Terminal”), and Indiana Harborr were renewed in 2022 and will expire on April 30, 2025, June 30, 2025, and
September 1, 2026, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024,the Company has 300 employees at the cokemaking facility in Vitória, Brazil, all of whom
are represented by Sindimetal-ES - Union of Metallurgists under a labora agreement. During 2024, the labor agreement at the
Company's Vitória, Brazil facility was renewed for an additional year, and it expires on October 31, 2025.

3. Customer Concentrations

In 2024, the Company sold approximately 3.5 million tons of coke under long-term, take-or-pay contracts to its two
primary customers in the U.S.: Cleveland-Cliffsff Steel Holding Corporation and Cleveland-Cliffsff Steel LLC, subsidiaries of
Cleveland-Cliffs Inff c. and collectively referred to as “Cliffsff Steel,” and United States Steel Corporation (“U.S. Steel”).

The tables below show sales to the Company's significant customers:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Sales and other
operating
revenue

Percent of
Company sales
and other
operating
revenue

Sales and other
operating
revenue

Percent of
Company sales
and other
operating
revenue

Sales and other
operating
revenue

Percent of
Company sales
and other
operating
revenue

(Dollars in millions)

Cliffsff Steel(1) $ 1,237.0 63.9 % $ 1,349.4 65.4 % $ 1,182.8 60.0 %
U.S. Steel(2) $ 284.6 14.7 % $ 300.8 14.6 % $ 284.8 14.4 %

(1) Represents revenues included in our Domestic Coke segment.

(2) Represents revenues included in our Domestic Coke segment forff the year ended December 31, 2024 and revenues
included in our Domestic Coke and Logistics segments forff the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

The Company generally does not require any collateral with respect to its receivables due under long-term, take-or-
pay contracts. Receivables due from Cliffsff Steel and U.S. Steel were approximately $48.4 million and $8.5 million as of
December 31, 2024, respectively, and $35.7 million and $7.9 million as of December 31, 2023, respectively. These balances
comprised appra oximatelymately 59 perc ne t and 50 percent of the Company's receivables balance as of December 31, 2024 and
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2023, respectively. As a result, the Company experiences concentrations of credit risk in its receivables with these customers,
which may be affeff cted by changes in economic or other conditions affeff cting the steel industry.rr

4. Income Taxes

The components of income beforff e income tax expense are as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(Dollars in millions)

Domestic $ 118.8 $ 88.8 $ 107.1
Foreign 9.7 9.0 14.6
Total $ 128.5 $ 97.8 $ 121.7

Income tax expense consisted of the following:
Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(Dollars in millions)

Current tax expense (benefit):
U.S. federal $ 18.4 $ 7.9 $ 4.3
State (0.7) 4.7 5.4
Foreign 2.8 3.1 4.8

Total current tax expense 20.5 15.7 14.5

Deferred tax expense (benefit):
U.S. federal 5.0 19.7 8.6
State (0.5) (1.1) (6.3)

Total deferred tax expense 4.5 18.6 2.3
Total $ 25.0 $ 34.3 $ 16.8

The reconciliation of income tax expense at the U.S. statutort y rrr ate to income tax expense is as folff lows:
Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(Dollars in millions)

Income tax expense at U.S. statutory rate $ 27.0 21.0 % $ 20.5 21.0 % $ 25.6 21.0 %
Increase (reduction) in income taxes resulting froff m:

Income attributable to noncontrolling interests in
partnerships(1) (1.6) (1.2)% (1.3) (1.3)% (0.9) (0.7)%

State and other income taxes, net of federal
income tax effects(2) 4.4 3.4 % 3.0 3.1 % (0.9) (0.7)%

Foreign income taxes(3) — — % 3.1 3.1 % 4.8 4.0 %
R&D tax credit(4) (0.7) (0.5)% (0.7) (0.7)% (4.0) (3.4)%
Non-deductible equity compensation 1.7 1.3 % 2.8 2.9 % 3.0 2.5 %
Return to provision adjud stments (2.9) (2.3)% (1.8) (1.8)% (0.1) (0.1)%
Change in valuation allowance(3) (3.0) (2.3)% 8.8 9.0 % (11.0) (9.0)%
Other 0.1 0.1 % (0.1) (0.2)% 0.3 0.2 %

Income tax expense at effective tax rate $ 25.0 19.5 % $ 34.3 35.1 % $ 16.8 13.8 %

( )(1) NNo iincome tax expens ie is reflleff ct ded iin hthe C lonsolidid dated Statements of Income fo ir income a ibttribut bablle to
noncontrollilli gng iinterest is in our Indidiana Harbbor r c kokemakingking fa icility.lity.

((2) D) uring 2024, higher appora tioned state tax rates required the revaluation of certain deferred tax liabia lities and
resulted in deferff red tax expense of $1.7 million. The increase in appora tioned state rates was mainly driven by tax
planning conducted by the Company. Lower appora itionedd state tax rates re iquiredd thhe revalluatiion of cer itain ddef dferred
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ta lx liiabibia li ilities a dnd resullt ded iin ddeferredd tax bbenefifits of $$4.9 illimillion reco drd ded dduriingg 2022. hTh de decreas ie in appora itio dned
state tax rate is in 2022 was par ltly dy d irive bn byy th dihe dissol ilution of SunC koke Energygy Partners iFinance Corp.

(3) During 2024, the Company released a valuation allowance establa ished on the deferred tax assets attributable to
existing state net operating losses (“NOLs”) carryforwards, resulting in a deferred tax benefit of $3.5 million. The
release of the aforff ementioned valuation allowance was a result of tax planning conducted by the Company, as the
state NOLs carried forward froff m prior years are now expected to be utilized. The Company also established a
$0.6 million valuation allowance, representing a portion of foreign tax credits projected to be unused before
expiration.

Du iri gng 2023, hthe C yompany establbla iishhedd an $$8.4 illimillion valluatiion allllowance, hwhiichh was a por ition of an $$11.3 illimillion
valluatiion allllowance hthat was r l deleased dduriingg 2 d022 on deferredd tax assets at ibtribut bablle to exi iistingg forff ieiggn tax credidit
car yryforwardds. Thhe rellease of thhe valluatiion allllowance dduriingg 2022 was a resullt of new r geg lulatiio blns publiishhed id in 2022
byby hthe U.S. Treasury (y (rr 2022 Foreigign Tax Cr dediit ((“FTC”) f) fiinfff lal regulgulatiions)) thhat m dade forff ieiggn taxes p iaid id in futureff
yyears to cer itain count iries i, inclludingding Br iazill, no llo gnger crediditablbla ie in thhe U.S. Afteff r tax lplanningning iin 2022, hthe C yompany
expected bd to be ablbla e to u itililize iits e ixistiingg forff ieiggn tax credidits car iri ded forward fd froff m p iri yor years.

Du iri gng 2023, Brazilil enact ded ne lw l gegi lisla ition thhat aliglignedd thhe Br iazill transfer p iri ici gng llaw wi h hith the 2022 OECD
Guidid leliines. As a resullt, thhe Company hy has ddetermiin ded hthat Br iazill taxes paidid or accruer d id in 2024 and fd forff wa drd iwillll
bebecome cr dediitablbla e u dnder thhe 2022 fifinall FTC regulgulatiions. Due hto the changehange i hin the Bra izililian tax llaw, hthe FTCs thhat
are projejeo ct ded to bbe createdd willill cause $$8.4 illimillion of hthe forff ieiggn tax credidit car yryforward fd froff m p iri yor years to n bot be
utiliiliz ded, res lul iti gng iin hthe est bablili hshment of hthe v lalua ition allllowance dduriingg 2023. lAlso d, durd iingg 2023, hthe IRS iissu ded
NNo itice 2023-55 andd 2023-80 hthat ggenerallylly lalllow tax ypayers to ddefer thhe ap lpliicatiion of th fhe of hthe 2022 FTC fiinff lal
regulgulatiions untilil furthhe gr g iduidanc ie i is issu ded. For ieiggn iincome taxes p iaid id in 2023 flrefl dected hthe abbsa ence of hthe
ggenera ition of forff ieiggn tax credidits for taxes paidid iin Brazilil ddue to hthe C yompany’s ellectiion not to ddefer thhe ap lpliicatiion of
hthe 2022 FTC fiinff lal regulgulatiions lalllowedd u dnder thhe notiices.

( )(4) Su knCoke co dnductedd an analyly isis wi hith respect hto the C yompany’s res hearch and dd d levelopment acti i iivities, hwhiichh res lul dted
iin a current ta bx benefiitff of $$0.7 illimillion dduriing bg bothh 2024 andd 2023 andd a ddeferredd tax bbenefifit of $$4.0 imilllliion dduringing
2022.

hThe tax effeff cts of temporary dy drr ififfereff nces hthat comp irise hthe net ddeferred id income tax liliabibia litylity from opera itions are as
follllows:

December 31,
2024 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Deferred tax assets:
Retirement benefit liaff bia lities $ 2.0 $ 4.1
Black lung benefit liabia lities 3. 11 3.2
Share-based compensation 0.2 0.6
Foreign tax credit carryforward(1) 8.9 8.4
State net operating loss carryforward, net of fedff eral income tax effects(2) 10.1 13.2
Other liabia lities not yet deducd tible 14.8 11.4

Total deferred tax assets 39.1 50.9
Less: valuation allowance(3) (15.0) (17.9)
Deferred tax asset, net 24.1 33.0

Deferred tax liabia lities:
Properties, plants and equipment (163.7) (158.3)
Investment in partnerships (57.2) (65.1)

Total deferred tax liabilities (220.9) (223.4)
Net deferred tax liability $ (196.8) $ (190.4)

( )(1) Foreigign tax cr dediit car yryforwardd e ixpire is in 2028 hthrough 203ugh 2035.

( )(2) State net opera iti gng lloss car yryforwardd, net of f dedff leral iincome tax effects e ixpire is in 2033 hthrough 2047.ugh 2047.
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( )(3) Priima irilyly rellatedd to state net opera iting lg loss car yryforwardds andd v lalua ition allllowance a ibttribut bablle to exi iistingg forff ieiggn tax
dcrediit ca yrryforwardds.

hThe C yompany's cons lolididat ded fedderal il income tax return hs hav be been exa imin ded byby hthe IRS for allll yyears thhroughgh hthe
yyear enddedd Decembber 31, 2014. Due to fedderall tax cr dediit ca yrryforwards geneds generated by td by thhe Companyy forff ta yx years e dnded gd goingoing
baba kck to 2015, SunC koke iis currentlyly open to exa imina ition byon by hthe IRS for tax yyears e dndedd Decembber 31, 2015 and fd forff wa drd.

State a dnd foreigig in income tax returns are ggenerallylly subjbju ect to examiinatiion forff a periiod fd of hthree to fifive yyears afteff r thhe
fifililingg of thhe respec itive returnst . Thhe stat ie impact of anyy ame dnded fd f d lederalfff returns r iemains subjbju ect to examiinatiion by vn by variious
states for a pe iri d fod of up to yone year afteff r forff mall notifiificatiion of suchh ame dndments to hthe states.

Uncer itain Tax Paa osPP iitiiott ns

Du iri gng 2024, 2023 andd 2022, hthe c yompany reco drd ded expense r l delated to uncer itain current andd p iri yor year tax posi iitions
of $$0.1 illimillion, $$0.1 illimillion dand $$0.3 illimillion, respectiiv lelyy. At Decembber 31, 2024, 2023 andd 2022, hth be b lalances of
unrecognigni dzed ta bx benefiitff s at were $$0.5 illimillion, $$0.4 illimillion dand $$0.3 illimillion, respectiiv lelyy, hthat i, if recognigni dzed, willill redduce thhe
effeff ctiive tax rate on iincome from contiinuing opeuing opera itions.

hThere were no asso ici dated iinterest or penal ilties recognignized fd forff hth ye years enddedd Decembber 31, 2024, 2023 or 2022. hThe
Companyy expects thhat nomiin lal unrecognigni dzed ta bx benefiitsff pert iai ini gng ito income tax matters iwillll bbe re iquired id in thhe next tw lelve
mo hnths.

5. Inventories

hThe C yompany’ is inventoryy crr onsiists of llmetallurgiurgicall coall, hwhiich ih is thhe priin icipall raw mate iri lal for thhe Companyy’s
cokkemaking opeking opera itions, c koke, whihi hch i his the fi iinisff hhed gd g dood soldld byby hthe C yompany ito its customers, andd materi lials, s luppliies a dnd
hother. hThese components of if i ynventory, net of lf lower of cost or net r lealiiz bablle vallue adjusdjustments of zero dand $$2.0 illimillion at
Decembber 31, 2024 andd 2023, respectiiv lelyy, were as follllows:

December 31,
2024 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Coal $ 109.3 $ 107.7
Coke 13.9 17.4
Materials, supplu ies and other 57.6 57.5
Total inventories $ 180.8 $ 182.6

6. Properties, Plants, and Equipment

Thhe components of net propertiies, lplants andd e iquipment were as f lolff llows:
December 31,

2024 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Coke and energy plant, machinery arr nd equipment $ 2,251.0 $ 2,193.9
Logistics plant, machinery and equipment 185.4 181.2
Land and land improvements 112.6 110.0
Construcr tion-in-progress 42.9 43.3
Other 49.3 46.3
Gross investment, at cost 2,641.2 2,574.7

Less: accumulated depreciation (1,497.6) (1,383.6)
Total properties, plants and equipment, net $ 1,143.6 $ 1,191.1

7. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets, net, include goodwill allocated to our Domestic Coke segment of $3.4 million at both
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and other intangibles detailed in the tabla e below, excluding fully amortized intangible assets.
There were no changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
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respectively.

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Weighted -
Average
Remaining
Amortization

Years

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

(Dollars in millions)

Customer relationships 0 $ 6.7 $ 6.7 $ — $ 6.7 $ 6.2 $ 0.5
Permits 18 31.7 7.3 24.4 31.7 5.9 25.8
Other 26 1.6 0.2 1.4 1.6 0.2 1.4
Total $ 40.0 $ 14.2 $ 25.8 $ 40.0 $ 12.3 $ 27.7

The permits above represent the environmental and operational permits required to operate a coal export terminal in
accordance with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) and other regulatory brr odies. Intangible assets are
amortized over their usefulff lives in a manner that refleff cts the pattern in which the economic benefit of the asset is consumed.
The permits’ useful lives were estimated to be 27 ye27 ars at acquisition based on the expected usefulff life off f the significant
operating equipment at the facility. We have historical experience of renewing and extending similar arrangements at our
other faciff lities and intend to continue to renew our permits as they come up for renewal for the foreseeable future. The
permits were renewed regularly prior to our acquisition of CMT. These permits have an average remaining renewal term of
approximatelyly 4.4 yey ars.

Total amortization expense forff intangible assets subju ect to amortization was $1.9 million, $2.1 million and $2.0
million forff the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Based on the carrying value of finite-lived
intangible assets as of December 31, 2024, we estimate amortization expense forff each of the next fivff e years and the aggregate
amount thereafteff r as folff lows:

(Dollars in millions)

2025 $ 1.5
2026 1.5
2027 1.4
2028 1.4
2029 1.4
2030-Thereafteff r 18.6
Total $ 25.8

8. Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company has asset retirement obligations, primarily in the Domestic Coke segment, related to certain
contractuat l obligations. These contractuat l obligations mostly relate to costs associated with restoring land to its original state,
and may require the retirement and removal of long-lived assets from certain cokemaking properties as well as other
reclamation obligations related to our former coal mining business. The Federal Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act
of 1977 and similar state statutt es require that mine property be restored in accordance with specified standards and an
approved reclamation plan. We do not have any unrecorded asset retirement obligations.

The folff lowing tabla e provides a reconciliation of changes in the asset retirement obligation froff m operations during
each period:

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Asset retirement obligation at beginning of year $ 14.1 $ 13.8
Liabilities settled — (0.7)
Accretion expense(1) 1.0 1.0
Revisions in estimated cash floff ws(2) 2.2 —

Asset retirement obligation at end of year(3) $ 17.3 $ 14.1
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(1) Included in cost of products sold and operating expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

(2) Revisions of estimated cash floff ws in 2024 were primarily dued to the timing of projeo cted spending on certain
obligations.

(3) The current portion of the asset retirement obligation liabia lity was $0.1 million at December 31, 2024 and is
classified in accruer d liabia lities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. There was no current portion of the asset
retirement obligation liabia lity at December 31, 2023.

9. Retirement Benefits Plans

Postretirement HeaHH lth Care and Life Iff nsurII ance Plansll

The Company has plans which provide health care and life insurance benefitsff for many of its retirees
(“postretirement benefitff plans”). The postretirement benefitff plans are unfunded and the costs are borne by the Company.
Effeff ctive January 1, 2011, postretirement medical benefits for futff urt e retirees were phased out or eliminated for non-mining
employees with less than ten years of service.

Postretirement benefitff plans expense consisted of the following components:
Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
(Dollars in millions)

Interest cost on benefit obligations $ 0.8 $ 0.9 $ 0.6
Amortization of:

Actuarial losses 0.4 0.4 0.7
Prior service benefit (0.1) (0.2) (0.2)

Total expense $ 1.1 $ 1.1 $ 1.1

Postretirement benefitff plans expense is determined using actuat rial assumptions as of the beginning of the year or
using weighted-average assumptions when curtailments, settlements and/or other events require a plan remeasurement. The
following assumptions were used to determine postretirement benefitff plans expense:

December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Discount rate 4.95 5% .25 % 2.50 %

The folff lowing amounts were recognized as components of other comprehensive income (loss) before related tax
impacts:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(Dollars in millions)

Reclassifications to earnings of:
Actuarial loss amortization $ 0.4 $ 0.4 $ 0.7
Prior service benefit amortization (0.1) (0.2) (0.2)

Retirement benefitff plan funded status
adjud stments:
Actuarial gain (loss)(1) 8.3 (0.6) 4.0

$ 8.6 $ (0.4) $ 4.5

(1) The actuat rial gain for the year ended December 31, 2024 was primarily due to the remeasurement of the retirement
benefit plan obligation associated with a plan amendment durd ing the current year period.
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The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th the components of the changes in benefitff obligations:
Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 18.1 $ 18.8
Interest cost 0.8 0.9
Actuarial (gain) loss (8.3) 0.6
Benefits paid (2.0) (2.2)
Benefit obligation at end of year(1) $ 8.6 $ 18.1

(1) The current portion of retirement benefit liabia lities, which totaled $1.0 million and $2.3 million at December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively, is classified in accrued liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th the cumulative amounts not yet recognized in net income:
Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Cumulative amounts not yet recognized in net income:
Actuarial losses $ 4.0 $ 5.4
Prior service benefits(1) (7.8) (0.7)

Accumulated other comprehensive (income) loss (before related tax benefit) $ (3.8) $ 4.7

(1) The increase in prior service benefits not yet recognized in net income in 2024 reflects the impact of the
remeasurement of the retirement benefit plan obligation associated with a plan amendment durd ing the current year
period.

The expected benefit payments through 2034 for the postretirement benefitff plan are as folff lows:

(Dollars in millions)

2025 $ 1.1
2026 1.0
2027 0.9
2028 0.9
2029 0.8
2030 through 2034 $ 3.4

The measurement date forff the Company’s postretirement benefitff plans is December 31. The folff lowing discount rates
were used to determine the benefit obligation:

December 31,
2024 2023

Discount rate 5.40 4% .95 %

Th hhe he lal hth care cost tre dnd assu imption us ded at to compute thhe accu lmulatedd postretiiremen bt benefiitff blobligigatiion forff hthe
ppostretiiremen bt benefiitff lplans was 6.50 percent dand 6.75 percent at Dece bmber 31, 2024 and 2d 023, respectiiv lelyy, hwhiichh are b hboth
assumed dd to d lecliin ge gradduallllyy to 5.00 percent iin 2031 andd to r iemain at thha lt l level hthereaft rer.

Defie neii d ConCC tributiott n PlaPP ns

The Company has definff ed contribution plans which provide retirement benefits for certain of its employees. The
Company’s contributions, which are charged against income as incurred, amounted to $8.5 million, $7.9 million and $7.9
million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.
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10. Accrued Liabilities

Accruer d liabia lities consist of folff lowing:
December 31,

2024 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Accruer d benefitsff $ 28.7 $ 26.8
Current portion of postretirement benefitff obligation 1.0 2.3
Other taxes payable 10.2 10.4
Current portion of black lung liability 1.0 5.0
Lease liabia lities 2.7 2.5
Other 9.0 4.7
Total accruerr d liabia lities $ 52.6 $ 51.7

11. Debt and Financing Obligations

Total debt and financing obligations consisted of the following:
December 31,

2024 2023
(Dollars in millions)

4.875 percent senior notes, due 2029d (“2029 Senior Notes”) $ 500.0 $ 500.0
$350.0 revolving credit facility, due 2026 (“Revolving Facility”) — —

Total borrowings $ 500.0 $ 500.0
Debt issuance costs (7.7) (9.7)

Total long-term debt $ 492.3 $ 490.3

2029 Senior Notes

The 2029 Senior Notes are the senior secured obligations of the Company. Interest on the 2029 Senior Notes is
payable semi-annually in cash in arrears on June 30 and December 30 of each year. The Company may redeem some or all of
the 2029 Senior Notes at its option, in whole or part, at the dates and amounts set forth in the applicable indenture.

The appla icable indenture forff the 2029 Senior Notes contains covenants that, among other things, limit the
Company's abia lity and, in certain circumstances, the ability of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries to borrow money, create
liens on assets, pay dividends or make other distributions on or repurchase or redeem the Company's capital stock, prepay,
redeem or repurchase certain debt, make loans and investments, sell assets, incur liens, enter into transactions with affiff liates,
enter into agreements restricting the ability of subsu idiaries to pay dividends and consolidate, merge or sell all or subsu tantially
all of the Company's assets.

Revolving FacFF ility

The proceeds of any borrowings made under the Revolving Facility can be used to finance working capital needs,
acquisitions, capital expenditures and for other general corpor rate purposes. The obligations under the credit agreement are
guaranteed by certain of the Company’s subsidiaries and secured by liens on subsu tantially all of the Company’s and the
guarantors’ assets pursuant to a guarantee and collateral agreement.

As of December 31, 2024, the Revolving Facility had no outstanding balance leaving $350.0 million availabla e.
Additionally, the Company has certain letters of credit totaling $13.6 million, which do not reduce the Revolving Facility's
availabla e balance. Commitment fees arff e based on the unused portion of the Revolving Facility at a rate of 0.175 percent.

Borrowings under the Revolving Facility bear interest, at SunCoke's option, at a variabla e rate per annum equal to
either (i) an adjusted term secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”) rate (defined as SOFR forff a specified term plus a credit
spread adjud stment of 10 basis points, subju ect to a zero percent floor) plus 1.50 percent or (ii) an alternate base rate plus 0.50
percent. The appla icable margin is subju ect to change based on SunCoke's consolidated leverage ratio, as definff ed in the credit
agreement. The weighted-average interest rate for borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Facility was 6.9 percent
during 2024.
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Covenants

Under the terms of the Revolving Facility, the Company is subject to a maximum consolidated leverage ratio of
4.50:1.00 and a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of 2.50:1.00. The Company's debt agreements contain other
covenants and events of default that are customary frr orff similar agreements and may limit our ability to take various actions
including our ability to pay a dividend or repurchase our stock.

If we fail to perform our obligations under these and other covenants, the lenders' credit commitment could be
terminated and any outstanding borrowings, together with accruerr d interest, under the Revolving Facility could be declared
immediately dued and payable. The Company has a cross default provision that applies to our indebtedness having a principal
amount in excess of $35 million.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants. We do not anticipate violation
of these covenants nor do we anticipate that any of these covenants will restrict our operations or our ability to obtain
additional finff ancing.

Maturitiesii

As of December 31, 2024, the combined aggregate amount of maturities forff long-term borrowings for each of the
next five years and thereafter is as follows:

(Dollars in millions)

2025 $ —
2026 —
2027 —
2028 —
2029 500.0
2030-Thereafteff r —
Total $ 500.0

12. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Legale Matters

Between 2005 and 2012, the EPA and the Ohio Environmental Protection Agency (“OEPA”) issued Notices of
Violations (“NOVs”), alleging violations of air emission operating permits for our Haverhill and Granite City cokemaking
facilities. We worked in a cooperative manner with the EPA, the OEPA and the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency to
address the allegations and, in November 2014, entered into a consent decree with these parties in federalff district court in the
Southern District of Illinois. The consent decree included a civil penalty paid in December 2014, and a commitment to
undertake capital projeo cts to improve reliabia lity and enhance environmental performance. Although all projeo cts regarding the
consent decree have been completed, the consent decree remains in effect and is being overseen for compliance.

Between 2010 and 2016, SunCoke Energy also received certain NOVs, Findings of Violations (“FOVs”), and
information requests froff m the EPA, alleging violations of air operating permit conditions related to our Indiana Harborr
cokemaking facility. To reach a settlement of these NOVs and FOVs, a consent decree with the EPA and the Indiana
Department of Environmental Management was entered by the federal district court in the Northern District of Indiana durd ing
the fourff th quarter of 2018. Afteff r Indiana Harborr completed all consent decree requirements, the federalff district court
terminated the consent decree in January 2023.

The Company is a party to certain pending and threatened claims, including matters related to commercial disputes,
employment claims, personal injury crr laims, common law tort claims, and environmental claims. Although the ultimate
outcome of these claims cannot be ascertained at this time, it is reasonably possible that some portion of these claims could
be resolved unfavff orably to the Company. Management of the Company believes that any liabia lity which may arise fromff these
claims would likely not have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial statements. SunCoke's threshold forff
disclosing material environmental legal proceedings involving a government authority where potential monetary sanctions
are involved is $1 million.

Blacll k Lung Benefie t Lii iabilitii iestt

The Company has obligations to provide certain black lung benefits to legacy coal miners and their dependents
under Title IV of the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969, as amended (“Black Lung Benefits Act”), as well as
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for black lung benefits in the states of Virginia, Kentucky and West Virginia pursuant to state workers’ compensation
legislation.

We adjud st our liability each year based uponu actuarial calculations of our expected future payments for these
benefits. Our independent actuarial consultants calculate the present value of the estimated black lung liabia lity annually in the
fourth quarter, unless there are changes in factff s and circumstances that could materially alter the amount of the liabia lity,
based on actuat rial models utilizing our population of legacy coal miners, historical payout patterns of both the Company and
the industry,rr expected claim filinff g patterns, expected claimant success rates, actuat rial mortality rates, medical costs, death
benefits, dependents, discount rates and the current federally mandated payout rates. The estimated liabia lity may be impacted
by future changes in the applicable laws, as interprrr eted by the courts, and changes in filinff g patterns by claimants and their
advisors, the impact of which cannot be estimated.

On Februarr ry 1, 2013, SunCoke obtained commercial insurance for state and federalff black lung claims, in excess of a
deductible, forff employees with a last date of employment after that date. For claims based on employment that ended prior to
Februar ry 1, 2013, SunCoke was reauthorized by the U.S. Department of Labora ’s Division of Coal Mine Workers
Compensation (“DCMWC”) to self-iff nsure its black lung liabilities for $8.4 million. On February 21, 2020, DCMWC made
an initial security determination to increase the amount of SunCoke’s collateral requirement for self-insured claims to
$40.4 million. The Company appealed the security determination to the DCMWC. On August 13, 2024, the Company and
DCMWC agreed that the Company would make a lump sum payment of $36.0 million to satisfy its self-iff nsured federal black
lung liabia lities, with limited exceptions estimated to be approxia mately $1.4 million. In exchange, the DCMWC agreed to
permanently assume responsibility for payment of black lung benefits for claims based on employment that ended prior to
Februar ry 1, 2013, and SunCoke received a certificff ate of exemption that eliminates the Company’s responsibility for futurff e
payments arising froff m claims based on employment that ended prior to February 1, 2013, excluding limited exceptions
estimated to be appra oximately $1.4 million. This agreement resulted in a reduction of $45.5 million of the Company's black
lung liabia lity, and a one-time gain of $9.5 million within selling, general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated
Statements of Income during the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company no longer maintains any collateral to self-
insure its former black lung liabia lities incurred prior to Februar ry 1, 2013. The Company’s commercially insured federff al and
state black lung liabilities are not impacted by this agreement.

Additionally, on January 19, 2023, the Department of Labor proposed a new rule that would require self-iff nsured
operators to post collateral in the amount of 120 percent of the company's total expected lifetff ime black lung liabia lities as
determined by the DCMWC. This proposed new rulrr e and any futurff e rulr ings would not apply to SunCoke as a result of the
regulatory err xemption detailed above.a

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes discount rates utilized, active claims and total black lung liabia lities:

December 31,

2024 2023

(Dollars in millions)

Discount rate(1) 4.5 % 4.5 %
Active claims 57 311
Total black lung liability, discounted(2) $ 13.7 $ 58.2
Total black lung liability, undiscounted $ 25.3 $ 96.0

(1) The discount rate is determined based on a portfolff io of high-quality corporate bonds with maturities that are
consistent with the estimated duration of our black lung obligations. A decrease of 25 basis points in the discount
rate would have increased black lung expense by $$0.4 illimillion in 2024.

(2) The current portion of the black lung liabia lity was $$1.0 illimillion dand $$5.0 illimillion at Dece bmber 31, 2024 dand 2023,
respectiiv lelyy, andd was iin lcl duded id in accruer d ld liiabibia lili ities on hthe C lonsolidid dated Ballance Shheets.
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Expected payments for each of the fivff e succeeding years and the aggregate amount thereafteff r as of December 31,
2024:

(Dollars in millions)

2025 $ 1.0
2026 0.9
2027 1.5
2028 1.1
2029 0.9
2030-Thereafteff r 19.9
Total $ 25.3

The folff lowing tabla e reconciles the expected aggregate undiscounted amount to amounts recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets:

December 31,

2024 2023

(Dollars in millions)

Black lung liabia lity, undiscounted $ 25.3 $ 96.0
Impact of discounting (11.6) (37.8)
Black lung liabia lity, discounted $ 13.7 $ 58.2

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the annual black lung payments and expense (benefit):

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(Dollars in millions)

Payments(1) $ 40.4 $ 5.4 $ 5.0
(Benefit)ff expense(2) $ (4.1) $ 5.5 $ (0.2)

(1) Payments forff the year ended December 31, 2024 represent $4.4 million of black lung benefit payments made by the
Company and the $36.0 million payment made to the DCMWC related to the regulatory err xemption detailed above.a

(2) The benefit forff the year ended December 31, 2024 includes $5.4 million of accretion expense of the black lung
liabia lity and a $9.5 million gain related to the regulatory err xemption detailed abovea . The $9.5 million gain is included
in selling, general and administrative expense on the Consolidated Statement of Income.

13. Leases

The Company's operating leases consist primarily of leases for land, offiff ce space, equipment, railcars and
locomotives. Certain of our long-term leases include one or more options to renew or to terminate, with renewal terms that
can extend the lease term from one month to 50 years. The Company's finff ance leases are immaterial to our consolidated
financial statements.
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The components of lease expense were as folff lows:
Years ended December 31,

2024 2023

(Dollars in millions)

Operating leases:
Cost of products sold and operating expenses $ 2.4 $ 2.3
Selling, general and administrative expenses 0.5 0.5

$ 2.9 $ 2.8
Short-term leases:
Cost of products sold and operating expenses(1)(2) 5.5 4.0

Total lease expense $ 8.4 $ 6.8

(1) Includes expenses for month-to-month equipment leases, which are classified as short-term as the Company is not
reasonably certain to renew the lease term beyond one month.

(2) Includes variabla e lease expenses, which are immaterial to the consolidated financial statements.

Supplu emental balance sheet information related to leases was as folff lows:

Years ended December 31,

Financial Statement Classification 2024 2023

(Dollars in millions)

Operating ROU assets Deferred charges and other assets $ 11.5 $ 11.6

Operating lease liabia lities:
Current operating lease liabia lities Accruer d liabia lities $ 2.4 $ 2.3
Noncurrent operating lease liabia lities Other deferred credits and liabia lities 8.5 8.6

Total operating lease liabia lities $ 10.9 $ 10.9

The weighted average remaining lease term and weighted average discount rate were as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023

Weighted average remaining lease term of operating leases 8.4 years 7.1 years
Weighted average discount rate of operating leases 5.0 % 4.7 %

Supplu emental cash flow information related to leases was as folff lows:
Years ended December 31,

2024 2023

(Dollars in millions)

Operating cash floff w inforff mation:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabia lities $ 2.6 $ 2.5

Non-cash activity:
ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 2.3 $ 2.6
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Maturities of operating lease liabia lities as of December 31, 2024 are as folff lows:

(Dollars in millions)

2025 $ 2.8
2026 2.0
2027 1.6
2028 1.6
2029 1.4
2030-Thereafteff r 4.2
Total lease payments 13.6
Less: imputed interest 2.7
Total lease liabia lities $ 10.9

14. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The folff lowing tabla es set forff th the changes in the balance of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of
tax, by component:

Benefit Plans

Currency
Translation
Adjud stments Total

(Dollars in millions)

At December 31, 2022 $ (3.4) $ (9.6) $ (13.0)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications / adjustments 0.1 0.5 0.6
Retirement benefitff plans fundeff d status adjustment (0.4) — (0.4)

Net current period change in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (0.3) 0.5 0.2
At December 31, 2023 $ (3.7) $ (9.1) $ (12.8)

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications / adjustments 0.2 (1.5) (1.3)
Retirement benefitff plans fundeff d status adjustment 6.4 — 6.4

Net current period change in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 6.6 (1.5) 5.1
At December 31, 2024 $ 2.9 $ (10.6) $ (7.7)

The Company recorded tax expense of $0.9 illimillion andd a tax bx benefitff of $1.0 illimillion associated with the Company's
benefit plans as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respec itivelyely.

The decrease in net income dued to reclassification adjustments from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
were as follows(1):

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

(Dollars in millions)

Amortization of benefitff plans to net income:(2)

Actuarial loss $ (0.4) $ (0.4) $ (0.7)
Prior service benefit 0.1 0.2 0.2

Total beforff e taxes (0.3) (0.2) (0.5)
Income tax 0.1 0.1 0.1

Total, net of tax $ (0.2) $ (0.1) $ (0.4)

(1) Amounts in parentheses indicate a decrease to net income.

(2) These accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) components are included in the computation of
postretirement benefitff plan expense and included in interest expense, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income.
See Note 9.
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15. Share-Based Compensation

Equityii Clasll sifii ed Awards.

On May 12, 2022, the Company adopted the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
“Omnibus Plan”). The Omnibus Plan provides forff the grant of equity-based awards including stock options and share units,
or restricted stock, to the Company’s Board of Directors and certain employees selected for participation in the plan. The
total number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the Omnibus Plan consists of (i) 2,700,000 new
shares, (ii) 2,434,445 shares of common stock reserved for issuance primarily under the previous SunCoke Energy, Inc.
Long-Term Performance Enhancement Plan (“SunCoke LTPEP”), which all equity based awards were issued under prior to
the effective date of May 12, 2022, and (iii) any shares of common stock subju ect to awards granted under the SunCoke
LTPEP that were outstanding on the effective date and that, on or after such date, are not issued or delivered to a participant.
As of the effective date, new awards will no longer be granted under the SunCoke LTPEP. Awards previously granted under
the SunCoke LTPEP, and described in furff ther detail below, were not modified or impacted by the adoption of the Omnibus
Plan.

Stock OptO ions

Stock options granted by the Company vest in three equal annual installments beginning one year from the date of
grant, and expire ten years from the date of grant. The Company calculates the value of each employee stock option,
estimated on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. There were no stock options granted by the
Company durd ing the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes information with respect to common stock option awards outstanding as of
December 31, 2024 and stock option activity during the fiscal year then ended:

Number of
Options

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(Dollars in
millions)

Outstanding and Exercisable December 31, 2023 1,199,656 $ 14.89 2.3 $ 0.5
Exercised (283,642) $ 10.01
Expired (323,228) $ 20.00
Outstanding and Exercisable December 31, 2024 592,786 $ 14.45 1.1 $ 0.2

Intrinsic value for stock options is defined as the difference between the current market value of our common stock
and the exercise price of the stock options. Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised in 2024, 2023 and 2022 was
$0.5 million, $0.1 million, and $0.2 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock UniUU ts Settled in Shares

The Company issues restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to be settled in shares of the Company's common stock to
certain employees and members of the Board of Directors. The Company granted the following RSUs during the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Number of
RSUs

Weighted
Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value per

Unit
Grant Date
Fair Value
(Dollars in
millions)

2024 grants 268,565 $ 10.86 $ 2.9
2023 grants 352,646 $ 8.97 $ 3.2
2022 grants 346,600 $ 7.62 $ 2.6

The RSUs granted to employees vest and become payable in three annual installments beginning one year from the
date of grant. RSUs granted to the Company's Board of Directors vest upon gru ant, but are issued upon termination of board
service.
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The folff lowing tabla e summarizes information with respect to RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and RSU
activity during the fiscal year then ended:

Number of
RSUs

Weighted
Average Grant-

Date Fair Value per Unit

Nonvested at December 31, 2023 715,270 $ 8.12
Granted 268,565 $ 10.86
Vested (320,662) $ 7.78
Nonvested at December 31, 2024 663,173 $ 9.40

Total grant date fair value of RSUs vested was $2.5 million, $2.1 million and $1.7 million durd ing 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively.

Perforff mance SharSS e UniUU ts

The Company grants performance share units (“PSUs”), which represent the right to receive shares of the
Company's common stock, contingent upon the attainment of Company performance and market goals and continued
employment.

The Company granted the following PSUs durd ing the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Number of
PSUs

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair

Value per Unit
Grant Date
Fair Value
(Dollars in
millions)

2024 grant(1) 162,510 $ 10.96 $ 1.8
2023 grant(1) 147,232 $ 9.84 $ 1.4
2022 grant(1) 154,860 $ 8.40 $ 1.3

(1) The service period forff the 2024, 2023, and 2022 PSUs ends on December 31, 2026, 2025 and 2024, and the awards
will vest during the first quarter of 2027, 2026 and 2025, respectively. The service period for certain retiree eligible
participants is accelerated.

The PSU grants were split 50/50 between the Company's three-year cumulative Adjusted EBITDA performance
measure and the Company's three-year average pre-tax return on capital (“ROIC”) performance measure forff its coke and
logistics businesses and unallocated corporr ate expenses. The number of PSUs ultimately awarded will be determined by the
Adjud sted EBITDA and ROIC performance versus targets and the Company's three-year total shareholder returt n (“TSR”) as
compared to the TSR of the companies making up the NASDAQ U.S. Benchmark Iron & Steel Index (“TSR Modifier”). The
TSR Modifier can impact the payout (between 80 percent and 120 percent of the 2024, 2023 and 2022 awards) of the
Company's finff al performance measure results. The 2024, 2023 and 2022 awards may vest between 25 percent and 200
percent of the original units granted. The faiff r value of the PSUs granted is based on the closing price of our common stock on
the date of grant as well as a Monte Carlo simulation for the valuation of the TSR Modifier.

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes information with respect to unearned PSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2024
and PSU activity durd ing the fiscal year then ended:

Number of
PSUs

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

per Unit

Nonvested at December 31, 2023 452,825 $ 7.50
Granted 162,510 $ 10.96
Performance adjud stments 175,847 $ 11.51
Vested (326,580) $ 11.51
Nonvested at December 31, 2024 464,602 $ 9.94
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Liabilityii Clasll sifii ed Awards

Restricted Stock UniUU ts Settled in Cash

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company issued 165,384, 216,547 and 250,615
restricted stock units to be settled in cash (“Cash RSUs”), respectively, which vest in three annual installments beginning one
year from the grant date. The weighted average grant date fair value of the Cash RSUs granted durd ing the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, was $10.96, $9.24 and $7.56, respectively, and was based on the closing price of our
common stock on the day of grant. The Cash RSU liability at December 31, 2024 was adjusted based on the closing price of
our common stock on December 31, 2024 of $10.70 per share. The Cash RSU liabia lity was $2.6 million and $2.8 million at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Cash Incentive Award

As of May 12, 2022, The Company grants performance-based, cash settled awards to eligible participants under the
Omnibus Plan. All awards vest immediately uponu a change in control and a qualifyingff termination of employment as definff ed
by the Omnibus Plan. The cash incentive award liability is included in accruer d liabia lities and other deferred credits and
liabia lities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of the effective date, new awards will no longer be granted under the
SunCoke Energy, Inc. Long-Term Cash Incentive Plan (“SunCoke LTCIP”). The awards previously granted under the
SunCoke LTCIP were not modified or impacted by the adoption of the Omnibus Plan.

The Company issued a grant date fair value award of $2.6 million, $2.2 million and $2.0 million durd ing the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for whihi hch hthe ser ivice pe iri dods endd on Decembber 31, 2026, 2025 dand
2024, respectiiv lelyy, andd thhe awardds iwillll vest ds durd iingg thhe fifirst quarter of 2027, 2026 andd 2025, respectiiv lelyy. hThe ser ivice pe iri dod
for cer itain re itir lee eligibigiblle partiiciipan its is laccelerat ded. Thhe 2024, 2023 andd 2022 awardds are s lpliit 50//5 b0 between hthe Adjusdjus dted
EBITDA andd ROIC met irics, consiistent iwi h hth the PSU awardds b, but iis not iimp dacted byby hthe TSR modidififier. S bee above fo dr det iaills.

hThe cash ih incen itive award ld liiabibia lilityy at Decembber 31, 2024 was adjusdjusted bd bas ded on hthe C yompany's hthree-yye rar
cumulative Adjusted EBITDA and the Company's three-year adjusted average pre-tax returt n on capital forff its coke and
logistics businesses and unallocated corporr ate expenses. The cash incentive award liabia lity was $6.8 million and $8.1 million
at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Summary of Share-Based Compensation ExpeEE nse

Below is a summary of the compensation expense, unrecognized compensation costs, the period for which the
unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over forff each award:

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022 2024 2023 2022 December 31, 2024

Compensation Expense(1) Net of tax

Unrecognized
Compensation

Cost

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Recognition
Period

(Dollars in millions)
(Dollars in
millions) (Years)

Equity Awards:
RSUs $ 2.5 $ 2.9 $ 2.5 $ 1.9 $ 2.3 $ 1.9 $ 1.1 2.0
PSUs 1.4 1.9 3.9 1.1 1.4 3.0 $ 0.8 1.8
Total equity awards $ 3.9 $ 4.8 $ 6.4 $ 3.0 $ 3.7 $ 4.9
Liability Awards:
Cash RSUs $ 1.9 $ 2.6 $ 2.1 $ 1.4 $ 2.0 $ 1.6 $ 1.3 1.7
Cash incentive award 2.1 2.7 5.1 1.6 2.0 3.9 $ 1.4 1.7
Total liabia lity awards $ 4.0 $ 5.3 $ 7.2 $ 3.0 $ 4.0 $ 5.5

(1) Compensation expense is recognized by the Company in selling, general and administrative expenses on the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

The Company issued $0.1 million, $0.3 million, and $0.3 million of share-based compensation to the Company's
Board of Directors in addition to RSUs included in the tabla e above dura ing the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively.
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16. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) has been computed by dividing net income attributable to SunCoke Energy, Inc.
by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Except where the result would be anti-dilutive,
diluted earnings per share has been computed to give effeff ct to share-based compensation awards using the treasury srr tock
method.

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th the reconciliation of the weighted-average number of common shares used to compute
basic earnings per share to those used to compute diluted EPS:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(Shares in millions)

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding-basic 85.1 84.7 83.8
Add: effeff ct of dilutive share-based compensation awards 0.2 0.2 0.8
Weighted-average number of shares-diluted 85.3 84.9 84.6

The folff lowing tabla e shows stock options, restricted stock units, and performance stock units that are excluded fromff
the computation of diluted earnings per share as the shares would have been anti-dilutive:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(Shares in millions)

Stock options 0.6 1.2 1.6
Performance share units 0.1 — —
Total 0.7 1.2 1.6

17. Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures certain finff ancial and non-financial assets and liabia lities at faiff r value on a recurring basis.
Fair value is definff ed as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liabia lity in the principal or most
advantageous market in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Fair value disclosures
are refleff cted in a three-level hierarchy, maximizing the use of observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable
inputs.

The valuation hierarchy is based uponu the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liabia lity on the
measurement date. The three levels are definff ed as follows:

• Level 1—inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for an identical asset or liabia lity in
an active market.

• Level 2—inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for a similar asset or liabia lity in an active
market or model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs are observable forff subsu tantially the fulff l term
of the asset or liabia lity.

• Level 3—inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservabla e and significant to the fair value measurement of
the asset or liabia lity.

Financii ial Assets and Liabilitii iett s MeaMM sured at FaiFF r Vii alVV ue on a Recurringii Basis

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Certain assets and liabia lities are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company’s cash and cash
equivalents were measured at faiff r value at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 based on quoted prices in active
markets forff identical assets. These inputs are classified as Level 1 within the valuation hierarchy.

Certaitt n Fii inFF ancial Assets and Liabilitieii s not Measured at Fair Value

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the faiff r value of the Company’s long-term debt was estimated to be $454.9 million
and $450.2 million, respectively, compared to a carrying amount of $500.0 million at both periods. These fair values were
estimated by management based upon estimates of debt pricing provided by finff ancial institutions which are considered Level
2 inputs.
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18. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Cokemaking

Our blast furnace coke sales are largely made pursuant to long-term, take-or-pay agreements. These agreements
require us to produce and deliver the contracted volumes of coke and require our customers to purchase such volumes of coke
up to a specified tonnage or pay the contract price for any tonnage they elect not to take. As of December 31, 2024, our coke
sales agreements have approximately 19.1 illimillion tons of unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations, which
are expected to be delivered over a weighted average remaining contract term of approximately nine years.

Sales prices for coke sold under our long-term, take-or-pay agreements include an operating cost component, a coal
cost component and a return of capital component. Operating costs under four of our coke sales agreements are fixed subju ect
to an annual adjud stment based on an inflation index. Under our other three coke sales agreements, operating costs are passed
through to the respective customers subju ect to an annually negotiated budget, in some cases subju ect to a cap annually adjud sted
for inflation, and we share any difference in costs from the budgeted amounts with our customers. Our coke sales agreements
contain pass-through provisions for coal and coal procurement costs, subju ect to meeting contractuat l coal-to-coke yields. To
the extent that the actual coal-to-coke yields are less than the contractuat l standard, we are responsible for the cost of the
excess coal used in the cokemaking process. Conversely, to the extent our actuat l coal-to-coke yields are higher than the
contractuat l standard, we realize gains. The reimbursement of pass-through operating and coal costs from these coke sales
agreements are considered to be variable consideration components included in the cokemaking sales price. The return of
capital component for each ton of coke sold to the customer is determined at the time the coke sales agreement is signed and
is effeff ctive for the term of each sales agreement. This component of our coke sales prices is intended to provide an adequate
return on invested capital and may differ based on investment levels and other considerations. The actuat l return on invested
capital at any facility is also impacted by favorable or unfavff orable performance on pass-through cost items. Revenues are
recognized when performance obligations to our customers are satisfied in an amount that reflects the consideration that we
expect to receive in exchange for the coke.

We also sell non-contracted blast furnace coke tons into the North American spot coke and export coke markets,
utilizing capacity in excess of that reserved for our long-term, take-or-pay agreements. These non-contracted blast coke sales
are generally sold on a spot basis at the current market price, and do not contain the same provisions as our long-term, take-
or-pay agreements discussed above.

While the revenues in our Domestic Coke segment are primarily tied to blast furnace coke sales made under long-
term, take-or-pay agreements, we also produce and sell foundry coke out of our Jewell cokemaking facility. Foundry coke
sales are generally made under annual agreements with our customers for an agreed upon price and do not contain take-or-
pay volume commitments.

Logistii ics

In our logistics business, handling and/or mixing services are provided to steel, coke (including some of our
domestic cokemaking facilities), electric utility, coal producing and other manufactff urt ing based customers. Materials are
transported in numerous ways, including rail, truck, barr rge or ship. We do not take possession of materials handled, but rather
act as intermediaries between our customers and end users, deriving our revenues from services provided on a per ton basis.
The handling and mixing services consist primarily of two performance obligations, unloading and loading of materials.
Revenues are recognized when the customer receives the benefits of the services provided, in an amount that reflects the
consideration that we will receive in exchange for those services.

Estimated take-or-pay revenue of approximately $64.3 million from all of our multi-year logistics contracts is
expected to be recognized over the next three years for unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations as of
December 31, 2024.

Energyr

Our cokemaking ovens utilize effiff cient, modern heat recovery technology designed to combust the coal’s volatile
components liberated during the cokemaking process and use the resulting heat to create steam or electricity for sale. Our
Middletown facility and the second phase of our Haverhill facility, or Haverhill II, have cogeneration plants that generate
electricity, which is either sold into the regional power market or to customers pursuant to energy sales agreements. Our
Granite City facility and the first phase of our Haverhill facility, or Haverhill I, have steam generation facilities, which
produce steam for sale to customers pursuant to steam supplyu and purchase agreements. The energy provided under these
arrangements results in transferff of control over time. Revenues are recognized over time as energy is delivered to our
customers, in an amount based on the terms of each arrangement. Energy generated at our remaining facilities is either used
internally or provided, at minimal cost, to energy supplu iers.
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Operating and Licensing Fees

Operating and licensing feeff s are made pursuant to long-term contracts with ArcelorMittal Brazil, where we operate a
Brazilian cokemaking facility. The licensing fees are based upon the level of production required by our customer. Operating
fees include the fulff l pass-through of the operating costs of the Brazilian faciff lity as well as a per ton feeff based on the level of
production required by our customer. Revenues are recognized over time as our customers receive and consume the benefits
in an amount that corresponds directly with the value provided to the customer to date.

Disaii ggregated Sales and Othett r OpeO rating Revenue

The folff lowing tabla e provides disaggregated sales and other operating revenue by product or service, excluding
intersegment revenues:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(Dollars in millions)

Sales and other operating revenue:
Cokemaking $ 1,766.5 $ 1,898.5 $ 1,791.3
Energy 47.9 47.3 61.5
Logistics 81.3 73.1 76.7
Operating and licensing feesff 35.1 35.2 38.0
Other 4.6 9.1 5.0
Sales and other operating revenue $ 1,935.4 $ 2,063.2 $ 1,972.5

See Note 3 Customer Concentrations for furff ther detail on operating revenue.

19. Business Segment Inforff mation

The Company’s reportabla e segments are strategic business units that offeff r differeff nt products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires differeff nt operational support and management. The Company reports its
business through three reportabla e segments: Domestic Coke, Brazil Coke and Logistics. The Domestic Coke segment
includes the Jewell, Indiana Harbor r, Haverhill, Granite City and Middletown cokemaking facilities. Each of these facff ilities
produces coke, and all facff ilities except Jewell recover waste heat, which is converted to steam or electricity.

The Brazil Coke segment includes the licensing and operating fees payable to us under long-term contracts with
ArcelorMittal Brazil, under which we operate a cokemaking facility located in Vitória, Brazil through January 2028.

Logistics operations are comprised of CMT, KRT, and Lake Terminal, which provides services to our Indiana
Harbor cokemaking facility. Handling and mixing results are presented in the Logistics segment. The Company elected to
combine Dismal River Terminal (“DRT”) operations into the Jewell cokemaking operations in the Domestic Coke segment
beginning January 1, 2023. The DRT results were included in the Logistics segment in 2022 and are not recast.

Corporate expenses that can be identified with a segment have been included in determining segment results. The
remainder is included in Corporrr ate and Other, which is not a reporting segment, but which also includes activity from our
legacy coal mining business.

Segment assets are those assets utilized within a specific segment.

In considering the financial performance of the business, the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), who is the
Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, evaluates the performance of its segments based on Adjusted EBITDA
reportabla e segments, which is definff ed as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, adjud sted for any
impairments, restrucr turing costs, gains or losses on extinguishment of debt, transaction costs, and/or corporate/other expenses
(“Adjud sted EBITDA reportabla e segments”). The CODM uses this measure to help determine the allocation of costs and
resources to our reportabla e segments. Additionally, other companies may calculate Adjud sted EBITDA reportabla e segments
differently than we do, limiting its usefulneff ss as a comparative measure.
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The folff lowing tabla es include Adjud sted EBITDA reportabla e segments, as defined abovea , which is a measure of
segment profit or loss reported to the chief operating decision maker for purposff es of allocating resources to the segments and
assessing their performance.

Year Ended December 31, 2024
(Dollars in millions)

Domestic
Coke Brazil Coke Logistics Total

Sales and other operating revenue $ 1,817.3 $ 35.1 $ 83.0 $ 1,935.4
Intersegment revenues — — 22.9 22.9
Net revenues $ 1,817.3 $ 35.1 $ 105.9 $ 1,958.3

Reconciliation of ro evenue
Elimination of intersegment revenues (22.9)
Total consolidated revenues $ 1,935.4

Less:(1)

Operating and maintenance expense $ 306.4 $ 21.9 $ 53.8
Cost of products sold and other expenses(2) 1,244.2 — —
Selling, general and administrative expenses 32.0 3.3 1.7

Adjud sted EBITDA reportabla e segments $ 234.7 $ 9.9 $ 50.4 $ 295.0
Depreciation and amortization expense 118.9
Interest expense, net(3) 23.4
Other corporr ate expenses(4) 24.2

Income before income tax expense $ 128.5

(1) The significant expense categories and amounts align with segment-level information that is regularly provided to
the CODM.

(2) Cost of products sold and other expenses includes coal and transportation costs.

(3) Interest expense, net of $23.4 million refleff cts (i) consolidated interest expense of $28.7 million and (ii) consolidated
interest income of $5.3 million.

(4) Other corporate expenses represents business expenses not allocated to the Company’s reportabla e segments and are
included in Corporr ate, which is not a reportabla e segment.
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Year Ended December 31, 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Domestic
Coke Brazil Coke Logistics Total

Sales and other operating revenue $ 1,954.0 $ 35.2 $ 74.0 $ 2,063.2
Intersegment revenues — — 22.1 22.1
Net revenues $ 1,954.0 $ 35.2 $ 96.1 $ 2,085.3

Reconciliation of ro evenue
Elimination of intersegment revenues (22.1)
Total consolidated revenues $ 2,063.2

Less:(1)

Operating and maintenance expense $ 305.1 $ 22.7 $ 50.3
Cost of products sold and other expenses(2) 1,368.6 — —
Selling, general and administrative expenses 32.5 3.4 1.5

Adjud sted EBITDA reportabla e segments $ 247.8 $ 9.1 $ 44.3 $ 301.2
Depreciation and amortization expense 142.8
Interest expense, net(3) 27.3
Other corporr ate expenses(4) 33.3

Income before income tax expense $ 97.8

(1) The significant expense categories and amounts align with segment-level information that is regularly provided to
the CODM.

(2) Cost of products sold and other expenses includes coal and transportation costs.

(3) Interest expense, net of $27.3 million refleff cts (i) consolidated interest expense of $30.0 million and (ii) consolidated
interest income of $2.7 million.

(4) Other corporate expenses represents business expenses not allocated to the Company’s reportabla e segments and are
included in Corporr ate, which is not a reportabla e segment.
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Year Ended December 31, 2022
(Dollars in millions)

Domestic
Coke Brazil Coke Logistics Total

Sales and other operating revenue $ 1,856.9 $ 38.0 $ 77.6 $ 1,972.5
Intersegment revenues — — 28.9 28.9
Net revenues $ 1,856.9 $ 38.0 $ 106.5 $ 2,001.4

Reconciliation of ro evenue
Elimination of intersegment revenues (28.9)
Total consolidated revenues $ 1,972.5

Less:(1)

Operating and maintenance expense $ 294.4 $ 19.8 $ 55.2
Cost of products sold and other expenses(2) 1,263.7 — —
Selling, general and administrative expenses 35.4 3.7 1.6

Adjud sted EBITDA reportabla e segments $ 263.4 $ 14.5 $ 49.7 $ 327.6
Depreciation and amortization expense 142.5
Interest expense, net(3) 32.0
Other corporr ate expenses(4) 31.4

Income before income tax expense $ 121.7

(1) The significant expense categories and amounts align with segment-level information that is regularly provided to
the CODM.

(2) Cost of products sold and other expenses includes coal and transportation costs.

(3) Interest expense, net of $32.0 million refleff cts (i) consolidated interest expense of $32.7 million and (ii) consolidated
interest income of $0.7 million.

(4) Other corporate expenses represents business expenses not allocated to the Company’s reportabla e segments and are
included in Corporr ate, which is not a reportabla e segment.
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The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th the Company’s depreciation and amortization expense as well as its capital
expenditures:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

(Dollars in millions)

Depreciation and amortization expense:
Domestic Coke $ 105.2 $ 129.4 $ 126.8
Brazil Coke 0.3 0.3 0.2
Logistic 1s 12.8 14.52.6

Total reportabla e segment $s 118.1 $ 142.5 $ 141.5
Corporate and Othe 0r .8 0.3 1.0

Total depreciation and amortization expens $e 118.9 $ 142.8 $ 142.5

Capital expenditures:
Domestic Coke $ 64.2 $ 103.2 $ 70.3
Brazil Coke 8.0 0.4 0.1
Logistic 0s .2 5.1 4.5

Total reportabla e segment $s 72.4 $ 108.7 $ 74.9
Corporate and Othe 0r .5 0.5 0.6

Total capital expenditure $s 72.9 $ 109.2 $ 75.5

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th the Company’s segment assets:
December 31,

2024 2023
(Dollars in millions)

Segment assets:
Domestic Coke $ 1,351.1 $ 1,405.5
Brazil Coke 10.2 11.9
Logistics 158.2 158.4
Total reportabla e segments $ 1,519.5 $ 1,575.8
Corporate and Other 148.7 84.6
Total assets $ 1,668.2 $ 1,660.4
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Managea ment’s Evaluation of Discii losure Contrott ls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Offiff cer, is responsible
for evaluating the effeff ctiveness of our disclosure controls and procedurd es (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)). Our disclosure controls and procedurd es are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information
required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submu it under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to
our management, including our Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Offiff cer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure and is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
rules and forms of the SEC. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Offiff cer concluded
that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedurd es were effeff ctive at the reasonable
assurance level.

Managea ment’s Reporee t on Internal Contrott l over Financii ial Reporee ting

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Offiff cer, is responsible
for establa ishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting, as such term is defined under
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to management
regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.

In evaluating the effeff ctiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, management
used the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal
Controt l-Integrate ed Frameworkrr (2013). Based on such evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over
finff ancial reporting was effeff ctive as of December 31, 2024.

Our management, including our Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Offiff cer, does not expect that our
disclosure controls and procedurd es or our internal controls over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A
control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, misstatements, errors, and
instances of fraud, if any, within our company have been or will be prevented or detected. These inherent limitations include
the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or
mistake. Controls also can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by
management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of controls effeff ctiveness to future periods are subju ect to risks that
internal controls may become inadequate as a result of changes in conditions, or through the deterioration of the degree of
compliance with policies or procedurd es.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has audited the Company's consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and, as part of its audit, has issued an attestation report on our
internal control over financial reporting, which is contained in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplu ementary Data.”

Changes in Internal Contrott l over Financii ial Reporee ting

There was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter
ended December 31, 2024 that has materially affeff cted, or is reasonably likely to materially affeff ct, our internal control over
financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Offiff cers and Corporate Governance

The information required to be disclosed by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy
statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (“2025 Proxy Statement”), which we expect to file with the SEC
within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required to be disclosed by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2025 Proxy
Statement, which we expect to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required to be disclosed by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2025 Proxy
Statement, which we expect to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required to be disclosed by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2025 Proxy
Statement, which we expect to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Our independent registered accounting firm is KPMG LLP, Chicago, IL, Auditor Firm ID: 185.

The other information required to be disclosed by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2025 Proxy
Statement, which we expect to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
1 Consolidated Financial Statements:

The consolidated financial statements are set forth under Item 8 of this report.
2 Financial Statements Schedules:

Financial statement schedules are omitted because required information is shown elsewhere in this
report, is not necessary or is not applicable.

3 Exhibits:

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of Februarr ry 4, 2019 by and among SunCoke Energy, Inc., SC
Energy Acquisition LLC, SunCoke Energy Partners, L.P., and SunCoke Energy Partners GP LLC.
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
Februarr ry 5, 2019, File No. 001-35243)

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificff ate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference herein to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Amendment No. 4 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on July 6,
2011, File No. 333-173022)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of SunCoke Energy, Inc., effeff ctive as of February 23, 2023
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed
on Februar ry 24, 2023, File No. 001-35243)

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.1 to
the Company's Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed on June 3, 2011, File No.
333-173022)

4.2 Description of the Registrant's Securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Annual Report on Form
10-K, filed on Februar ry 25, 2021, File No. 001-35243)

4.3 Indenture, dated June 22, 2021, by and among SunCoke Energy, Inc., the subsu idiary guarantors party
thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trusrr t Company, N.A., as trusr tee and as notes collateral agent
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
June 22, 2021, File No. 001-35243)

4.3.1 Form of 4.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2029 (incorpor rated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 22, 2021, File No. 001-35243)

10.1 Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated Februarr ry 16, 2023 by and among SunCoke
Energy, Inc., and certain subsu idiaries of SunCoke Energy, Inc., as joint and several borrowers, the
several lenders party thereto from time to time and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed
on Februar ry 24, 2023, File No. 001-35243)

10.2^ SunCoke Energy, Inc. Annual Incentive Plan, amended and restated as of December 8, 2021
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed
on Februar ry 24, 2022, File No. 001-35243)

10.3^ SunCoke Energy, Inc. Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan, effeff ctive May 12, 2022 (incorporated by
reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 2,
2022, File No. 001-35243)

10.3.1^ Form of Stock Settled Restricted Share Unit Agreement under the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Omnibus
Long-Term Incentive Plan by and between SunCoke Energy, Inc. and employees of SunCoke Energy,
Inc. or one of its Affiff liates (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.3.1 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K, filed on Februar ry 24, 2023, File No. 001-35243)

10.3.2^ Form of Cash Settled Restricted Share Unit Agreement under the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Omnibus Long-
Term Incentive Plan by and between SunCoke Energy, Inc. and employees of SunCoke Energy, Inc. or
one of its Affiff liates (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on Februar ry 24, 2023, File No. 001-35243)
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10.3.3^ Form of Performance Share Unit Agreement under the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Omnibus Long-Term
Incentive Plan by and between SunCoke Energy, Inc. and employees of SunCoke Energy, Inc. or one of
its Affiff liates (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.3.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K, filed on Februarr ry 24, 2023, File No. 001-35243)

10.3.4^ Form of Long-Term Cash Incentive Award Agreement under the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Omnibus Long-
Term Incentive Plan by and between SunCoke Energy, Inc. and employees of SunCoke Energy, Inc. or
one of its Affiff liates (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.3.4 to the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on Februar ry 24, 2023, File No. 001-35243)

10.4^ SunCoke Energy, Inc. Long-Term Perforff mance Enhancement Plan, amended and restated effeff ctive as of
Februarr ry 14, 2018 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K, filed on Februarr ry 24, 2022, File No. 001-35243)

10.4.1^ Form of Stock Option Agreement under the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Long-Term Performance
Enhancement Plan by and between SunCoke Energy, Inc. and employees of SunCoke Energy, Inc. or
one of its Affiff liates (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2016 filed on April 27, 2016, File No.
001-35243)

10.4.2^ Amendment to Stock Option Agreements under the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Long-Term Performance
Enhancement Plan, entered into as of July 18, 2013, applicable to all Stock Option Awards outstanding
as of July 18, 2012 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, filed on February 22, 2013, File No. 001-35243)

10.4.3^ Form of Performance Stock Option Agreement under the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Long-Term
Performance Enhancement Plan by and between SunCoke Energy, Inc. and employees of SunCoke
Energy, Inc. or one of its Affiff liates (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.5.3 to the Company's
Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on Februar ry 16, 2017, File No. 001-35243)

10.5^ SunCoke Energy, Inc. Long-Term Cash Incentive Plan (effecff tive as of January 1, 2016) (incorporated by
reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended March 31, 2016 filed on April 27, 2016, File No. 001-35243)

10.6^ SunCoke Energy, Inc. Savings Restoration Plan effeff ctive January 1, 2012 (incorporated by reference
herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 9, 2011, File No. 001-35243)

10.6.1^ Amendment Number One to the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Savings Restoration Plan, effeff ctive as of January
1, 2012 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2012 filed on May 2, 2012, File No. 001-35243)

10.6.2^ Second Amendment to the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Savings Restoration Plan, effeff ctive as of June 1, 2015
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended March 31, 2016 filed on April 27, 2016, File No. 001-35243)

10.6.3^ Third Amendment to the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Savings Restoration Plan, effeff ctive as of January 1,
2016 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2016 filed on April 27, 2016, File No. 001-35243)

10.6.4^ Fourth Amendment to the SunCoke Energy, Inc. Savings Restoration Plan, effeff ctive as of January 1,
2017 incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.7.4 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K,
filed Februar ry 25, 2021. File No. 001-35243)

10.7^ SunCoke Energy, Inc. Special Executive Severance Plan, amended and restated effeff ctive as of
December 8, 2021 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K, filed on Februarr ry 24, 2022, File No. 001-35243)

10.8^ SunCoke Energy, Inc. Executive Involuntaryrr Severance Plan, amended and restated effeff ctive as of
December 8, 2021 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K, filed on Februarr ry 24, 2022, File No. 001-35243)

10.9^ SunCoke Energy, Inc. Amended and Restated Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan, effeff ctive as of
Februarr ry 23, 2022 (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company's Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed on Februar ry 24, 2022, File No. 001-35243)

10.10^ Form of Indemnificff ation Agreement, individually entered into between SunCoke Energy, Inc. and each
director of the Company (incorporr rated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2011 filed on November 2, 2011,
File No. 001-35243)
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10.11† Amended and Restated Coke Supplyu Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2003, by and between Jewell
Coke Company, L.P., ArcelorMittal Cleveland Inc. (f/kff /akk ISG Cleveland Inc.) and ArcelorMittal Indiana
Harbor (f/k/a ISG Indiana Harbor Inc.) (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.18 to the
Company’s Amendment No. 4 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on July 6, 2011, File No.
333-173022)

10.11.1† Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Coke Supplyu Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2003,
by and between Jewell Coke Company, L.P., ArcelorMittal Cleveland Inc. (f/k/a ISG Cleveland Inc.)
and ArcelorMittal Indiana Harbor (f/kff /akk ISG Indiana Harbor Inc.) (incorporated by reference herein to
Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June
3, 2011, File No. 333-173022)

10.11.2† Letter Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2008, between ArcelorMittal USA Inc., Haverhill North Coke
Company, Jewell Coke Company, L.P. and ISG Sparrows Point LLC, serving as (1) Amendment No. 2
to the Amended and Restated Coke Supplyu Agreement, by and between Jewell Coke Company, L.P.,
ArcelorMittal Cleveland Inc. (f/k/a ISG Cleveland Inc.) and ArcelorMittal Indiana Harbor (f/k/a ISG
Indiana Harbor Inc.) and (2) Amendment No. 2 to the Coke Purchase Agreement, by and between
Haverhill North Coke Company, ArcelorMittal Cleveland Inc. (f/k/aff ISG Cleveland Inc.) and
ArcelorMittal Indiana Harbor (f/kff /akk ISG Indiana Harbor Inc.) (incorporated by reference herein to
Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June
3, 2011, File No. 333-173022)

10.11.3† Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Coke Supplyu Agreement, dated as of January 26, 2011, by
and between Jewell Coke Company, L.P., ArcelorMittal Cleveland Inc. (f/k/a ISG Cleveland Inc.) and
ArcelorMittal Indiana Harbor (f/kff /akk ISG Indiana Harbor Inc.) (incorporated by reference herein to
Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June
3, 2011, File No. 333-173022)

10.11.4† Amendment No. 7 to Coke Supplyu Agreement, dated July 30, 2020, by and among Jewell Coke
Company, L.P., ArcelorMittal Cleveland LLC (f/kff /akk ArcelorMittal Cleveland Inc.) and ArcelorMittal
USA LLC (f/k/a ISG Indiana Harbor Inc.) (incorpor rated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2020, filed on
November 6, 2020, File No. 001-35243)

10.12† Coke Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2003, by and between Haverhill North Coke
Company, ArcelorMittal Cleveland Inc. (f/k/a ISG Cleveland Inc.) and ArcelorMittal Indiana Harbor (f/
k/a ISG Indiana Harbor Inc.) (incorporr rated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s
Amendment No. 4 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on July 6, 2011, File No. 333-173022)

10.12.1† Amendment No. 1 to Coke Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2003, by and between
Haverhill North Coke Company, ArcelorMittal Cleveland Inc. (f/k/aff ISG Cleveland Inc.) and
ArcelorMittal Indiana Harbor (f/kff /akk ISG Indiana Harbor Inc.) (incorporated by reference herein to
Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June
3, 2011, File No. 333-173022)

10.12.2† Amendment No. 3 to Coke Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 8, 2008, by and between Haverhill
North Coke Company, ArcelorMittal Cleveland Inc. (f/k/a ISG Cleveland Inc.) and ArcelorMittal
Indiana Harbor (f/k/a ISG Indiana Harbor Inc.) (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.25 to the
Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 3, 2011, File No.
333-173022)

10.12.3† Amendment No. 4 to Coke Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 26, 2011, by and between
Haverhill North Coke Company, ArcelorMittal Cleveland Inc. (f/k/aff ISG Cleveland Inc.) and
ArcelorMittal Indiana Harbor (f/kff /akk ISG Indiana Harbor Inc.) (incorporated by reference herein to
Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June
3, 2011, File No. 333-173022)

10.12.4 Amendment No. 8 to Coke Purchase Agreement, dated July 30, 2020, by and among Haverhill Coke
Company (f/k/a Haverhill North Coke Company), ArcelorMittal Cleveland LLC (f/k/a ArcelorMittal
Cleveland Inc.) and ArcelorMittal USA LLC (f/kff /akk ISG Indiana Harbor Inc.) (incorporated by reference
herein to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2020, filed on November 6, 2020, File No. 001-35243)

10.13† Coke Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2009, by and between Haverhill North Coke
Company and AK Steel Corporation (incorporr rated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.27 to the
Company’s Amendment No. 5 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on July 18, 2011, File No.
333-173022)
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10.13.1† Second Amendment to Coke Purchase Agreement, dated July 7, 2020, between AK Steel Corporation
and Haverhill Coke Company LLC (incorpor rated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2020, filed on August 3, 2020,
File No. 001-35243)

10.13.2 Third Amendment to Coke Purchase Agreement, dated October 8, 2020, between AK Steel Corporation
and Haverhill Coke Company LLC (incorpor rated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2020, filed on November
6, 2020, File No. 001-35243)

10.14† Amended and Restated Coke Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 19, 1998, by and between
Indiana Harbor Coke Company, L.P. and ArcelorMittal USA Inc. (f/k/a Inland Steel Company)
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended September 30, 2013 filed on October 30, 2013, File No. 001-35243)

10.14.1† Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Coke Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 22,
2000, by and between Indiana Harbor Coke Company, L.P., a subsu idiary of the Company, and
ArcelorMittal USA Inc. (f/k/a Inland Steel Company) (incorpor rated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.29
to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 3, 2011, File
No. 333-173022)

10.14.2† Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Coke Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2001, by
and between Indiana Harbor Coke Company, L.P. and ArcelorMittal USA Inc. (f/k/a Inland Steel
Company) (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2013 filed on October 30, 2013, File No.
001-35243)

10.14.3† Supplu ement to Amended and Restated Coke Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2011, by and
between Indiana Harbor Coke Company, L.P. and ArcelorMittal USA Inc. (f/k/a Inland Steel Company)
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended September 30, 2013 filed on October 30, 2013, File No. 001-35243)

10.14.4† Extension Agreement, dated as of September 5, 2013, by and between Indiana Harbor Coke Company,
L.P. and ArcelorMittal USA Inc. (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2013 filed on October 30,
2013, File No. 001-35243)

10.14.5† Supplu ement to the ArcelorMittal USA LLC and Indiana Harbor Coke Company, L.P. Coke Purchase
Agreement Term Sheet and the ArcelorMittal Cleveland LLC, ArcelorMital Indiana Harbor LLC and
Jewell Coke Company, L.P. Coke Supplyu Agreement, dated as of September 10, 2014 (incorpor rated by
reference herein to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 2014 filed on October 28, 2014, File No. 001-35243)

10.15† Coke Sale and Feed Water Processing Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2008, by and between
Gateway Energy & Coke Company, LLC and U.S. Steel Corporation (incorporated by reference herein
to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Amendment No. 7 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on
July 20, 2011, File No. 333-173022)

10.15.1† Amendment No. 1 to Coke Sale and Feed Water Processing Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2010,
by and between Gateway Energy & Coke Company, LLC and U.S. Steel Corporation (incorporated by
reference herein to Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on June 3, 2011, File No. 333-173022)

10.15.2 Amendment No. 2 to Coke Sale and Feed Water Processing Agreement, dated as of July 6, 2011, by and
between Gateway Energy & Coke Company, LLC and U.S. Steel Corporation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.23.2 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014 filed on February 24, 2015, File No. 001-35243)

10.15.3† Amendment No. 3 to Coke Sale and Feed Water Processing Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2015,
by and among Gateway Energy & Coke Company, LLC, Gateway Cogeneration Company LLC and
U.S. Steel Corporation (incorpor rated by reference to Exhibit 10.23.3 to the Company's Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed on Februar ry 24, 2015, File No. 001-35243)

10.15.4† Amendment No. 4 to Coke Sale and Feed Water Processing Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2024,
by and between Gateway Energy & Coke Company, LLC and U.S. Steel Corporation (incorporated by
reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on October 31,
2024, File No. 001-35243)

82



10.16† Amended and Restated Coke Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2009, by and between
Middletown Coke Company, LLC, a subsu idiary of the Company and AK Steel Corporation
(incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.34 to the Company’s Amendment No. 5 to Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on July 18, 2011, File No. 333-173022)

10.17† Second Amended and Restated Coke Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 18, 2023, by and between
Indiana Harbor Coke Company, L.P. and Cleveland-Cliffsff Steel LLC (incorporated by reference herein
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 24, 2023, File No.
001-35243)

10.18 Advisory Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2024, by and between SunCoke Energy, Inc. and Michael G.
Rippey (incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on July 31, 2024, File No. 001-35243)

19.1* SunCoke Energy, Inc. Insider Trading Policy

21.1* Subsu idiaries of the Registrant (filed herewith)

22.1* List of Issuers and Guarantor Subsu idiaries (filff ed herewith)

23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP (filed herewith)

31.1* Chief Executive Offiff cer Certification Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a), as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)

31.2* Chief Financial Offiff cer Certificff ation Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a), as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith)

32.1* Chief Executive Offiff cer Certification Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the U.S. Code, as Adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furniff shed herewith)

32.2* Chief Financial Offiff cer Certificff ation Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the U.S. Code, as Adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furniff shed herewith)

95.1* Mine Safety Disclosure (filed herewith)

97.1* Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy (filff ed herewith)

101* The following financial statements from SunCoke Energy, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2024, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 21,
2025, formatted in iXBRL (Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated
Statements of Income, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iii) the Consolidated
Balance Sheets, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (v) the Consolidated Statements of
Equity, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

104* The cover page from SunCoke Energy, Inc's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2024 formatted in iXBRL (Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language) and
contained in Exhibit 101.

* Provided herewith.

^ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

† Certain portions have been omitted pursuant to a confidff ential treatment request. Omitted information has
been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duld y authorized, on February 2rr 1, 2025.

SUNCOKEU ENERGY, INC.

By: /s/ Mark W. Marinko

Mark W. Marinko
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offiff cer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 2rr 1, 2025.
Signatureg Title

/s/ Katherine T. Gates President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)Katherine T. Gates

/s/ Mark W. Marinko Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Offiff cer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)Mark W. Marinko

/s/ Arthur F. Anton
Chairman of the Board

Arthur F. Anton

/s/ Martha Z. Carnes
Director

Martha Z. Carnes

/s/ Ralph M. Della Ratta, Jr.
Director

Ralph M. Della Ratta, Jr.

/s/ Susan R. Landahl
Director

Susan R. Landahl

/s/ Michael W. Lewis
Director

Michael W. Lewis

/s/ Andrei A. Mikhalevsky
Director

Andrei A. Mikhalevsky
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